# **Induction Machine Emulation for Supply Faults**

Gayatri Tanuku

A Thesis

in the Department

of

Electrical and Computer Engineering

Presented in Partial Fulfilment of the Requirements

For the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy (Electrical and Computer Engineering) at

Concordia University

Montréal, Québec, Canada

August 2022

© Gayatri Tanuku, 2022

#### **CONCORDIA UNIVERSITY**

#### SCHOOL OF GRADUATE STUDIES

This is to certify that the thesis prepared

By: Gayatri Tanuku

Entitled: 'Induction Machine Emulation for Supply faults'

and submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

## **Doctor of Philosophy (Electrical and Computer Engineering)**

complies with the regulation of the University and meets the accepted standards with respect to originality and quality.

Signed by the final Examining Committee:

	Chair
Dr. Anjan Bhowmick	
	External Examiner
Dr. Yujing Liu	
	External to Program
Dr. Muthukumaran Packirisamy	
	Examiner
Dr. Luiz A. C. Lopes	
	Examiner
Dr. Chunyan Lai	
	Supervisor
Dr. Pragasen Pillay	
Dr. Wei-Ping Zhu, Graduate Program Direc	tor
Dr. Mourad Debbabi, Dean,	
Gina Cody School of Engineering and Comput	er Science
	Dr. Anjan Bhowmick Dr. Yujing Liu Dr. Yujing Liu Dr. Muthukumaran Packirisamy Dr. Luiz A. C. Lopes Dr. Chunyan Lai Dr. Chunyan Lai Dr. Pragasen Pillay Dr. Wei-Ping Zhu, Graduate Program Direc Dr. Mourad Debbabi, Dean, Gina Cody School of Engineering and Comput

#### ABSTRACT

**Induction Machine Emulation for Supply Faults** 

Gayatri Tanuku, Ph.D.

Concordia University, 2022.

Power hardware-in-the-loop (PHIL) is increasingly being recognized as an effective real time emulation technique to mimic electrical dynamics of machines with the help of real time digital systems using real time simulator like Opal-RT, RTDS, D-space etc. In PHIL machine emulation, a power electronic converter or a linear amplifier emulates the behavior of electrical machines which are used in several applications such as Transportation, Aerospace / Military, Automotive, e-vehicle, Grid and motor Applications. Using these emulation techniques, various complex control algorithms or different configurations of controllers/drives for electrical machines can be tested, and also allows the testing of complex control strategies of an ac microgrid with critical industrial machines.

The emulation techniques can be used to represent new machine prototypes thus reducing the time to market of the complete drive system significantly. That is prior to the installation of a physical machine, testing of an electric drive or micro grid can be done with the help of a real time machine emulator. Therefore, if the drive controller fails, it will not jeopardize the life of a costly machine. Different loading profiles can be tested. In addition, a PHIL based machine emulation can be particularly useful to emulate faulted machine behavior. A machine undergoes wear and tear and may develop faults such as winding faults, bearing faults, or rotor eccentricity etc. If such machines are being emulated, their corresponding impact on the driving inverter, controller and power system can be studied without implementing these faults on a healthy motor. In fact, these emulation related research areas explore the feasibility of employing a real machine under such atypical conditions. Furthermore, machine emulation also provides an idea of detecting specific faults in advance.

The main research areas focused on this research are development of machine models of high accuracy, development of an emulator controller to attain dynamic current/voltage tracking capability and research in emulator configuration. Several atypical conditions are considered including short circuit faults, open circuit faults and switching faults. The mathematical models

are developed considering the machine steady state and transient behavior under starting and different fault operating conditions of the machine. The emulator chosen is a linear amplifier, because of its high bandwidth and performance. However, in comparison to a low bandwidth switched power amplifiers, it also possesses maximum current limitations. The emulator control strategies consider the abnormal conditions to which the machine is exposed. Hence, the emulator in this research work can replace the real machine effectively. Also, this method of emulation can be applied to any machine such as permanent magnet synchronous machine, synchronous reluctance machine, wound rotor induction machine etc. Especially, when the machine is rated in the MW power range, the developed emulator can be used with scaled down parameters.

In this PhD work, the main components in the emulator test bench include a real time system, back-to-back converters or linear amplifiers, link filters, required sensors and the grid. The developed IM emulator test bench can be used for studying the performance of the grid or drive control system for various grid faults, drive faults and other severe transient conditions. To validate the designed machine emulator system and its control philosophy, results are taken with a real 5 hp machine under same transient conditions.

On the other hand, this PHIL technology is also employed for grid emulation. An interface algorithm in the power hardware in the loop determines the accuracy and stability of emulation. Conventionally, this PHIL setup uses the ideal-transformer-method (ITM) as an interface algorithm between the device-under-test (DUT) and the real-time grid simulation model. The closed-loop PHIL interface with the DUT is usually stabilized using low-pass filters in the feedback path. Such filters stabilize the closed-loop PHIL interface, but with compromised accuracy. To improve the accuracy of the PHIL interface, this research work presents a method to design an optimal feedback compensator. This method depends on the type of physical filter topology used for the device under test.

To summarize, this research work represents 1) different induction machine emulators for different conditions of the grid and drive converters. This includes grid faults and test drive faults. 2) A grid emulator is designed with PHIL technology to test balanced and unbalanced resistive loads, islanding and grid connected modes of a distributed energy source (DER). The results obtained from the analysis and simulation for machine emulation and grid emulation are validated experimentally.

# Acknowledgement

First and foremost, praises and thanks to the God, the Almighty, and my father late Sri Tanuku Murali Krishna for their showers of blessings throughout my research work to complete the research successfully.

I would like to express my deep and sincere gratitude to my research supervisor, Prof. Pragasen Pillay, Professor, Electrical and Computer Engineering, Concordia University and NSERC/Hydro-Québec Senior Industrial Research Chair for giving me the opportunity to do research and providing invaluable guidance throughout this research. His dynamism, vision, sincerity, and motivation have deeply inspired me. He has taught me the methodology to carry out the research and to present the research works as clearly as possible. It is a great privilege and honor to work and study under his guidance. I am extremely grateful for what he has offered me. I would also like to thank him for his friendship, empathy, and great sense of humor.

Besides my advisor, I would like to thank the rest of my thesis committee: Dr. Yujing Liu, Dr. Luiz A. C. Lopes, Dr. Chunyan Lai, Dr. Muthukumaran Packirisamy, Dr. Anjan Bhowmick, Dr. Wei-Ping Zhu, and Dr. Mourad Debbabi for their encouragement and insightful comments.

I am extremely grateful to my parents Sri Tanuku Murali Krishna, Sri Tanuku Padmavathi for their love, prayers, caring and sacrifices for educating and preparing me for my future. My father though he is an expert in pharmacy, by nature is a researcher. Friendly and analytical discussions with him on general topics made me look beyond the boundaries. This motivated and educated me to pursue higher studies. I bow my head to my parents for the never-ending support and constant encouragement. My parents are the real heroes of my life.

My sincere and heartfelt thanks go to my husband for his tremendous encouragement, love, understanding, prayers and for being there with me during all my hardships. I immensely thank him for his valuable guidance and support. Without his help I couldn't have reached this phase. I am exceptionally thankful to my cute little daughter Gangavarapu Deekshitha for her love, for understanding my busy schedules, forgiving me for my excuses and spending lonely hours dur6ing my research work. My family made me stronger, better, and more fulfilled than I could have ever imagined. I love them to the moon and back.

Also, I express my thanks to my little sister Dr. Tanuku Manasa, little brother Tanuku Venkata Dutta Saieesh, brother-in-law Draksharapu Sudhakar and my mother-in-law Gangavarapu Laxmi and father-in-law Gangavarapu Narsaiah, for their best wishes, support and valuable prayers.

My special thanks also go to Dr. K.S. Amit Kumar for insightful discussions in the research lab and offering me the summer internship opportunities in their group and leading me to work on diverse exciting projects.

I express my special thanks to Dr. Mathews Boby for arranging perspicacious group meetings and for his genuine support and kindness throughout this research work. I would also like to say thanks to my research colleagues Dr. Maher Al-Badri, Dr. Akrem, Dr. Rajendra, Tamanwe, Mohanraj and each member of the 'power electronics and energy' research group for their constant encouragement.

I also thank all my internship colleagues of Opal-Rt for their support and kindness.

Finally, my thanks go to all the people who have supported me to complete the research work directly or indirectly.

Gayathri Tanuku

# **Table of Contents**

List of Tablesx
List of Figures xi
Chapter 1 Introduction
1.1 Literature Overview
1.1.1 Testing Strategies of Electric Drives
1.1.2 Test Grid
1.1.3 Machine Emulation to test severe source fault transients
1.1.4 Grid Emulation7
1.2 Research Objectives
1.2.1 Research Contributions:
1.3 Thesis Outline
Chapter 2 Emulation of an Induction Machine for Unbalanced Grid Faults
2.1 Introduction
2.2 Mathematical modeling of the induction machine
2.3 Asymmetric grid fault emulator and its control
2.3.1 Production of negative sequence components
2.3.2 Effects of negative sequence components
2.3.3 Emulator control approach
2.4 Process of Scaling Down MW Machine
2.5 Result Analysis
2.5.1 Pre-fault to post- fault Transients
2.5.2 Starting and loading transients

2.6 Summary	43
Chapter 3 Emulation of induction machines subject to industrial grid harmonics	14
3.1 Introduction	14
3.2 Emulator Arrangement and its Control Technique4	46
3.2.1 Components of Emulator	46
3.2.2 Mathematical Model	17
3.2.3 Emulator Control Strategy	48
3.3 Experimental Results	50
3.4 Summary	58
Chapter 4 Induction Machine Emulation for Open Circuit and Short Circuit Grid Faults 5	59
4.1 Introduction	59
4.2 Mathematical Modeling of Induction Machine	53
4.2.1 Induction machine model-I6	53
4.2.2 Proposed induction machine model-II	72
4.3 Result Analysis	73
4.3.1 Starting transients	74
4.3.2 Open circuit grid faults	75
4.4 Summary	32
Chapter 5 Induction Machine Emulation for Variable Frequency Drive Converter Faults 8	33
5.1 Introduction	33
5.2 Modeling constraints for drive converter switch faults	36
5.2.1 Voltage-in Current-out model	36
5.2.2 Current-in Voltage-out model	39
5.2.3 Consideration of saturation nonlinearities	<b>)</b> 1

5.3 Emulation difficulties and Considerations	
5.4 Result analysis	
5.4.1 Fault signatures	
5.5 Summary	
Chapter 6 Ideal Transformer Method Optimization for Power Simulations of Grid Connected Inverters	Hardware-in-the-Loop
6.1 Introduction	
6.2 PHIL Closed-Loop Modeling and Compensator Design	
6.2.1 L-filter and LCL-filter	
6.2.2 Compensator Design	
6.2.3 Accuracy Evaluation	
6.3 Experimental Results	
6.4 Summary	
Chapter 7 Conclusions and Future Research	
7.1 Conclusions	
7.1.1 Development of induction machine emulator test bench for test circuit grid faults	sting asymmetrical short 122
7.1.2 Emulation of grid harmonics	
7.1.3 Emulation open circuit fault transients	
7.1.4 Emulation of variable frequency drive converter faults	
7.1.5 PHIL emulation of grid using interface algorithms	
7.2 Future Research	
Appendix	
Bibliography	

# List of Tables

Table 1.1. Comparison of traction motors for rolling stock [4]	. 1
Table 1.2. Comparison of different interface algorithms [25]	. 9
Table 2.1. Harmonics and their respective sequence	23
Table 2.2. Behavior of <i>id</i> , <i>iq</i> currents for positive and negative sequence currents	23

# List of Figures

Fig. 1.1. Conventional drive system testing
Fig. 1.2. Emerging PHIL based emulation for supply system testing [6]
Fig. 1.3. Emulator configuration for testing grid
Fig. 1.4. Grid to be emulated with DER interface
Fig. 1.5. PHIL interface algorithm-based grid emulation
Fig. 1.6. Ideal transformer method interface algorithm with DER as device under test (DUT).8
Fig. 2.1. Schematic diagram of machine emulator for grid faults
Fig. 2.2. The <i>dq</i> equivalent circuit of IM
Fig. 2.3. Voltage-in Current-out configuration of state space model
Fig. 2.4. Bode plot for the PI controller design
Fig. 2.5. Emulator control architecture
Fig. 2.6. PI based emulator tracking symmetrical conditions
Fig. 2.7. Machine current <i>id</i> and corresponding FFT analysis respectively after shunt fault at instant 2.9 seconds
Fig. 2.8. PI based emulator tracking asymmetrical conditions during series impedance fault to shunt impedance fault transition
Fig. 2.9. Bode plots of open loop transfer functions of PI, PR and PI+PR controllers
Fig. 2.10. Proposed emulator (PI+PR) tracking asymmetrical conditions during series impedance fault to shunt impedance fault transition
Fig. 2.11. Current and torque envelopes for MW (top) and scaled MW machines (bottom) 30
Fig. 2.12. Experimental results for L-L fault: section (a) Emulator (b) real IM (c) simulated IM with actual current (red), reference current (green), machine input voltage (orange) and fault current (blue) zoomed at the instants of fault and steady fault state.
carrent (orac) zoomed at the instants of fault and steady fault state

Fig. 2.13. Experimental results for L-N fault: section (a) Emulator (b) real IM (c) simulated IM
with actual current (red), reference current (green), machine input voltage (orange) and fault
current (blue) zoomed at the instants of fault and steady fault state
Fig. 2.14. FFT analysis of stator current during LN fault for 5 hp machine
Fig. 2.15. Appearance sequence currents and voltages for fundamental
Fig. 2.16. Appearance of 5 <sup>th</sup> harmonic sequence currents and voltages (zoomed at fault instants).
Fig. 2.17. LLN fault transient emulation and validation done with a real 5hp machine. <i>Note</i> : The black arrows represent point of transition from one state to another
Fig. 2.18. Real time speed and torque characteristics for LLN fault transients. <i>Note</i> : The black arrows represent point of transition from one state to another
Fig. 2.19. Series impedance fault transient of real machine at T1: With 10 $\Omega$ in phase- A, T2: Additional 8 $\Omega$ in phase-C, T3 & T4: Post fault transients with the removal of 8 $\Omega$ and 10 $\Omega$ fault impedances. Emulated and reference currents with respective unbalanced three-phase voltages
below. <i>Note</i> : The black arrows represent point of transition from one state to another. $38$
Fig. 2.20. Loading and unloading transient emulation for 11, 12, 13 and 14 transitions 39
Fig. 2.21. Loading and unloading transient emulation for L1, U1, L2 and U2 transitions 39
Fig. 2.22. Emulation of the scaled down machine for starting and steady states
Fig. 2.23. LA1, LA2, LA3 – three-phase Linear Amplifiers, 1- three-phase variac, 2 - link filters, 3 - Opal-Rt, 4 - protection circuit and sensors, 5 - DC power supply
Fig. 2.24. Manner of implementation of emulation and validation for asymmetric grid fault testing
Fig. 3.1. Schematic diagram of the machine emulator for grid harmonics
Fig. 3.2. Emulator control strategy for harmonics
Fig. 3.3. FFT analysis for (a) stator harmonic voltage (5 <sup>th</sup> +7 <sup>th</sup> ) and (b) corresponding ' <i>id</i> ' current

Fig. 3.4. Section-(a): steady state voltages and currents for real induction machine where
machine input line voltage in CH1, actual current in CH2, reference current in CH3 and Section-
1: 5 <sup>th</sup> harmonic, Section-2: 5 <sup>th</sup> + 7 <sup>th</sup> harmonics, Section-3: 11 <sup>th</sup> + 13 <sup>th</sup> harmonics, Section-4: 5 <sup>th</sup>
+7 <sup>th</sup> +11 <sup>th</sup> +13 <sup>th</sup> harmonics
Fig. 3.5. Section-(b): steady state voltages, reference and emulator currents of proposed
emulator where machine input line voltage in CH1, actual current in CH2, reference current in
CH3 and Section-1: $5^{th}$ harmonic, Section-2: $5^{th}$ + $7^{th}$ harmonics, Section-3: $11^{th}$ + $13^{th}$
harmonics, Section-4: 5 <sup>th</sup> +7 <sup>th</sup> +11 <sup>th</sup> +13 <sup>th</sup> harmonics
Fig. 3.6. During starting and steady states for $5^{\text{th}}$ harmonics Section-(a): for real machine.
Section-(b): for emulator
Fig. 3.7. During starting for 5 <sup>th</sup> +7 <sup>th</sup> combination of harmonics, Section-(a): reference and
emulator currents, Section-(b): emulator and real machine currents
Fig. 3.8. Section-(a): Overall loading and unloading profile for $TL = 2.5$ Nm Section-(b):
loading (T1) and unloading (T2) transient profiles, Section-(c): loading (S1) and unloading (S2)
steady state profiles for real machine and emulator
Fig. 3.9. Experimental setup for IM emulator with 3-phase linear amplifiers (LA1, LA2, LA3)
for grid harmonics
Fig. 3.10. Laboratory setup for validation with real machine interfaced with a dc machine during
loaded conditions.
Fig. 4.1. Generic configuration of emulator
Fig. 4.2. Schematic of network interface modelling
Fig. 4.3. The <i>dq</i> equivalent circuit of IM
Fig. 4.4. Three phase power simulation circuit of model-I
Fig. 4.5. Emulator control for model-I
Fig. 4.6. Bode plot of the closed loop control system
Fig. 4.7. Simulation results for emulator employing machine model-I for startup, series
impedance fault, LL fault and their fault recovering states and final application of 3- phase open

xiii

circuit fault (a) emulator and reference currents (b) emulator and reference voltages (c) Control
signal of PI controller. The results are zoomed for 1. Line to line fault (zoomed for 0.2s) 2.
Three phase open circuit fault (zoomed for 0.25s)
Fig. 4.8. Fault detection algorithm69
Fig. 4.9. The emulator configuration employing model-II
Fig. 4.10. Starting and steady state conditions of the (a) proposed machine emulator and (b) real 5 hp machine
Fig. 4.11. Validation of emulation accuracy for single-phase open circuit fault with (a) real machine (b) proposed emulator
Fig. 4.12. Validation of emulation accuracy for three-phase open circuit fault with (a) real machine (b) proposed emulator
Fig. 4.13. Fall in stator voltage of the proposed emulator during run down test
Fig. 4.14. Fall and rise in stator terminal voltage during fault and auto reclosing of the real machine
Fig. 4.15. Fault and auto reclosing profiles of the real machine
Fig. 4.16. Torque profile during fault and recovering state for (a) machine (b) emulator 79
Fig. 4.17. Validation results for testing series impedance fault to LL fault and during LL fault (a) for real machine (b) with the proposed emulator
Fig. 4.18. post-processed (a) <i>id, iq</i> plots for grid faults (b) sequence components of emulator current and voltage for 1-ø open circuit grid faults
Fig. 4.19. Experimental setup for (a) proposed emulator (b) real machine
Fig. 5.1. The <i>dq</i> equivalent circuit of IM
Fig. 5.2. V/f input drive for induction machine emulation (a) drive converter configuration (b) converter faults
Fig. 5.3. Line voltage and stator current waveforms for a single switch fault in one leg for a VICO model (a) Top switch fault (b) Bottom switch fault

Fig. 5.4. VICO model stator current and input line voltage for starting and all-switch fault conditions
Fig. 5.5. Sample <i>d</i> -equivalent circuit for zero voltage signal under full gate-drive unit fault. 88
Fig. 5.6. Network interface modelling of induction machine
Fig. 5.7. Variation of (a) line voltage, (b) magnetizing inductance, and (c) rotor leakage reactance of IM at the instant of "complete gate driver ("all-switch") fault
Fig. 5.8. (a) Conventional emulator configuration and (b) Proposed emulator configuration. 94
Fig. 5.9. Simulation of emulation result analysis for voltages and currents during (a) starting and (b) steady state
Fig. 5.10. Experimental emulation results for steady state voltages and currents
Fig. 5.11. Experimental results for fault-1 to fault-2 transitions and fault recovery transitions with real machine (T1, T2, T3 and T4 transitions) and with emulator (T1', T2', T3' and T4' transitions)
Fig. 5.12. Simulation of emulation result analysis for voltages and currents for fault-3
Fig. 5.13. Experimental results for fault-1 to fault-3 transition and vice versa for the real machine (T1, T2) and for the emulator (T1',T2')
Fig. 5.14. Voltage, current and speed characteristics for complete gate driver fault (fault-4) for (a) real machine (b) emulator with linear model
Fig. 5.15. Line voltage and current characteristics for a gate driver fault (magnified for 100 ms/div) (a) emulator with linear model (b) real machine (c) emulator with non-linear model.
Fig. 5.16. Voltage, current and speed characteristics for starting and change in speed command for (a) real machine (b) proposed emulator
Fig. 5.17. (a) <i>id</i> , <i>iq</i> plots for converter switch faults; (b) sequence components of emulator terminal voltage and (c) torque ripples for converter switch faults
Fig. 5.18. The proposed emulator test bed for drive converter switch faults along with the 5 hp induction machine used for validation

Fig. 6.1. Closed loop PHIL system.	
Fig. 6.2. Magnitude and phase plots for a low pass filter-based compensator being with L-filter.	used for DUT 107
Fig. 6.3. Magnitude and phase plots for comparison of multiple LPFs and optima for DUT with LCL filter.	l compensator 107
Fig. 6.4. Magnitude and phase plots for optimum compensator for DUT with LC	L filter 110
Fig. 6.5. Comparisons of with and without damping resistor for DUT with Lo optimal compensator.	CL filter with
Fig. 6.6. Magnitude and phase plots for optimum compensator for DUT with LCL low source to DUT impedance ratio.	filter for very
Fig. 6.7. Error function based on transfer function perturbation	
Fig. 6.8. Accuracy evaluation for multiple LPF and optimal compensator during	g steady state. 114
Fig. 6.9. Accuracy evaluation for (a) optimal compensator and (b) optimal com	pensator with
damping resistance respectively during transient state.	
Fig. 6.10. Simulation results showing DUT current with L filter	
Fig. 6.11. Experimental set setup with OPAL-RT real time simulator with Lucas PV inverter and emulator.	s-Nuelle Solar 116
Fig. 6.12. Accuracy of the ITM for a balanced load under 208V operation with the impedance ratio $\ll 1$	cansformer for
Fig. 6.13. Accuracy of the ITM for an unbalanced load under 208V operation with for impedance ratio $\ll 1$ .	th transformer
Fig. 6.14. Amplifier current with the optimal compensator based ITM for a balance	ed load under
400V operation eliminating the transformer for impedance ratio of 0.6	
Fig. 6.15. Accuracy of the for 500 Hz multiple LPF based ITM for a balanced loa	d under 400V
operation eliminating the transformer for impedance ratio of 0.93	119

Fig. 6.16. Accuracy of the for 1500 Hz multiple LPF based ITM for a balanced load under 400V
operation eliminating the transformer for impedance ratio of 0.93 120
Fig. 6.17. Instability with optimal compensator based ITM for a balanced load under 400V
operation eliminating the transformer for impedance ratio $\gg 1$

# Chapter 1 Introduction

The Industrial -sector largely depends on induction motors because of its robustness, high-power density, high-torque density, shock resistance, reduced acquisition and maintenance costs, safe operation, low vibration, and acoustic emissions. Over the past 15 years, Permanent Magnet Synchronous Machines (PMSMs) are being replaced by Induction Machines (IM) in newer rail vehicles like the Tokyo metro [1]. This is due to several disadvantages posed by PMSMs such as demagnetization of magnets by high currents and/or temperature, the need of one traction inverter per motor, and special care to handle faults [2], [3]. Similarly, the other motors specified in the Table 1.1, also cannot overcome the ranking of IM especially in case of rolling stock architectures and electric railway traction systems. Table 1.1 compares various types of motors for railway traction and each of them is graded from one to five points, where five points is the highest [4].

Parameter	DC	SM	IM	PMSM	SRM	SynRM
Maximum Speed	3	3.5	5	3.5	4.5	4
Torque Density	3	4	3.5	5	3.5	4
Efficiency	3.5	4	3.5	5	3.5	4
Controllability	5	4	5	4	3	3.5
Reliability	2	4	4.5	4	5	5
Cost	4	3.5	5	3	4	4.5
Σ Total	20.5	23	27	24.5	23.5	25

 Table 1.1. Comparison of traction motors for rolling stock [4]

For high power applications such as traction, the controller of the drive, the drive inverter and the traction motor need to be tested before commissioning. Hence conventionally, the real machine drive is tested is with an associated risk of damaging the real machine. Therefore, the concept of 'machine emulation' is brought in this research.

"Emulation" is the process of mimicking the outwardly behavior of a system under target, while this emulation mechanism does not have to accurately reflect the internal state of the target necessarily. However, the concept of simulation involves modelling the underlying state of the target. The final result of good simulation essentially emulates the target which it is simulating, but in non-real time platform (Example: Matlab /Simulink, PSCAD, PSIM etc.,).

Earlier in 1960s the conventional process of emulation was to perform emulation with a prototype of machine is chosen by laws of similitude [5] but owing to its difficulty in scaling the mechanical parameters such as moment of inertia and coefficient of friction the process became obsolete. Hence allowing the present trend to choose power electronic systems as emulators to mimic electrical dynamics in emulators because of their speed and accuracy leading to power-hardware-in-the-loop (PHIL) technology based machine emulator system.

#### 1.1 Literature Overview

In this section, a detailed review of comparison between the classical and evolving methods of drive system testing with PHIL emulation technique is discussed. The objectives of testing grid with the emulator are also detailed. Further, a comprehensive study of testing severe source fault transients with the machine emulator is presented. Finally, in contrast to the machine emulation, emulation of grid and its necessity is elaborated.

#### 1.1.1 Testing Strategies of Electric Drives

Electric drives are usually tested with electrical motors or generators. For example, manufacturers of inverters will normally test prototype and preproduction equipment with an induction motor. This, motor may not always have the desired characteristics for a particular test. The same arguments apply for generation applications which utilize power electronic conversion equipment. It is also the case that, in some testing situations, the manufacturer may wish to include additional characteristics of the mechanical load or prime mover [6]. It can reduce the life of the machine. Another disadvantage of this orthodox testing is it needs a longer time to gather all the



Fig. 1.1. Conventional drive system testing.

subsystems of the entire drive system of Fig. 1.1, namely IM, dynamometer machine, and drive, the variable speed drive and the drive inverter controller, which could be manufactured at different locations by different companies, and with different lead times. Furthermore, sometimes, it is needed to have a compromise with the ratings of the various subsystems such that the full rated conditions of the drive are not tested.

Hence, to overcome the above difficulties presented by the conventional testing methodology, a new technique called PHIL based electric drive testing was discussed in [6]-[14]. This PHIL simulation is an emergent method for emulation experimentation, wherein a power electronic converter is used to emulate an electrical machine simulated in real time and interfaced to a device under test. The feedback response from the physical device, such as voltage or current and the corresponding control signals given by real time system (RTS), are then used to complete the PHIL loop, providing a means for the physical device (which is power electronic converter here) to fully interact with the simulated machine/environment shown in Fig. 1.2.

The significant subsystems of the emulator test bench include a real time system processing the machine's mathematical model and an emulator control algorithm, back-to-back converters or linear amplifiers and link filters, which together form a virtual machine coupled to the test inverter or the test grid with required sensors. The RL link filter in the emulator setup plays its important role to allow a power flow between the voltage source and voltage source emulating converter or linear amplifier output terminals (set in voltage control mode) in order to draw the required amount of current. The resistance (R) in the RL link filter is the internal resistance of the inductor (L).



Fig. 1.2. Emerging PHIL based emulation for supply system testing [6].

The test setup with the virtual machine includes the above-mentioned subsystems shown in Fig. 1.2 called an "emulator" in this report, enables one to test the drive and its control thoroughly for early detection of defects in its control and operation.

The link inductors shown in Fig. 1.2 have two major effects on the performance of the virtual machine [6]. First, as they are considered while designing the current control loops, they will affect the transient response of the virtual machine. At the same time, the inductance value also affects the level of ripple in the current drawn from the test inverter. Therefore, higher values of link inductance results in more effective decoupling of the switching effects of the virtual machine's power converter and the test drive inverter.

With the use of such a PHIL based machine emulator test bench, several machine mathematical models can be emulated. Literature review shows emulation of induction machines [7]-[10], permanent magnet synchronous machines [11], [12], and switched reluctance machines [13], [14]. In addition, several emulators for those different machines can also be developed under common conditions namely starting, loading etc., and uncommon conditions such as grid faults, machine faults, and test drive faults, etc.



Fig. 1.3. Emulator configuration for testing grid.

#### 1.1.2 Test Grid

A similar concept of drive system testing is applicable to testing the grid. The machine emulator in Fig. 1.2 is essentially interfaced with the grid. In an isolated grid or remote grid operations, this type of emulation helps in testing the performance of the grid. Especially, ac microgrids are increasingly popular now and are becoming a way of integrating renewable energies. They are usually operated in remote locations. It is discussed in detail in [15], that the control of microgrid involves complex control strategies under various transient conditions such as fault or loading transients. The emulator developed in this research work would enable the distribution system network operators to check or improve the implemented control techniques of the microgrid (during severe or common electromagnetic transients). The emulation can check the suitability of the machine at a particular bus in a chosen operating mode (islanding or grid connected mode).

The emulator configuration for testing the resilience of the grid/ micro grid control, is shown in the Fig. 1.3. High performance linear amplifiers (LAs) of a bandwidth of 200 kHz are used in this research replacing the bidirectional converter in the machine emulator of Fig. 1.2. However, the LAs do not possess high current/ power rating relatively.

#### 1.1.3 Machine Emulation to test severe source fault transients

The machine emulator system in this work (Fig. 1.3) is used to test the performance of the grid or drive controller and drive inverter's performance for several operating conditions, thus proving the utility of machine emulation. The present thesis considers several source side faults into account. The main criteria for selecting the faults are based on the experience by the operators in the industries and power generation and transmission systems [16], [17], [18].

In industries/factories or especially in the traction industry, the induction machines are prone to several faults namely short circuit or open circuit grid faults and drive inverter faults and internal machine faults which may lead to severe damage to the system. The transient behavior of the machine is sometimes unpredictable. At the same time, restoration of the complex system is accompanied with time consuming fault diagnosis. It sometimes incurs heavy loss to the industry.

Hence, the PHIL emulation techniques in this context would help power system engineers or industrial engineers to come up with new control strategies for continued operation. These emulation techniques can also help to provide, identify, and memorize the respective fault signatures of currents, voltage, speed or torque, power etc. [19], [20], [21] for identification of faults (Fault diagnosis).

In this thesis, the faults at the source side of the emulator considered are grid faults and converter switch faults. source faults in this research include:

- 1. Shunt faults: asymmetric short circuit grid fault transients such as line to line, line to neutral, double line to neutral.
- 2. Harmonic grid voltages for 5, 7, 11, 13 orders and their combination with different proportion of THDs.
- 3. Series faults: asymmetric series impedance grid faults, asymmetric and symmetric open circuit grid faults.
- 4. Drive inverter switch faults: malfunctioning of gate driver for a single switch, multiple switch faults.



Fig. 1.4. Grid to be emulated with DER interface.

These faults are applied externally to the emulator to test the resiliency of the grid or drive inverter control. At the same time, the machine emulator efficacy is also verified in this research work. However, in contrast to the machine emulation to test the supply source for various unbalances, testing of critical loads is also necessary by emulating the source. It will enable the management of power to the load for continued operations. This will be discussed in the next section.

#### 1.1.4 Grid Emulation

With the increasing penetration of industrial loads and distributed energy sources in the power grid, the grid characteristics alter and sometimes gets complicated. In case of running the industrial critical loads with an isolated/ micro grid, many factors must be taken into account for continued operation. Adding a distributed energy source (DER) to an existing grid/microgrid running a critical load can have significant impact on the DER. Especially in case of any unbalanced loads the impact on the DER is significant and needs to be studied. In order to investigate the performance of DERs, it is becoming necessary to emulate the grid behavior.

Fig. 1.4 describes the layout of the grid to be emulated with a DER interfacing. The emulation of the grid can be basically done in the following ways [22].

1. Scaling down the source, load, and line parameters of Fig. 1.4, by physical devices. It requires space to accommodate the three devices.



Fig. 1.5. PHIL interface algorithm-based grid emulation.



Fig. 1.6. Ideal transformer method interface algorithm with DER as device under test (DUT).

- Using power electronics converters to emulate the electrical characteristics of source, load, and line impedances parameters. Here, each component is replaced by a separate power electronic converter. It therefore requires three control inputs.
- 3. Another concept is PHIL, in which the three grid components are realized in the real time system as shown in Fig. 1.5. In this case, the reference voltage output signal given by the real time system (RTS), controls the power amplifier. The sensed current signal at the DER is given back to the RTS which updates the simulation model. Therefore, the type of 'in and out' signals are chosen based on the adopted interface algorithm. There are several interface algorithms briefly discussed as follows:
- A. Interface algorithms

An Interface Algorithm (IA) defines the types of the transmitted signals (e.g., voltage, current, power, torque, etc.) in a PHIL system and the ways in which the signals are being processed. An ideal interface algorithm with unity gain, infinity bandwidth, zero-time delay is not achievable or

affordable in practice. As the result, all PHIL simulations contain errors caused by the imperfection of the interface. Here are several interface algorithms [23],[24] listed below:

- 1. Ideal transformer method (ITM, v-type (VITM))
- 2. Ideal transformer method (ITM, i-type (IITM))
- 3. Time-variant First-Order Approximation (TFA)
- 4. Transmission line model (TLM)
- 5. Partial Circuit Duplication (PCD)
- 6. Damping Impedance Method (DIM)

The ideal transformer method (ITM) algorithm is one of the most conventional and straightforward methods of implementing a PHIL simulation. Depending on the type of the signals being amplified, it is categorized as either voltage-type ITM shown in (Fig. 1.6) or current-type ITM. The voltage-type (v-type) interface algorithm sends voltage out signals from the RTS to the amplifier and takes in current signals from the amplifier to the RTS as shown in Fig. 1.6. The current-type (i-type) is exactly converse to the v-type interface algorithm. In general, a PHIL system architecture can be illustrated as a Thévenin equivalent. Therefore, as depicted in Fig. 1.6, the grid voltage and the line impedance are the Thevenin voltage and impedance. In order to test the DER, the grid emulation with balanced and unbalanced loads are considered in this thesis. The ratio  $\frac{Z_{sthev}}{Z_{DUT}}$  is critical in analyzing the closed loop stability of ITM interface algorithm [24]. However, some modifications made to the control loop will enlarge the margins of stability.

Interface Algorithm	Accuracy	Stability	Implementation ease	
ITM	High	Low	High	
TFA	High	Very low	Very Low	
TLM	Low	High	Low	
PCD	Very low	High	Medium	
DIM	High	Medium	Medium	

Table 1.2. Comparison of different interface algorithms [25]

A comparative analysis is made for the mentioned interface algorithms [25] and is illustrated in Table 1.2, with high, medium and low standards. Considering the factors of ease of implementation and accuracy, with a reasonable compromise in stability, the ideal transformer method (v-type) is considered in this research for PHIL emulation of the grid. A detailed discussion of the interface algorithms other than ITM are discussed in [25].

## 1.2 Research Objectives

The fundamental objective of this thesis is to propose 1) a new induction machine emulator to test different source faults and 2) a novel grid emulator to test DER with unbalanced loads.

To accomplish these objectives, the research proposes, (i) improved mathematical models, improved emulator control structures, and new emulator configurations for machine emulation accuracy. (ii) change in the device under test (DUT) filter structures, addition of novel compensator transfer function in the control loop, for grid emulation stability and accuracy.

The objectives of this thesis are detailed as follows:

1) Development of machine emulator:

This research work will aim to develop multiple machine emulator setups. Two configurations of machine emulator are targeted; (i) to emulate symmetrical transient conditions such as sudden speed change, sudden load change and asymmetrical shunt faults in the grid (ii) to emulate open circuit faults in the grid and drive converter. With the different emulator configurations proposed, investigations can be performed on the emulation with several induction machine models, and various emulator control strategies.

2) Investigation of emulator control:

The emulator control methods change with respect to the conditions the machine emulator is exposed to. The objective of this thesis is to investigate (i) step by step improvements made to the emulator control strategies and (i) total elimination of the emulator control, with respect to the chosen source fault conditions and the machine model employed. For example, to emulate current during short circuit fault conditions, a voltage in| current out model (VICO) in the emulator configuration requires current control. To emulate voltage during open circuit fault conditions, a current in| voltage out model (CIVO) can directly input the voltage to the voltage-controlled power amplifier and can omit the emulator controller.

#### 3) Machine model accuracy:

Machine model accuracy plays a key role in emulation accuracy. This work looks into different linear and nonlinear models of induction machines. VICO and CIVO type models for different source faults are discussed. The machine model accuracy is improved by integrating an accurate 'integration technique' into the modelling equations. Due to use of these detailed machine models, the machine emulator developed is capable of representing machine behavior even under severe transients.

#### 4) Emulation of machine behavior for fault transients:

The developed machine emulator system is used to test various grid fault transients and drive converter fault transients. Modifications to the emulator control, machine models, and emulator configuration are proposed to ensure emulation accuracy. Fault signatures and fault reclosing operation strategies are presented.

5) Emulation of grid:

A new PHIL emulator configuration is proposed for the emulation of the grid. The closed loop stability improvement is made by adding a novel compensator in the control loop. The influence of change in DUT filter structure on grid emulation is detailed. The discussed ITM interface algorithm performance is investigated by considering various loading conditions and various short circuit ratios of the grid. A detailed mathematical analysis with validating results is made to ensure grid emulation accuracy.

#### 1.2.1 Research Contributions:

The contributions of this PhD research work are summarized below.

- Development of a linear amplifier-based machine emulator system with grid interface.
- Investigation of a machine emulator control strategy.
- Emulation of different types of induction machine model with such as voltage in current out and current in voltage out linear and nonlinear models
- Emulation of various grid fault transients.
- Development of a linear amplifier-based machine emulator system with drive converter interface.
- Emulation of various converter switch fault transients.

- Development of interface algorithm-based grid emulator system interfacing DER.

#### Journal papers:

- G. Tanuku and P. Pillay, "Emulation of an Induction Machine for Unbalanced Grid Faults," in IEEE Transactions on Industry Applications, vol. 57, no. 5, pp. 4625-4635, Sept.-Oct. 2021, doi: 10.1109/TIA.2021.3086083.
- G. Tanuku and P. Pillay, "Induction Machine Emulation for Open Circuit and Short Circuit Grid Faults," in IEEE Transactions on Energy Conversion, 2022, doi: 10.1109/TEC.2022.3196850.
- **3. G. Tanuku** and P. Pillay, "Induction Machine Emulation for Variable Frequency Drive Converter Faults," in IEEE Journal of Emerging and Selected Topics in Industrial Electronics, 2022, doi: 10.1109/JESTIE.2022.3195094.

#### **Conference** papers:

- G. Tanuku and P. Pillay, "Induction Machine Emulation under Asymmetric Grid Faults," 2020 IEEE Energy Conversion Congress and Exposition (ECCE), Detroit, MI, USA, 2020, pp. 2351-2356, doi: 10.1109/ECCE44975.2020.9235830.
- G. Tanuku and P. Pillay, "Emulation of induction machines subject to industrial grid harmonics," 2022 IEEE International Conference on Power Electronics, Smart Grid, and Renewable Energy (PESGRE), 2022, pp. 1-6, doi: 10.1109/PESGRE52268.2022.9715819.
- **6. G. Tanuku**, P. Pillay "Induction machine emulation for extreme weather conditions" in IEEE PES,2022, accepted and presented for IEEE PES, 2022.
- Gayatri Tanuku, K. S. Amitkumar, Jean-Nicolas Paquin, Syed Ahmed Raza Naqvi, Marija Stevic, Ravinder Venugopal "Ideal Transformer Method Optimization for Power Hardware-in-the-Loop Simulations of Grid-Connected Inverters" accepted and presented for PCIM Europe 2022.

# 1.3 Thesis Outline

Chapter 2 presents emulation of a 5 hp induction machine with a linear amplifier-based emulator. Different asymmetrical grid fault transients and loading transients are studied. It also proposes a methodology to implement emulation of a MW machine by a scaling down procedure. The accuracy improvement of a voltage in current out mathematical model is proposed. A systematic

upgrade of the emulator control strategy is presented. The experimental emulation results presented are validated with a real machine.

Chapter 3 presents emulation of an induction machine for industrial grid harmonics. Different odd order harmonics that commonly occur are considered for emulation. The combination of the harmonics with different THD percentages in the grid is given to the emulator. The improvement in emulator control strategy, which is robust to the grid harmonics considered, is proposed. Finally, experimental results which validate the proposed concept are presented.

Chapter 4 presents induction machine emulation for open circuit grid faults. Two induction machine models are discussed to emulate the stator back-emf. A current in voltage out induction machine model-II is proposed for emulating back-emf under open circuit. A change in emulator configuration with respect to model –II is also proposed. The experimental results to validate the proposed theory are presented for different open circuit faults.

Chapter 5 presents induction machine emulation for variable frequency drive converter faults. In this chapter, a comparison is made between a voltage in current out model and a current in voltage out model. The appropriateness of using them is checked for different converter switch faults. The current in voltage out model proposed is suitable for emulating various converter switch faults. The model also incorporates the physical emulator parameters. A change in emulator configuration is also proposed. Finally, the experimental results are presented to validate the robustness of the emulator.

Chapter 6 presents the grid emulation with the help of PHIL technology, using interface algorithms. An ideal transformer method interface algorithm is considered, and an improvement is proposed. A detailed mathematical analysis is presented. Performance improvement with different DUT structures and with different compensators are presented. Experimental result analysis for different balanced and unbalanced loads is presented.

Chapter 7 discusses the conclusion and future scope of this work.

# Chapter 2 Emulation of an Induction Machine for Unbalanced Grid Faults

## 2.1 Introduction

Induction machines (IMs) are prevalent in several industrial sectors such as design or manufacturing, transportation, electrical power generation, etc. They are robust and reliable under various operating conditions and offer numerous advantages namely high power and torque densities, good controllability, low maintenance, and cost. Because of the absence of brushes and permanent magnets, induction machines offer safe operation even in hazardous environments as there is no sparking of brushes, unlike dc machines. The full-load efficiency for medium and large machines can range from 85 to 97% [26]. In the electric vehicle sector, induction machines are competitive owing to their advantages in comparison with the other machines namely permanent magnet synchronous machines and switched reluctance machines [4]. However, in contrast to the above advantages, they possess a low power factor during light load conditions and can require considerable reactive power. They also have high inrush currents during starting or fault transients which can affect the supply voltage. The time required for various electromagnetic transients to decay is high thus placing an additional burden on the supply source.

The IM drive capability or performance of the grid needs to be checked/tested for various contingencies before the intended machine is installed. This testing needs a physical machine [27], responding to various transients applied namely converter faults or controller faults, or grid faults. Such testing may damage an expensive machine. For testing specific loading conditions [27], different lead times exist to gather all the subsystems. Sometimes, full-rated conditions of the drive cannot be tested with insufficiently rated subsystems. Hence this shortcoming leads to the concept of development of a 'virtual machine' which is essentially called an 'emulator' in this research.

A power-hardware-in-loop (PHIL) system is an effective real time emulation technique to recreate a virtual machine. The power hardware in this technique is power electronic converters or linear amplifiers (LA) which are coupled to link filters as shown in Fig. 2.1. This hardware is controlled by real time control signals processed in real time systems (RTS) such as Opal-Rt, RTDS, D-space, etc., to mimic the electrical dynamics of a real machine. The control signal



Fig. 2.1. Schematic diagram of machine emulator for grid faults.

generation is done by the emulator controller, processing the real time currents drawn by the power hardware, with respect to reference currents given by an accurate mathematical model of the machine [6]. There are numerous applications associated with this type of PHIL emulation such as transportation, aerospace and military, electric vehicles, grid, and motor applications [12], [15], [28], [29].

Considering grid applications, ac microgrids are increasingly popular and are becoming a way of integrating renewable energies. They are usually operated in remote locations. In this chapter, the induction machine emulation is chosen to be done with a grid interface. This allows testing ac microgrids which are very sensitive to fluctuations in load and generation. It is discussed in detail in [30], that the control of microgrids involves complex control strategies under various transient conditions. The microgrid control aims to maintain constant voltage and frequency while meeting real and reactive power demands. The emulator developed in this chapter can enable the distribution system operators (DSOs) to check or improve the implemented control techniques of the microgrid.

As per the literature survey on fault emulation, IM emulation for drive inverter faults is discussed in [31]. Emulation is also done for detection of stator inter-turn, broken bar faults, etc., with motor

Fault-1: Series-impedance fault; Fault-2: L-L fault with shunt-impedance; Fault-3: L-N fault with shunt-impedance.

current signature analysis (MCSA) in [32] and [33]. But the emulation of machines for grid faults has not been reported yet.

The distribution grid side faults are categorized as 'symmetrical' (balanced) or 'asymmetrical' (unbalanced) faults. Unbalanced faults such as line to neutral/ground have approximately 70% of occurrence while it is 15% for line to line and 10% for double line to neutral [34]. Series faults often occur because of a broken line or changed impedance level in one or more lines. In this chapter, unbalanced series faults and shunt faults are considered, during the emulation of the induction machine.

A comprehensive literature review has also been done on the emulation of different machines to choose the components of the emulator i.e., power hardware, coupling filter, type of controller, dynamic model of the machine, out of various possibilities as follows. [27] discusses induction motor emulation with a power electronic converter with an LCL filter and a transformer based complex coupling. Therefore, high frequency switching ripples, traveling, and reflected waves are eliminated. Nevertheless, [35], [36] employed a simple RL-coupling interface with bidirectional power converter with better accuracy. Three phase linear power amplifiers (LAs) are chosen as the emulator in [37] for high-speed tracking accuracy because of the high open-loop bandwidth. However, it is observed that the LAs can only be operated at a lower power range compared with that of the bidirectional converters employed in [27], [35], and [36] with operating power in kW. A proportional-integral (PI) control-based emulator is connected to drive converters in [27], [31], [35], [37] to control the direct and quadrature currents. In [36], a proportional resonant (PR) control-based emulator is directly coupled to the grid to control the three sinusoidal currents, but the usage of PR control is not justified. Even though the emulator is connected to the grid, no other transients are discussed except for direct online startup. In [35], [36] and [38], improvements in the accuracy of the dynamic machine models are done with the inclusion of effects of nonlinearities given by finite element analysis methods during motor starting. It is also observed that in all the emulation related reference papers, emulation of different machines under different transients is done at laboratory power level (kW) but not in terms of megawatt (MW). But many machines used in industries are MW sized machines and also require testing, before they are prototyped. But the MW machines cannot be easily emulated with laboratory power equipment. Testing of such machines poses a challenge and incurs huge wastage of power.

In view of the highlights and challenges from the above literature survey, a three-phase squirrel cage induction machine emulator test-bench is developed with a grid interface [39] as shown in Fig. 2.1. An RL-link filter of 3 mH and high-performance linear amplifiers of 200 kHz bandwidth are chosen. An Opal-Rt real time system with an accurate mathematical model, along with an appropriate controller is implemented to control LAs. For galvanic isolation between the grid and emulator to avoid circulating currents, an isolation transformer is also included. Resistive load banks are chosen for application of unbalanced faults impedances.

With respect to the maximum current rating limitation of LAs (20 A), the virtual machine operates at a reduced voltage during the test for the machine's faulty conditions. The series and shunt fault impedances for asymmetrical faults are chosen deliberately to protect the grid and linear amplifiers under high short circuit currents. A standard SOGI phase-locked-loop [40] is chosen for generating the phase-grid angle required for abc to dq transformations.

The center of attention of this research is to design an emulator which serves as a tool for testing cage induction machines under different asymmetric grid fault transients. This has been done by

- (i) Choosing an accurate mathematical model which is described in section 2.2.
- (ii) Enhancing the emulator control with combination of PI and PR controllers. The control addresses the causes and effects of the negative sequence components in the motor currents during asymmetric grid faults. An in-depth mathematical analysis and design concepts are demonstrated with necessary suggestions in section 2.3.
- (iii) Addressing the testing of MW machines with this proposed emulator by scaling down the MW machine parameters to laboratory machine's power level with the help of per unit transformation is elucidated in section 2.4.
- (iv) Comparison of the experimentally obtained electrical fault dynamics of the emulator with that of the real machine to check the capability of the emulator is shown in section 2.5. Thus, the emulator efficacy is verified for all different combinations of series and shunt impedance grid faults.

## 2.2 Mathematical modeling of the induction machine

In this section, dq modeling of the induction machine is used in the synchronous reference frame. The machine stator windings are star connected with isolated neutral. Hence the zero-sequence component of current does not find a path to flow.

The generalized dq mathematical model of an induction machine is given by the following equations from Fig. 2.2.

$$v_{qs} = r_s i_{qs} + \omega \lambda_{ds} + p \lambda_{qs} \tag{2.1}$$

$$v_{ds} = r_s i_{ds} - \omega \lambda_{qs} + p \lambda_{ds} \tag{2.2}$$

$$v'_{qr} = r'_r i_{qr} + (\omega - \omega_r) \lambda'_{dr} + p \lambda'_{qr}$$
(2.3)

$$v'_{dr} = r'_r i_{dr} + (\omega - \omega_r)\lambda'_{qr} + p\lambda'_{dr}$$
(2.4)

where  $v_{qs}$ ,  $v_{ds}$ ,  $i_{qs}$ ,  $i_{ds}$ ,  $\lambda_{qs}$ ,  $\lambda_{ds}$  are quadrature and direct axis voltages, currents, and flux linkages, respectively.

The discretized state-space model integrated with trapezoidal integration is employed in this chapter, by rearranging the generalized equations (2.1) to (2.4). This would lead to a voltage-in current-out state-space model represented in Fig. 2.3. It is described by the following equations (2.5) to (2.8).

$$\bar{I}(k) = A_{IM}\bar{I}(k) + B_{IM}\bar{U}(k)$$
(2.5)

To attain the correct current output from the state-space model, choosing an accurate integration method plays a role [10]. The input to the integrator in Fig. 2.3 ( $\overline{I}(k)$ ) is time-dependent and operated at a larger time step. This is predominant when the model is employed in the stationary reference frame or when  $\overline{I}(k)$  becomes oscillatory in the synchronous reference frame. Therefore, from the popular integration methods such as forward Euler, backward Euler, and Trapezoidal, the best integration method is Trapezoidal [41], [42] and is explained below.



Fig. 2.2. The *dq* equivalent circuit of IM.



Fig. 2.3. Voltage-in Current-out configuration of state space model.

For the output of the integrator  $\overline{I}(k)$  and for the input  $\overline{I}(k)$ , the output of Euler's integrator is given by (2.6) and that of the Trapezoidal integrator is given by (2.7), for a sampling period  $T_s$ . In the Trapezoidal method, the output depends on the average of present and past samples of input unlike in the Euler's which depends on the past sample of input. This improves the integration accuracy.

$$\bar{I}(k) = \bar{I}(k-1) + T_s \bar{I}(k-1)$$
(2.6)

$$\bar{I}(k) = \bar{I}(k-1) + \frac{T_s}{2} \left( \bar{I}(k) + \bar{I}(k-1) \right)$$
(2.7)
By substituting (2.5) for sample instants k and k - 1, in the above equation (2.7), gives (2.8).

$$\bar{I}(k) = \left(1 - \frac{A_{IM}T_s}{2}\right)^{-1} \left(1 + \frac{A_{IM}T_s}{2}\right) \bar{I}(k-1) + \frac{\left(1 - \frac{A_{IM}T_s}{2}\right)^{-1} B_{IM}T_s}{2} [\bar{U}(k) + \bar{U}(k-1)]$$
(2.8)

$$= \begin{bmatrix} -\frac{L_r R_s}{D} & \frac{\omega_s L_s L_r - \omega_r L_m^2}{D} & \frac{L_m R_r}{D} & \frac{\omega_s L_r L_m - \omega_r L_r L_m}{D} \\ \frac{-\omega_s L_s L_r + \omega_r L_m^2}{D} & -\frac{L_r R_s}{D} & \frac{-\omega_s L_r L_m + \omega_r L_r L_m}{D} & \frac{R_r L_m}{D} \\ \frac{R_s L_m}{D} & \frac{-\omega_s L_s L_m + \omega_r L_s L_m}{D} & \frac{-L_{ss} R_r}{D} & \frac{-\omega_r L_s L_r - \omega_s L_m^2}{D} \\ \frac{\omega_s L_s L_m - \omega_r L_s L_m}{D} & \frac{R_s L_m}{D} & \frac{\omega_s L_m^2 - \omega_r L_s L_r}{D} & \frac{-L_{ss} R_r}{D} \end{bmatrix}$$
$$B_{IM} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{L_r}{D} & 0 & -\frac{L_m}{D} & 0 \\ 0 & \frac{L_r}{D} & 0 & -\frac{L_m}{D} \end{bmatrix}$$
where,  $D = ((L_s L_r - L_m^2)), L_s = L_{ls} + L_m$  and  $L_r = L_{lr} + L_m$ 

Equation (2.8) is an amalgamation of Trapezoidal integration with state-space modeling. This mathematical model is claimed to give accurate results even for a larger time step of  $T_s = 20 \ \mu s$ , when compared to other simple state-space models with Euler's integration. Especially, it is more compatible with real time simulators having constraints with high sampling periods for the process of emulation.

# 2.3 Asymmetric grid fault emulator and its control

## 2.3.1 Production of negative sequence components

Am

In this chapter, unbalanced conditions are created safely on the grid side considering the maximum current capability of the chosen emulator. Therefore, shunt faults such as line to line, line to neutral and double line to neutral are applied with a selected shunt fault impedance. To attain sufficient voltage-drop during shunt faults, a series impedance fault is applied prior to the shunt faults. These asymmetrical series and shunt faults numbered 1, 2, and 3 respectively in Fig.

2.1, create imbalances in the applied voltages and currents. These imbalances can be realized mathematically into a positive sequence, negative sequence and zero sequence components.

The extent of the rise in the magnitude of negative sequence components along with the positive sequence current, calculated by equations (2.9) to (2.10), represents the level of asymmetry or unbalance.

$$I_{\ominus} = \frac{V_{\ominus}}{Z_{\ominus}} \tag{2.9}$$

$$I_{\oplus} = \frac{V_{\oplus}}{Z_{\oplus}} \tag{2.10}$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} V_{\oplus} \\ V_{\odot} \\ V_{0} \end{bmatrix} = \frac{1}{3} \begin{bmatrix} 1 & \alpha & \alpha^{2} \\ 1 & \alpha^{2} & \alpha \\ 1 & 1 & 1 \end{bmatrix} * \begin{bmatrix} V_{a} \\ V_{b} \\ V_{c} \end{bmatrix}$$
(2.11)

where  $V_{\oplus}$ ,  $V_{\ominus}$ ,  $I_{\oplus}$ ,  $I_{\ominus}$ ,  $Z_{\oplus}$ ,  $Z_{\ominus}$  are the positive sequence and negative sequence components of voltages, currents, and impedances for  $\alpha = 1 \angle 120^{\circ}$ ,  $\alpha^2 = 1 \angle -120^{\circ}$ .

The sequence voltages are obtained by three-phase unbalanced voltages, according to (2.11). The magnitude of the negative sequence impedance during fault transients is the sub-transient reactance of the induction machine [43] which is equal to the locked rotor reactance and the magnitude of positive sequence impedance is taken as the quasi-steady state impedance during faults which depends on the magnitude of slip.

Therefore, the rise in asymmetry is indicated by an increase in the magnitude of negative sequence voltage from series to shunt fault transition. This increases the negative sequence current as well. This mathematical analysis will be validated in the result analysis done in section 2.5.

#### 2.3.2 Effects of negative sequence components

During asymmetrical fault transients, the negative sequence stator currents rotate opposite to the direction of positive sequence stator currents at the fundamental frequency (f).

For the positive stator sequence currents, the rotor voltages and currents attain fractional-order frequencies  $(f_r)$  when the rotor is rotating at a slip (s) (2.12), (2.13).

$$f_r = sf \tag{2.12}$$

$$s = \frac{n_s - n}{n_s} \tag{2.13}$$

where  $n_s$  is the synchronous speed and n is the speed of the rotor in rpm.

But for the negative sequence stator currents,  $f_r$  will have almost twice the fundamental frequency, because the direction of rotor is opposite to the direction of rotation of negative sequence current which is rotating at a speed  $(-n_s)$ . This will result in torque and speed oscillations at double the supply frequency. However, the magnitude of speed oscillations is filtered out by the extent of the moment of inertia that the machine possesses.

Just like the rotor, the direct and quadrature axis currents in the imaginary synchronous reference frame rotate at the synchronous speed  $(n_s)$  in the direction of positive sequence components. This will have zero-relative speed, between the positive sequence currents and dq frame. Hence,  $i_d$ and  $i_q$  currents attain constant values i.e., with zero frequency. However, with respect to negative sequence components rotating at synchronous speed  $(-n_s)$  during asymmetric faults, the  $i_d$  and  $i_q$  currents attain double the synchronous frequency (f). This can be mathematically derived with the abc/dq transformation  $(K_1)$  from the stator's sinusoidal positive and negative sequence currents.

$$K_{1} = \frac{2}{3} \begin{bmatrix} \cos\theta & \cos(\theta - \delta) & \cos(\theta + \delta) \\ \sin\theta & \sin(\theta - \delta) & \sin(\theta + \delta) \\ \frac{1}{2} & \frac{1}{2} & \frac{1}{2} \end{bmatrix}$$
(2.14)

where  $\delta = 120^{\circ}$ .

$$i(t) = i_1(t) + i_{h'}(t) + i_{h''}(t) + i_{h'''}(t) + \cdots$$
(2.15)

Additionally, the imbalance in the symmetry of voltages would result in distortion of the shape of the sinusoidal stator current. The reason behind this is the appearance of harmonics in addition to the fundamental given by (2.15).

Sequence	Harmonic order			
+	1	7	13	19
-	2	8	14	20
0	3	9	15	21
+	4	10	16	22
-	5	11	17	23
0	6	12	18	24

Table 2.1. Harmonics and their respective sequence

Table 2.2. Behavior of  $i_d$ ,  $i_q$  currents for positive and negative sequence currents



As depicted in Table 2.1, each individual harmonic current has its individual phase of rotation with respect to the fundamental. However, because of the unbalanced fault, a harmonic being considered as a positive sequence will also have its negative sequence and vice versa.

This opposite phase of rotation for each harmonic in the stator current results in the appearance of harmonics in  $i_d$  and  $i_q$  based on the relative speed between the sequence currents and the synchronous dq reference frame as illustrated in Table 2.2.

Therefore, the positive sequence current for n = 1 from Table 2.1, produces  $i_d = \hat{l}_{\oplus}$ ,  $i_q = 0$  as per Table 2.2. Similarly, the opposite (negative) sequence current of the same order (n = 1)produces  $2^{nd}$  order harmonics i.e.,  $i_d = -\hat{l}_{\ominus} cos 2\theta$ ,  $i_q = \hat{l}_{\ominus} sin 2\theta$ .

Similarly, for the harmonics of order 2, 4, and 5, 7 in the stator *abc* current with their natural sequence of rotation (Table 2.1) gives  $3^{rd}$  and  $6^{th}$  harmonics in dq currents, respectively. But the opposite sequences of the same harmonics (2, 4, 5 and 7) gives  $1^{st}$ ,  $5^{th}$ ,  $4^{th}$  and  $8^{th}$  harmonics in dq currents, respectively.

If the stator current during a fault is symmetrical about the x-axis but has a distortion in shape from that of the pure sine wave, it represents odd-order harmonics 3, 5, 7, 9, etc., in addition to the fundamental. The multiples of third-order harmonics are zero sequence currents according to Table 2.1 and do not possess any phase of rotation. Hence, they do not affect  $i_d$  and  $i_q$  currents. But the remaining odd harmonics result in  $2^{nd}$ ,  $4^{th}$ ,  $6^{th}$ ,  $8^{th}$ , ... harmonics in the  $i_d$  and  $i_q$  currents.

#### 2.3.3 Emulator control approach

The real time emulator chosen in this project is a three-phase linear amplifier as shown in Fig. 2.1. As its main function, the emulator draws real time currents from the grid just like a physical machine. The emulator essentially tracks the reference currents given by the accurate machine model with proper control.

#### 1) During symmetrical conditions

The dc input reference currents  $(i_d^* \text{ and } i_q^*)$  to the emulator from the machine's mathematical model are produced by fundamental positive sequence stator currents. Hence, to control the emulator's real currents with respect to the reference dc currents, the proportional-integral control



Fig. 2.4. Bode plot for the PI controller design.

approach is only chosen with sufficient closed-loop bandwidth in Fig. 2.4. This gives good transient and steady state tracking accuracy under symmetrical conditions.

The PI controller gains in (2.16) are tuned for the following open-loop transfer function (G(s)H(s)). This involves, the first-order transfer functions of the emulator  $(T_1)$ , RL link filter  $(T_2)$ , and current sensor  $(T_3)$  given by (2.17)-(2.19), with the linear amplifier and current sensor gains of  $K_{LA}$  and  $K_c$  with respective delay times  $\tau_{LA}$  and  $\tau_c$  and link filter parameters of resistance (R) and inductance (L) (refer to appendix).

$$G_{PI} = K_p + \frac{K_I}{s} \tag{2.16}$$

$$G(s)H(s) = T_1 * T_2 * T_3$$
(2.17)

$$T_1 = \frac{K_{LA}}{1 + s\tau_{LA}} \tag{2.18}$$

$$T_2 = \frac{\frac{1}{R}}{1 + s\left(\frac{L}{R}\right)} \tag{2.19}$$



Fig. 2.5. Emulator control architecture.



Fig. 2.6. PI based emulator tracking symmetrical conditions.

$$T_3 = \frac{K_c}{1 + s\tau_c} \tag{2.20}$$

The proportional and integral gains of the emulator are tuned in compliance with BIBO stability conditions. An appropriate bandwidth ( $\omega_n$ ) is chosen to respect the maximum bandwidth limitation imposed by the delay times of the linear amplifier, current sensor, and sampling time step ( $T_s$ ) (2.21). Equation (2.21) is derived by comparing the present closed-loop transfer function



Fig. 2.7. Machine current  $i_d$  and corresponding FFT analysis respectively after shunt fault at instant 2.9 seconds.



Fig. 2.8. PI based emulator tracking asymmetrical conditions during series impedance fault to shunt impedance fault transition.

(1 + G(s)H(s)) with the standard second order closed-loop transfer function for a damping ratio  $(\zeta)$  (refer appendix).

$$2\zeta\omega_n = \frac{1}{\tau_{LA} + \tau_c + T_s} \tag{2.21}$$

The tuning of the PI controller is done and proportional and integral gains ( $K_p$  and  $K_i$ ) are obtained with the help of Bode plot analysis as shown in Fig. 2.4. The gain margin of 18.5 dB, phase margin of 64<sup>0</sup> are obtained for a bandwidth of 1350 Hz. This bandwidth does not exceed the maximum bandwidth (1800 Hz) which is calculated from (2.21). The resultant gains are

incorporated in the PI controllers of the emulator controller shown in Fig. 2.5. The designed PI control-based emulator current can track the reference current under symmetrical conditions namely during starting and the steady state as shown in Fig. 2.6.

#### 2) Asymmetrical conditions

The introduction of negative sequence currents and distortion in the shape of the sinusoidal stator current under unbalanced conditions, lead to multiples of  $2^{nd}$  order harmonics in dq currents (Fig. 2.7). Therefore, the PI controller alone is not enough for good tracking accuracy. Fig. 2.8 depicts asymmetric fault transients where the emulator current could not follow the reference signal with good accuracy. Here the mathematical model giving reference current is employed with Euler's integration.

It is evident in Fig. 2.8, that the asymmetry by the series fault is tracked by the emulator PI controller alone. The increase in asymmetry by shunt fault cannot be tracked by PI control alone.

Hence this chapter proposes the use of a proportional resonant (PR) controller in addition to the PI controller. The dq currents corresponding to the multiples of second-order frequencies are addressed by the PR controller. The transfer function of the PR controller for gain ' $K_r$ ', cutoff frequency constant ' $\beta$ ', oscillating frequency ' $\omega_f$ ' in rad/sec is given by (2.22) [44].

$$G_{PR} = \frac{K_r \beta s \omega_f}{s^2 + \beta S \omega_f + \omega_f^2}$$
(2.22)

The control signal by the PR controller is added to that of the PI's and finally given to the control input of linear amplifier driven in voltage control mode. The PR controller gain  $(K_r)$  is tuned as follows:

- The Bode plot of the emulator system with PI control alone is considered in Fig. 2.4. The gain(G<sub>2n</sub>) corresponding to the 2n order frequency (ω<sub>f</sub> rad/s)dq currents for n = 1,2,3, ... etc., is identified.
- The same system with only PI controller is later tuned to achieve maximum tracking accuracy for severe asymmetric faults. This is done in simulation, by ideally increasing the system bandwidth to 50.265 k-rad/sec violating the maximum practical bandwidth limitation discussed before (2.21).



Fig. 2.9. Bode plots of open loop transfer functions of PI, PR and PI+PR controllers.



Fig. 2.10. Proposed emulator (PI+PR) tracking asymmetrical conditions during series impedance fault to shunt impedance fault transition.

- 3. Identify the gain( $G_{2n}^*$ ) corresponding to the 2*n* order frequency  $(\omega_f rad/s)dq$  currents for  $n = 1,2,3, \dots etc.$ , in the Bode plot of the emulator system with ideal bandwidth PI.
- 4. The incorporated gain  $(K_r)$  of the PR controller is obtained from the difference of the above-identified gains and is calculated as in (2.23).

$$20\log|K_r| = |G_{2n}^* - G_{2n}| \tag{2.23}$$

The constant  $\beta$  determines the bandwidth of the PR controller (refer to appendix). The individual and combined bode plots of the practical bandwidth PI and PR controllers for transfer functions  $G_{PI}$ ,  $G_{PR}$  and  $G_C$  (2.24) are shown in Fig. 2.9.

$$G_c = G_{PI} + G_{PR} \tag{2.24}$$



Fig. 2.11. Current and torque envelopes for MW (top) and scaled MW machines (bottom).

The proposed emulator with PI and PR controllers addressing the second harmonic (with n = 1) alone achieves good tracking accuracy with the reference current as shown in Fig. 2.10.

Fig. 2.7 shows that, even though there are frequencies of order 4, 6, and 8, the magnitudes of them are small compared to the  $2^{nd}$ . Hence this chapter suggests an optimized approach to address the harmonic which has the largest magnitude initially. If sufficient accuracy is not met, the other harmonics (n = 2,3,4) with the next higher magnitude could also be addressed from (2.22), (2.23). This adjusted approach reduces the burden on the real time processor.

Hence, the developed virtual machine test bench (emulator), serves the purpose of mimicking the electrical dynamics of a squirrel cage machine for any asymmetrical conditions. The proposed control strategy is robust for any unbalanced current. Therefore, emulation for different asymmetrical faults can be done based on the maximum current, voltage, and power limitations of the test bench. This concept offers scope of mimicking even a MW power level machine with the same developed emulator at the laboratory power level. Hence scaling down the MW induction machine to laboratory power level with the help of per unit transformation enables one to get the job done.

## 2.4 Process of Scaling Down MW Machine

The mega-watt level squirrel cage induction machine can be scaled down to test laboratory power range with the help of per unit (p.u) transformation. This procedure essentially forms a replica of huge machine realized at very low power level. Initially, the p.u quantities of resistances, inductances, inertia, and friction constants of the giant machine are obtained with MW base values as per the equation (2.25).

$$(P.U)_{MW} = \frac{(actual \ value)_{MW}}{(Base \ value)_{MW}}$$
(2.25)

Then the obtained p.u values are multiplied with the base values of laboratory power level (KW) machine to get the replicated machine parameters as per the equation (2.26).

$$(P.U)_{MW} * (Base value)_{KW} = (Scaledown values)_{KW}$$
(2.26)

However, the MW replica would certainly have the same electrical and mechanical dynamics as that of the real MW machine, but with reduced or scaled down magnitudes which is illustrated clearly in the following Fig. 2.11, where the envelope for currents for MW machine are replicated at lower power level for a period of starting conditions.

## 2.5 Result Analysis

This section presents experimental results for asymmetric grid faults namely series impedance faults and shunt impedance faults i.e., line to line (LL), line to neutral (LN), and line to line to neutral (LLN). As described in section 2.3.1, the series impedance faults are applied initially to have the necessary voltage drop. Later shunt faults are applied to the same phase. These faults essentially create voltage unbalance at the stator input terminals of the real machine and/or the physical emulator. The emulator is developed by a high-performance linear amplifier with its maximum phase current rating of 20 A and voltage rating of 208 V and maximum open-loop bandwidth of 100 kHz. The results obtained with the 5 hp emulator for different asymmetric fault transients are validated with the real machine. An analysis is also made regarding positive and negative sequence components and the appearance of harmonics during faults with the help of simulation results in Matlab/Simulink.

The validating results in Fig. 2.12 for the 5 hp machine emulator, not only prove the tracking accuracy with respect to the reference current but also with respect to the real machine's current. The tracking ability is obtained by (i) upgrading the mathematical model as per section 2.2, (ii) Enhancement in control concept as per section 2.3.3.

Considering the maximum current limitations of the linear amplifier emulator, the reduced input line voltages applied to the 5 hp machine is 90.5 V. The machine emulating accuracy is not only verified for fault and fault transitions, but also for pre-fault and post fault conditions.

Fig. 2.12 and Fig. 2.13 shows the quasi-steady states of the emulator, real machine, and simulation results for 5 hp machine during series fault and shunt faults conditions namely LL fault, and LN fault respectively. The first channel, CH-1, indicates the faulty phase-A current where a series fault of 10  $\Omega$  is being introduced initially. CH-2, CH-3 represent corresponding phase voltage, reference phase–A current, respectively. The reference nodes of CH-1 and CH-3 are slightly shifted to give a clear picture of tracking capability. CH-4 represents the fault current from phase A to phase B or the fault current from phase A to neutral through the shunt fault impedance. It is observed here that not only the emulator's current in (CH-1) tracks the reference current (CH-3) with high accuracy in section (a) but also tracks the real machine's current in section (b).

Section (c) shows the results obtained for offline simulation of emulation also underlines the tracking capability of the proposed emulator.

An FFT analysis is done for the asymmetrical stator current of faulty phase in Fig. 2.12, and it is shown in Fig. 2.14. The presence of  $1^{st}$ ,  $3^{rd}$  and  $5^{th}$  harmonics are identified. These harmonics with their natural sequence of rotation will have opposite sequence currents during asymmetry as explained in section 2.3.2.

Fig. 2.15 presents the appearance of negative sequence components, positive sequence components for fundamental line currents and voltages during a series fault at 2.5 seconds, and a shunt fault at 3 seconds. It is identified that the magnitude of zero sequence current is zero. The magnitude of the sequence currents calculated from (2.9), (2.10) could also be identified in Fig. 2.15 for the sub transient reactance of  $3.42 \Omega$  and quasi-steady state impedance of  $20.13 \Omega$  (based on the quasi-steady state slip). Similarly, for 5<sup>th</sup> harmonics, the opposite sequence components are identified along with its own sequence (negative) in Fig. 2.16. The magnitudes of sequence



Fig. 2.12. Experimental results for L-L fault: section (a) Emulator (b) real IM (c) simulated IM with actual current (red), reference current (green), machine input voltage (orange) and fault current (blue) zoomed at the instants of fault and steady fault state.

currents calculated from (2.9), (2.10) are matched but possess very low magnitudes and hence may be neglected.

However, the presence of harmonics identified in Fig. 2.14, introduces  $(n \pm 1)$  harmonics in direct and quadrature currents for n = 1,5,7,.etc., (as explained in Table 2.2, Fig. 2.7). The  $2^{nd}$  order harmonic in dq currents have considerable magnitude while  $4^{th}, 6^{th}$  harmonics, introduced by  $5^{th}$  are low. This is because of the low magnitude of  $5^{th}$  harmonic. Hence, the



Fig. 2.13. Experimental results for L-N fault: section (a) Emulator (b) real IM (c) simulated IM with actual current (red), reference current (green), machine input voltage (orange) and fault current (blue) zoomed at the instants of fault and steady fault state.



Fig. 2.14. FFT analysis of stator current during LN fault for 5 hp machine.





Fig. 2.15. Appearance sequence currents and voltages for fundamental.

Fig. 2.16. Appearance of 5<sup>th</sup> harmonic sequence currents and voltages (zoomed at fault instants).

inclusion of the PR controller designed only for  $2^{nd}$  order harmonic is justified.

In addition to the fault condition, considered quasi-steady state, the pre-fault to post-fault transition conditions is also emulated. The dynamic behavior of the emulated system is observed under various transients at a lower power level and the performance of the emulator is verified.

## 2.5.1 Pre-fault to post- fault Transients

This emulation of the 5 hp machine proves that it is good enough in following reference currents in all transitions from pre-fault to the post-fault condition in Fig. 2.17. The notations of all the channels remain the same as per Fig. 2.12. This is explained in detail with four transition states as below:

T1: pre-fault steady state to series fault state.

T2: series fault state to shunt fault state.

T3: shunt fault state to series fault state.

T4: series fault state to normal steady state (fault resuming state).

The corresponding real time speed and torque waveforms for one of the severe asymmetric faults (LLN) are also recorded in Fig. 2.18. Channels CH-1, CH-2, and CH-4 represent torque, line voltage, and speed, respectively. It is observed that during unbalanced fault conditions, the second

harmonic oscillatory content in torque is noticed indicating negative sequence components of current and voltage. The transient spike in torque when a severe shunt fault occurs is also observed. In experiment a sudden rise in the noise of the physical machine was observed.

The emulator's efficacy is not only validated for shunt asymmetric faults but also for multiple series impedance faults. Fig. 2.19 denotes the application of series fault impedances of 10  $\Omega$  in phase-A and 8  $\Omega$  in phase-C for T1 and T2 transitions respectively. The fault resuming states by removal of fault impedances in phase-C and phase-A is represented by T3 and T4 transitions. However, T1 and T4 transitions have already been shown in Fig. 2.17 for the series fault of 10  $\Omega$ in phase-A. Hence the transitions T2 and T3 for 8  $\Omega$  fault impedance in phase-C are magnified in Fig. 2.19. The emulator's performance is identified in T2' and T3' transitions with that of the physical machine in T2 and T3 transition. The corresponding unbalanced phase voltages are represented at the bottom section of Fig. 2.19. The black-headed arrows indicate the point of transition in the transition phase.

Therefore, the experimental results obtained above prove that the machine emulator is robust in its performance for different kinds of asymmetrical shunt and series impedance fault transients considered.

The quasi-steady state conditions observed for the machine in Fig. 2.19, zoomed at T3 and T3', respectively possess fractional-order harmonics in addition to the fundamental because of grid voltage unbalances. Therefore, it is clearly witnessed that the emulator tracks even the distorted stator currents.

## 2.5.2 Starting and loading transients

The loading and unloading transients are also observed in Fig. 2.20 for MW machine replica, (zoomed at T1 and T3 periods respectively) for a load torque of 1 Nm, which is equivalent to 297.7 Nm without violating the maximum torque constraint of  $\tau_{max} = 2.99 Nm$  equivalent to 893.1 Nm, for operating voltage of 26.3 V phase voltage and respective MW scaled down machine parameters. Hence it can be seen that the electromagnetic torque (CH-2 in orange) also rises to meet the load torque with a corresponding fall in speed (CH-4 in blue) and rise in stator reference current (CH-1 in red) and thus emulator current (CH-3 in green). The steady state behavior of the



Fig. 2.17. LLN fault transient emulation and validation done with a real 5hp machine. *Note*: The black arrows represent point of transition from one state to another.



Fig. 2.18. Real time speed and torque characteristics for LLN fault transients. *Note*: The black arrows represent point of transition from one state to another.



Fig. 2.19. Series impedance fault transient of real machine at T1: With 10  $\Omega$  in phase- A, T2: Additional 8  $\Omega$  in phase-C, T3 & T4: Post fault transients with the removal of 8 $\Omega$  and 10  $\Omega$  fault impedances. Emulated and reference currents with respective unbalanced three-phase voltages below. *Note*: The black arrows represent point of transition from one state to another.



Fig. 2.20. Loading and unloading transient emulation for T1, T2, T3 and T4 transitions.



Fig. 2.21. Loading and unloading transient emulation for L1, U1, L2 and U2 transitions.



Fig. 2.22. Emulation of the scaled down machine for starting and steady states.

machine emulation after application and removal of the load are also observed in detail for T2 and T4 periods magnified.

Similarly, for the 5 hp machine considered, for a reduced operating phase voltage of 30.33 V, the maximum operating torque would be 0.62 Nm, a load torque of 1Nm, which is greater than the maximum torque is applied, the machine speed reverses indicating that it is driven by load. These overloading and respective unloading transients are zoomed and are indicated with L1 and U1 respectively in Fig. 2.21.

Later, a negative torque of 1 Nm is also applied when the machine is running in normal no-load condition shown in the same Fig. 2.21. The corresponding rise in speed indicates that the machine is driven by load torque in positive direction. Its loading and unloading transients are indicated with L2 and U2 respectively. Therefore, the machine emulator is working well for both the replicated MW machine and 5 hp machine under all types of loading and unloading transients considered.



Fig. 2.23. LA1, LA2, LA3 – three-phase Linear Amplifiers, 1- three-phase variac, 2 - link filters, 3 - Opal-Rt, 4 - protection circuit and sensors, 5 - DC power supply.

The starting transient and steady state conditions is also observed for scaled down machine in Fig. 2.22, zoomed at time periods S1 and S2, respectively. The steady state current of 1.875 A peak is observed which possess fractional order harmonics in addition to the fundamental because of minor grid voltage imperfections (clearly visible Fig. 2.19 (T4)). These imperfections are



Fig. 2.24. Manner of implementation of emulation and validation for asymmetric grid fault testing.

expected to be caused by nonlinear loads operating in parallel to the distribution level bus which distort the grid voltage [44]. Therefore, it can be clearly witnessed that the emulator absolutely tracks very well even for the distorted shape of the grid waveform.

Fig. 2.23 shows the experimental setup used for a linear amplifier-based emulator to implement the different asymmetrical faults on the squirrel cage machine. Fig. 2.24 represents the testing of the physical machine and emulator for asymmetric grid faults. The series and shunt faults are applied with the help of a resistive load bank. The implementation procedure for testing with the emulator can be done by utilizing e1, e2, e3 terminals. The validation with the real machine can be done by utilizing m1, m2, m3 terminals.

# 2.6 Summary

The designed physical emulator system can be realized for any asymmetrical grid fault transients to test the electrical dynamics of the squirrel cage induction machine. The reason for multiples of second-order harmonics in emulator controller currents during asymmetric faults is explained and corresponding control logic is suggested. Since the higher bandwidth linear amplifier emulator tracks the symmetrical pre-fault conditions, symmetrical faults can also be tested with relevant fault impedance (owing to the current limitation of the linear amplifiers).

The linear amplifier emulator with a maximum current limitation of 20 A can be overcome by a bidirectional converter, which can possess a higher current rating, for testing various transient conditions at an enhanced power level. Hence it can be concluded from the results in the preceding section, the developed emulator test bench is proved to be robust and works similar to the real machine for different grid faults. The tracking performance is noted to be good enough for not only pre-fault to fault transition but also for the fault to fault and fault to post-fault transitions.

# Chapter 3 Emulation of induction machines subject to industrial grid harmonics

# 3.1 Introduction

Induction machines are considered the workhorse in several industrial sectors. They offer good reliability owing to several advantages such as good controllability, low maintenance, safety, and performance. When such machines are interfaced with a grid, anomalous behavior can result due to imperfections of the grid. Although the space harmonics, slotting harmonics, etc., in induction machine will affect the power quality of the grid [45], the chapter focuses on an in-depth understanding of the effects of grid harmonics on the induction motor.

The machine's dynamic behavior can be tested with a real induction machine. This method of testing is considered orthodox [39], and it is quite time consuming to gather associated subsystems of the machine. Sometimes testing reduces the life expectancy of the machine. This disadvantage leads to the development of a "virtual machine" or "machine emulator" which uses PHIL technology. It uses power electronic hardware interfacing the grid, to mimic the electrical dynamics of the intended machine in a real-time control loop. The performance of this emulation technique lies in the tracking accuracy regarding actual machine electrical dynamics. This can be achieved with an accurate mathematical model and precise emulator control. In this chapter, the emulator accurate dynamic tracking ability is improved and tested with respect to the real machine in an environment of industrial grid harmonics.

Harmonics are a major concern to electrical utilities and consumers. They occur due to grid voltage distortions, interconnection of renewable sources, and the usage of nonlinear loads in industries such as electric arc furnaces, fluorescent lighting, rolling mill loads, converter-based consumer loads, etc. Generally, the majority of electronic and power electronic equipment connected in parallel to the grid causes lower order harmonics [17], [18]. They result in the heating of the electromagnetic core of the machine. In addition, active-controlled devices such as IGBTs, MOSFETs, etc., activated with different PWM techniques are a source of higher-order harmonics as well. The higher-order harmonic currents can cause the failure of capacitors and the tripping of circuit breakers [46]. The effects of harmonics in the majority of cases of a plant or process are

degradation of individual component efficiency, reduced torque in rotating equipment, increased stress in the equipment insulation, increased noise, maloperation of sensitive relays, interference between power and communication circuits, increased losses and thus reduced life expectancy [17]. Finally, it can lead to a decline in overall process quality.

When the system or plant has power quality issues, their impact on the loads needs to be examined prior to the equipment damage or production loss. This enables the power system operators to develop corrective measures in advance. Therefore, with the help of emulation techniques, the effects on the plant/process output can be investigated in terms of quality and/or quantity prior to the installation of the machine. This method incurs no power losses while testing and will maintain the life of the machine.

A detailed literature survey has been done for emulating grid harmonics. The reasons for the production of voltage harmonics based on harmonic measurement in manufacturing industries are identified in [17], [18], [47], and [48]. The influence of poor power quality has been studied in steel plants, automotive industries, and different industries [49]-[51]. In an industrial grid, the onsite investigations for 3 months in [46] reveal the average value of THD is approximately less than 10% for major voltage harmonics of order 5, 7, 11, and 13. These harmonics are produced due to rectifiers and electric are furnaces. According to case studies in IEEE 3002 [17] for an adjustable speed drive, the individual harmonic current spectrum shows 18.24% and 4.01% as the maximum and minimum values. Investigation of grid harmonic effects have been studied on wound rotor induction machine using simulation techniques such as FEA and CDF [45]. These methods will not enable one to observe the cumulative effects on the system assembly practically. Experimental evaluation of the harmonic impacts is discussed with a practical machine in [52], but lower values of THDs are considered to avoid the energy losses. Harmonic compensation techniques have been emulated for an electrostatic precipitator load [53]. However, there is no reported literature on emulating impact of grid harmonics on induction machines.

Therefore, this chapter contemplates the extreme values of THDs for such major voltage harmonics to emulate the effects on induction machine. The combination of harmonics for maximum (20%) and minimum (5%) percentage of the nominal value are considered. High-performance linear amplifiers (LAs) of bandwidth 200 kHz are chosen as emulators [37], [39], so



Fig. 3.1. Schematic diagram of the machine emulator for grid harmonics.

that the emulator possesses good tracking accuracy for lower and higher-order harmonics in machine currents. The real-time modulating signals to the LAs are given by an Opal-RT real-time processor. The machine model that is employed is an accurate discrete linear dq-model which is realized with the trapezoidal method of integration [31]. A detailed mathematical and FFT analysis has been shown for accurate emulator control design in section 3.2. Experimental results for grid harmonics are provided with the LA-based emulator and are validated on a real 5 hp machine during steady-state, starting and loading transients proving the efficacy of the proposed emulator. The experiments have been done at a reduced voltage owing to current limitations of the LAs. Finally, the last section discusses the conclusion and future scope.

# 3.2 Emulator Arrangement and its Control Technique

## 3.2.1 Components of Emulator

Fig. 3.1 shows the induction machine emulator for grid-side harmonics. The LAs are significant components in forming a virtual machine. The isolation transformer avoids circulating currents between the grid and the emulator. The (D/D or Y/Y) isolation transformer retains the shape of the harmonic grid voltage at the emulator terminals. The emulator control and mathematical model are implemented in real-time with the help of real-time processor Opal-RT.

## 3.2.2 Mathematical Model

The mathematical model is implemented in the synchronous reference frame to give constant dq currents. The trapezoidal integration integrated linear mathematical model is chosen for improved accuracy at larger sampling times in Opal Rt. The discrete dq state space modelling is described in (3.1) - (3.5).

$$\dot{I}(q) = A_{IM}I(q) + B_{IM}U(q)$$
 (3.1)

where, 
$$I(q) = \begin{bmatrix} i_{ds}^{s} & i_{qs}^{s} & i_{dr}^{s} & i_{qr}^{s} \end{bmatrix}^{T}$$
 (3.2)

$$U(q) = \begin{bmatrix} v_{ds}^{s} & v_{qs}^{s} & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}^{T}$$
(3.3)

$$\begin{split} A_{IM} \\ &= \begin{bmatrix} -\frac{L_r R_s}{D} & \frac{\omega_s L_s L_r - \omega_r L_m^2}{D} & \frac{L_m R_r}{D} & \frac{\omega_s L_r L_m - \omega_r L_r L_m}{D} \\ \frac{-\omega_s L_s L_r + \omega_r L_m^2}{D} & -\frac{L_r R_s}{D} & \frac{-\omega_s L_r L_m + \omega_r L_r L_m}{D} & \frac{R_r L_m}{D} \\ \frac{R_s L_m}{D} & \frac{-\omega_s L_s L_m + \omega_r L_s L_m}{D} & \frac{-L_{ss} R_r}{D} & \frac{-\omega_r L_s L_r - \omega_s L_m^2}{D} \\ \frac{\omega_s L_s L_m - \omega_r L_s L_m}{D} & \frac{R_s L_m}{D} & \frac{\omega_s L_m^2 - \omega_r L_s L_r}{D} & \frac{-L_{ss} R_r}{D} \end{bmatrix} \end{split}$$
(3.4)  
$$B_{IM} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{L_r}{D} & 0 & -\frac{L_m}{D} & 0 \\ 0 & \frac{L_r}{D} & 0 & -\frac{L_m}{D} \end{bmatrix}$$
where,  $D = ((L_s L_r - L_m^2))$ 

The output current from the state space model is obtained by integrating (3.1) with an accurate trapezoidal integration method. This method considers the present and past samples of derivative input shown in (3.6).

$$I(q) = I(q-1) + \frac{T}{2} \left( \dot{I}(q) + \dot{I}(q-1) \right)$$
(3.6)

Therefore, by substituting state space equation (3.1) for sampling instants q and (q - 1), in the trapezoidal integration equation (3.6), gives accurate sampled output current (3.7).

$$I(q) = \left(1 - \frac{A_{IM}T_s}{2}\right)^{-1} \left(1 + \frac{A_{IM}T_s}{2}\right) I(q-1)$$
(3.7)

$$+\frac{\left(1-\frac{A_{IM}T}{2}\right)^{-1}B_{IM}T_{s}}{2}\left[U(q)+U(q-1)\right]$$

### 3.2.3 Emulator Control Strategy

The real-time emulator control strategy demonstrated in Fig. 3.2, controls the error between actual currents drawn by LAs and reference currents by machine model. The dq current control is done with proportional-integral (PI) and proportional resonant (PR) controllers with the help of  $\frac{abc}{dq}$  transformation and grid phase-locked loop. The feed forward terms in dq emulator current control involves LA amplification gain (*G*)and the link filter inductance (*L<sub>s</sub>*). The PI controllers are tuned for a high bandwidth of 2.15 kHz for a stable gain and phase margins. The PI controller controls dc components in dq currents and are accurate for a sinusoidal input grid voltage. The damped oscillatory nature of dq currents during starting is addressed by high bandwidth PI controllers. This is not the case when the grid voltage is imperfect sinusoidal due to the nonlinear loads. This leads to high frequency oscillatory content in the dq currents of the machine. For instance, the odd order-negative-sequence -stator harmonic voltages such as the fifth and/or eleventh induces the same order stator harmonic currents in (3.8) - (3.10). The equations for corresponding  $i_d$  and  $i_q$  currents derived with  $\frac{abc}{qd}$  transformation (*K*) in (3.11) are shown in (3.12) - (3.15).

$$i_a = i_{a\left(h_1 + \frac{h_{5,7}}{h_{11}}, 13\right)} \angle \theta \tag{3.8}$$

$$i_b = i_{a\left(h_1 + \frac{h_{5,7}}{h_{11}}, 13\right)} \angle \theta + 120^0)$$
(3.9)

$$i_c = i_{a\left(h_1 + \frac{h_{5,7}}{h_{11}}, 13\right)} \angle \theta - 120^0)$$
(3.10)

$$K = \frac{2}{3} \begin{bmatrix} \cos\theta & \cos(\theta - \delta) & \cos(\theta + \delta) \\ \sin\theta & \sin(\theta - \delta) & \sin(\theta + \delta) \\ \frac{1}{2} & \frac{1}{2} & \frac{1}{2} \end{bmatrix}$$
(3.11)

where  $\delta = 120^{\circ}$ 



Fig. 3.2. Emulator control strategy for harmonics.

gives 
$$i_{d5} = I_{m1} - I_{m5} cos 6\theta$$
 (3.12)

$$i_{q5} = I_{m1} + I_{m5} sin6\theta \tag{3.13}$$

$$i_{d11} = I_{m1} + I_{m11} cos 12\theta \tag{3.14}$$

$$i_{q11} = I_{m1} + I_{m11} \cos 12\theta \tag{3.15}$$

where  $I_m$  is the peak value of respective harmonic current.

Equations (3.12), (3.13) indicate the sixth harmonic content in dq currents due to fifth harmonic input current component. Similarly, equations (3.14), (3.15) indicate twelfth harmonic content in dq currents due to eleventh harmonic input current.  $I_{m1}$  represent the dc components due to fundamental. The same analysis is valid for the other order harmonics with their respective sequence of rotation. That is seventh and thirteenth harmonics being positive sequence, also injects sixth and twelfth in dq currents (3.16) - (3.19).

$$i_{d7} = I_{m1} + I_{m7} \cos 6\theta \tag{3.16}$$

$$i_{q7} = I_{m1} + I_{m7} \sin 6\theta \tag{3.17}$$

$$i_{d13} = I_{m1} + I_{m12} \cos 12\theta \tag{3.18}$$

$$i_{q13} = I_{m1} + I_{m12} \sin 12\theta \tag{3.19}$$

$$T_{PR} = \frac{G_{PR}\varepsilon s\omega_h}{s^2 + \varepsilon s\omega_h + \omega_h^2}$$
(3.20)

$$THD = 100. \frac{\sqrt{\left(\sum_{h\neq 1}^{n} I_{sh}^{2}\right)}}{I_{s1}}$$
(3.21)

This mathematical investigation authenticates the FFT simulation analysis for dq currents shown in Fig. 3.3. Hence, the chosen PI controllers alone are no longer feasible for precise current control. Henceforth this chapter proposes a novel approach to deal with this problem by adding PR controllers corresponding to the harmonic frequencies in  $i_d$  and  $i_q$  currents (Fig. 3.3).

The second order transfer function of the PR controller for gain ' $G_{PR}$ ', cut off frequency constant ' $\varepsilon$ ', oscillating frequency due to harmonics ' $\omega_h$ ' is given in equation (3.20). The PR controller gain  $G_{PR}$  is tuned in Matlab/Simulink with a starting gain value of  $G_{PI}$  (PI controller gain). The gain is gradually increased till the error between the actual and reference value becomes less than 1%. The cut off frequency constant ( $\varepsilon$ ) is taken as 10% considering the side band frequencies around the resonant harmonic frequency.

## 3.3 Experimental Results

Fig. 3.4, 3.5 shows the experimental results for harmonic voltages and currents of the real machine and the proposed emulator during steady state. The experiment has been done for a reduced phase voltage of 52.5 V to protect the LA emulator from currents crossing a 20 A limit. Section- 1 (b) in Fig. 3.5, represents the emulator current during 20% of THD (3.21) of the 5<sup>th</sup> harmonic voltage and is exactly tracking the reference value. The emulator also behaves like a real induction machine with respect to Section-1(a). The same is proved in Section-2: for combination of 20% of 5<sup>th</sup> and 10% of 7<sup>th</sup> harmonic voltage, Section-3: for combination of 20% of 11<sup>th</sup> and 10% of 13<sup>th</sup> harmonic voltages. The mean reference nodes in the sections (a) and (b) are slightly different from each other. However, the currents trends and magnitudes have a good match with good accuracy under steady state. The behavior of the machine and emulator tracking accuracy for



Fig. 3.3. FFT analysis for (a) stator harmonic voltage  $(5^{th}+7^{th})$  and (b) corresponding ' $i_d$ ' current.

fifth harmonic alone during starting and steady state are also verified along with speed, torque characteristics in Fig. 3.6. The overall and zoom-in profiles for starting and steady state of the real machine are in line with that of the emulator. However, the dynamic tracking accuracy is further verified by overlapping the machine and emulator currents in Fig. 3.7. During starting conditions for  $5^{th} + 7^{th}$  harmonics, the emulator current and reference current overlap each other after a fraction of the first half cycle in section (a). In section (b), the emulator current overlaps the real machine's current with a slight compromise in accuracy. This slight mismatch at peaks of the current waveforms is due to the non-consideration of saturation nonlinearity within the machine.









Fig. 3.4. Section-(a): steady state voltages and currents for real induction machine where machine input line voltage in CH1, actual current in CH2, reference current in CH3 and Section-1: 5<sup>th</sup> harmonic, Section-2: 5<sup>th</sup> + 7<sup>th</sup> harmonics, Section-3: 11<sup>th</sup> + 13<sup>th</sup> harmonics, Section-4: 5<sup>th</sup> +7<sup>th</sup> +11<sup>th</sup> +13<sup>th</sup> harmonics.



Fig. 3.5. Section-(b): steady state voltages, reference and emulator currents of proposed emulator where machine input line voltage in CH1, actual current in CH2, reference current in CH3 and Section-1: 5<sup>th</sup> harmonic, Section-2: 5<sup>th</sup> + 7<sup>th</sup> harmonics, Section-3: 11<sup>th</sup> + 13<sup>th</sup> harmonics, Section-4: 5<sup>th</sup> +7<sup>th</sup> +11<sup>th</sup> +13<sup>th</sup> harmonics.



Fig. 3.6. During starting and steady states for 5<sup>th</sup> harmonics Section-(a): for real machine. Section-(b): for emulator.



Fig. 3.7. During starting for 5<sup>th</sup> +7<sup>th</sup> combination of harmonics, Section-(a): reference and emulator currents, Section-(b): emulator and real machine currents.

A load torque of  $T_L = 2.5 Nm$  is applied with the help of dyno mechanism. The efficacy of the emulator with respect to real machine is verified as shown in Fig. 3.8. The torque transducer displays the average value with its amplifying gain of '10'. The same is represented in the torque waveforms of Fig. 3.8. Both the loading and unloading conditions are checked for both the transient and steady states. The emulated torque shows accurate dynamic waveforms with oscillations unlike the real machine's torque transducer which gives only average values. The torque oscillations obtained for harmonic voltages are clearly seen in Fig. 3.6 and Fig. 3.8. The speed characteristic for the different harmonics is observed to be steady for both emulator and real machine. This due to the high mechanical inertia of the machine. Fig. 3.9 shows the experimental
OGAWA   2021/06/11 10:22:19 ped			Norm:Hi-Res 6.25kS/s	Edge CH4 🗲 0mV Auto 🏹
> 200 Valio_POL (2) 2.00 Valio_POL (2) 10.	0 A,∕div.1" [1] (3) 500m Nain : 125 k			2s/di
CH4: Torque-0.5*10/div				
CH3: Machine current-10A/div	S1	T2	S2	
CH2: Speed-2V/div				
		С	H1: line volta	ge-200V/div

Section-(a) YOKOGAWA ♦ 2021/06/11 10:21:19 Stopped Norm:Hi-Res 6.25kS/s Edge CH4 **\_F** 0mV Auto Ti 0 2.00 V<sub>∧div</sub>⊒113 (3) 10. Zoomi1 = 3.125 k Azdiv III 12 50ms/div Zoom2 : 3.125 k 50ms/div Τ1 Т2 CH4: Torque-0.5\*10/div CH3: Machine current-10A/div CH2: Speed-2V/div CH1: line voltage-200V/div YOKOGAWA + 2021/06/16 03:58:27 Norm:Hi-Res 46.25kS/s Edge CH4 **F** 0.00 V pped D\_10.0 V∠div.⊒M™ Auto ) V/div 111 50ms/div Znois2 : 3, 125 k 50ms/div Τ1 Т2 CH4: Torque-5V/div CH1:ref. value-10V/div CH3: emu.current-10A/div CH2: Speed-2V/div



Section-(c)

Fig. 3.8. Section-(a): Overall loading and unloading profile for  $T_L = 2.5$  Nm Section-(b): loading (T1) and unloading (T2) transient profiles, Section-(c): loading (S1) and unloading (S2) steady state profiles for real machine and emulator.



Fig. 3.9. Experimental setup for IM emulator with 3-phase linear amplifiers (LA1, LA2, LA3) for grid harmonics.



Fig. 3.10. Laboratory setup for validation with real machine interfaced with a dc machine during loaded conditions.

arrangement with a LA emulator, programmable power supply used for the introduction of grid harmonics and the other associated components (as per Fig. 3.1).

The real machine set up to obtain the results for validation is shown in Fig. 3.10. Since the machine is aligned with a dc machine for application of load in Fig. 3.10, the machine inertia (J) and friction constant (B) is found to an increase. Therefore, new values of J and B (refer appendix) are incorporated in the real time machine model during loading transients for dynamic accuracy of the emulator.

# 3.4 Summary

The experimental results with the real machine and emulator validate the accuracy of the novel emulator performance during grid harmonics. The resultant harmonics in dq currents due to grid harmonics are mathematically assessed and validated with simulation. Proper emulator control logic is suggested accordingly for good emulating accuracy. The higher bandwidth linear amplifiers used are effective enough to track the reference currents dynamically during starting and loading transients. Hence it is evident that the grid voltage harmonic emulation for the induction machine has been done with good accuracy. Dynamics of electromagnetic core saturation can also be included in the mathematical model for increased accuracy. This emulation can also be realized at high powers or with further increase in load with power electronic converters, but higher-order harmonics cannot be emulated with good accuracy. This is due to the bandwidth limitations offered by switching frequency of switches.

# Chapter 4 Induction Machine Emulation for Open Circuit and Short Circuit Grid Faults

# 4.1 Introduction

Machine Emulation is the concept of imitating the electrical behavior of the machine by another power device in real time. The power hardware can be a switching amplifier or linear amplifier connected to physical RL-link filters in the real time control loop with the help of real time systems such as RTDS, D-space, Opal-RT etc. This essentially forms a power hardware in the loop (PHIL) system configuration [6] shown in Fig. 4.1. Over time, the challenging global goals demands this type of emulation technique since it is a risk-free alternative for field tests or preliminary testing. This type of virtual realistic simulation is also considered cost effective especially during the testing of various fault transients. Therefore, PHIL emulation is in demand for several applications including aerospace, military, electric vehicles, and grid applications [12], [15], [28], [54].

The present chapter considers induction machine emulation, as the machine is considered as a workhorse in several industries because of its rugged, cost-effective, and less hazardous nature [54]. The induction machines are prone to external fault transients (by supply systems, loads, etc.) along with internal faults.

For the internal faults such as stator inter-turn, rotor inter turn, broken bar faults etc., PHIL emulation techniques can be used for detecting such faults with motor current signature analysis (MCSA) in [32] and [33]. The detection of internal open circuit faults in the stator is discussed in [55].

In case of inverter supply systems, open circuit faults mainly occur due to lifting and crack of bonding wires in the module [56], and [57]. IM emulation for drive inverter faults is discussed in [31] for a single switch failure in one leg.

In consideration of external grid fault transients, typical network events such as open circuit faults and short circuit faults occur in the supply systems. Especially in distribution grids, about 78 to 88% of faults in the power system would arise generally [16]. This would greatly affect the

efficiency and performance of a plant or system employing machines. They impact other interconnected loads as well.

The influence of the induction machine on the grid under various shunt fault transients has been studied in detail in [54]. However, emulating a machine with series fault transients (open circuit faults) has not yet been reported in the literature. Normally open phase grid faults are evolving faults from bolted phase faults. They also occur from joint failures in overhead lines, cables etc., and the melting of fuse in one or more phases. They lead to extensive change of resistance and thus current severely drops.

After an open circuit fault of a few cycles, a reclosing operation leads to intense transients in current and electromagnetic machine torque. Such operations potentially can damage the load and shaft of the motor. In the process industries critical motors whose failure even for short periods can affect the entire plant non-operative for many hours and even days [58]. Therefore, the study of out of phase restarting with corresponding remedial measures is required to improve the ride through capability of the machinery. This capability allows the machine to stay connected to the grid terminals for few seconds even though the fault exists. Machine emulation can aid such studies and can potentially improve the performance of critical motors in many industries/plants.

Hence, considering the literature survey, it is significant to evaluate the response of the system under different open circuit fault transients with the help of emulation techniques.

In this chapter, the authors chose to emulate open circuit faults, auto reclosing transients, and short circuit grid faults with the help of the proposed induction machine PHIL emulator. The emulator is robust for all type of faults discussed. One of the important elements in the real time control loop of PHIL configurations (Fig. 4.1) is an accurate and precise mathematical model. The model is essentially executed in real time system. The mathematical model that is used in [6] is a dynamic linear dq model and in [54] the model is integrated with trapezoidal integration. Reference [36] shows a more accurate mathematical model which includes saturation of machine inductances. However, all the models that are discussed gives current as an output with a voltage input (I-out V-in). These models are suitable for testing transients such as unbalanced short circuit faults, loading transients, converter short circuit faults, voltage sag and swell etc., and especially for short circuit faults with voltage zero input. However, I-out V-in models are not suitable for open circuit fault transients. Because as the current drops to zero, the open circuited stator



Fig. 4.1. Generic configuration of emulator.

terminals should essentially possess the back-emf of the machine. The back-emf is the induced emf in the stator terminals because of the decaying rotating magnetic field produced by the slowing down rotor.

Hence for such open fault transients V-out I-in models enables one to enter zero current to acquire V-out (i.e., back-emf) of the machine. The details are discussed in section 4.2. Fig. 4.1, shows the arrangement of the components of a generic PHIL test bench for executing grid faults. In addition to mathematical model, emulator control is also implemented in the Opal-rt real time system. The other physical components of the emulator are a) three phase linear power amplifiers b) RL link filters, c) Isolation transformer to isolate the grid and the emulator circuit which avoids circulating currents. The use of switching power amplifier promises high power operations but, the three phase linear power amplifiers are chosen in this chapter because of their high open loop bandwidth of 200 kHz, which ensures fast tracking accuracy. A LCL link filter with a transformer-based coupling avoids high frequency switching ripples, traveling, and reflected waves [27]. However, usage of simple RL link filters avoids complexity and provides good accuracy [6], [31], [36].

The focus of this chapter is to develop a robust PHIL test bed, which tests different asymmetrical open circuit, short circuit source faults in addition to different starting and loading transients.



Fig. 4.2. Schematic of network interface modelling.



Fig. 4.3. The *dq* equivalent circuit of IM.

Detailed analysis of auto reclosing strategy is made. Identification of fault signatures is also done to aid fault diagnosis. This essentially requires,

- a) Choosing an accurate mathematical model
- b) Upgrade of mathematical model.
- c) Finally, comparing the dynamics with that of the real machine for single phase, three phase open circuit faults and asymmetrical short circuit faults.
- d) Enhancing the model for auto reclosing operation.
- e) Identification of fault signatures for fault diagnosis.

# 4.2 Mathematical Modeling of Induction Machine

To access the V-out available at the terminals of the machine after an open circuit, the present research proposes to choose network interface modelling as shown in Fig. 4.2. This is basically called as voltage behind reactance (VBR) mathematical formulation [59]. References [60], [61] discuss VBR modeling in Electromagnetic Transient Program (EMTP) providing an interface with an external network comprising resistances and inductances.

The Opal-rt real time system chosen for the PHIL test bed, uses Matlab/Simulink. Hence, this chapter considers the voltage behind reactance formulation for the machine network interface in Matlab/Simulink and makes it adaptable for the emulation test bench configuration. For this, the chapter considers two types of models i.e., model-I and model-II in section 4.2.1 and 4.2.2.

### 4.2.1 Induction machine model-I

In the case of open circuit grid faults, a real induction machine would reproduce a back-emf at the stator terminals. The same phenomenon can be replicated with the induction machine model - I. The modelling of it is a mathematical reformulation of equations derived from Fig. 4.3. Unlike the conventional voltage in current out models [6]-[14], [54] mathematical model-I employs a three-phase power simulation circuit as shown in Fig. 4.4. The values of the active and passive elements  $(eabc, r_{abc}^d and L_{abc}^d)$  in the power circuit are very precise. Open circuit faults can be simulated with enable/disable circuit breakers in the model. The voltage  $(v_{abcs} = e_{abc}^1)$  after open circuit represents the back-emf of the machine. The equations governing the mathematical model-I are (4.1) to (4.13). The model considers a squirrel cage induction machine with rotor terminals short-circuited.

$$v_q^s = r'i_q^s + \omega L'i_d^s + pL'i_q^s + e_q'$$

$$\tag{4.1}$$

$$v_d^s = r'i_d^s - \omega L'i_q^s + pL'i_d^s + e_d'$$

$$\tag{4.2}$$

$$v_{0s} = r_s i_{0s} + L_{ls} p i_{0s} \tag{4.3}$$

where, 
$$L' = L_{ls} + \frac{L_m L_{lr}}{L_m + L_{lr}}$$
 (4.4)



Fig. 4.4. Three phase power simulation circuit of model-I.

$$r' = r_s + \frac{L_m^2 r_r}{(L_m + L_{lr})^2}$$
(4.5)

$$e_{d\backslash q}' = \mp \omega_r \lambda_{q\backslash d}'' + \frac{L_m r_r}{L_{lr} (L_{lr} + L_m)} \left( \lambda_{d\backslash q}'' - \lambda_{dr\backslash qr}' \right)$$
(4.6)

$$\lambda_{d\backslash q}^{\prime\prime} = \frac{L_m \lambda_{dr\backslash qr}^{\prime}}{L_m + L_{lr}} \tag{4.7}$$

The terms  $v_q^s$ ,  $v_d^s$ ,  $\lambda''_{d\setminus q}$ , L', r',  $e'_{d\setminus q}$  are derived from fundamental dq modelling equations  $v_{ds}$ ,  $v_{qs}$ ,  $v_{0s}$ ,  $v'_{dr}$ ,  $v'_{qr}$ ,  $v'_{0r}$ ,  $\lambda_{ds}$ ,  $\lambda_{qs}$ ,  $\lambda_{0s}$ ,  $\lambda'_{dr}$ ,  $\lambda'_{qr}$ ,  $\lambda_{0r}$  of the induction machine from Fig. 4.3 [59]. Applying a dq0-abc transformation for (4.1) - (4.3) and (4.6), results in a three-phase circuit based equation (4.8).

$$v_{abc}^{s} = r_{abc}^{1} i_{abc}^{s} + L_{abc}^{1} p i_{abc}^{s} + e_{abc}^{1}$$
(4.8)

where,

$$r_{abc}^{1} \text{ or } L_{abc}^{1} = \begin{bmatrix} R \text{ or } L & M_{r} \text{ or } M_{l} & M_{r} \text{ or } M_{l} \\ M_{r} \text{ or } M_{l} & R \text{ or } L & M_{r} \text{ or } M_{l} \\ M_{r} \text{ or } M_{l} & M_{r} \text{ or } M_{l} & R \text{ or } L \end{bmatrix}$$

$$(4.9)$$

where 
$$R = r_s - 2M_r$$
; (4.10)

$$M_r = -\frac{1}{3} \frac{L_m^2 r_r}{(L_m + L_{lr})^2} ; \qquad (4.11)$$

$$L = L_{ls} - 2M_l; (4.12)$$

$$M_l = -\frac{1}{3} \frac{L_m L_{lr}}{L_m + L_{lr}}$$
(4.13)

However, equation (4.9) is a non-diagonal matrix, hence it is quite difficult to realise (4.8) into an independent per phase power circuit. Hence, to diagonalize the resistance and inductance matrix, equation (4.14), (4.15) are taken into account considering symmetry and the magnitude of zero sequence current is zero. This is because of isolated neutrals of the machine and grid due to presence of an isolation transformer.

$$\sum i_{abs} = 3i_{0s} = 0 \tag{4.14}$$

Differentiating the equation (4.14),

$$\sum \frac{d}{dt} i_{abs} = \frac{3d}{dt} i_{0s} = 0 \tag{4.15}$$

Therefore, the per phase algebraic manipulations in equation (4.8) is shown in (4.16) - (4.20) which results in (4.21).

From (4.14) and (4.15), 
$$i_a = -i_b - i_c$$
 (4.16)

and 
$$\frac{di_a}{dt} = -\frac{di_b}{dt} - \frac{di_c}{dt}$$
 (4.17)

By substituting (4.16) ad (4.17) in the per phase equation of (4.8) i.e., (4.18) gives (4.19)

$$v_a = Ri_a + M_r i_b + M_r i_c + \frac{Ldi_a}{dt} + \frac{M_l di_b}{dt} + \frac{M_l di_c}{dt} + e_a^1$$
(4.18)

$$v_a = (R - M_r)i_a + (L - M_l)\frac{di_a}{dt} + e_a^1$$
(4.19)

Similarly, equation (4.20) is derived for other phases as well.

$$v_{abc}^{s} = r_{abc}^{d} i_{abc}^{s} + L_{abc}^{d} p i_{abc}^{s} + e_{abc}^{1}$$
(4.20)

$$r_{abc}^{d} \text{ or } L_{abc}^{d} = \begin{bmatrix} R' \text{ or } L' & 0 & 0\\ 0 & R' \text{ or } L' & 0\\ 0 & 0 & R' \text{ or } L' \end{bmatrix}$$
(4.21)

where  $R' = (R - M_r); L' = (L - M_l)$  and  $i_{abc}^s = i_{abcm}$ 

The diagonal matrices  $r_{abc}^d$  and  $L_{abc}^d$  (from (4.21)) essentially forms a network interface model. The equivalent circuit derived from (4.20) is shown in Fig. 4.4.

The network interface model-I (Fig. 4.4) is employed in the "IM model" of generic emulator configuration circuit of Fig. 4.1. This serves as voltage-in current-out model. The grid voltages  $(v_{abcm})$  in Fig. 4.1 are sensed and given to the "IM model" which is a network interface model-I shown in Fig. 4.4 (in dotted line)). The currents  $i_{abcm}$  sensed from model-I (Fig. 4.4) are taken out and given to the "emulator control" in Fig. 4.1. Aiming for robustness, model-I is initially checked for emulating 1) short circuit faults at the grid terminals and later for 2) open circuit faults shown in Fig. 4.1 in the present section.

#### 1. Implementation of short circuit faults

Asymmetrical short circuit faults such as line to line and line neutral and double line to neutral at the emulator terminals in Fig. 4.1, are implemented with model-I. The asymmetric voltages  $(v_{abcm})$  in Fig. 4.1 are fed into the dependent voltage source in Fig. 4.4 and the currents passing through  $r_{bac}^d$ ,  $L_{abc}^d$  are taken as the reference output currents  $(i_{abcm})$  from the model-I (Fig. 4.4).

#### a. Emulator control for model-I

The emulator PI controller regulates the emulator currents  $(i_{emu})$  with respect to the reference currents  $(i_{abcm})$ . The dc input currents to the proportional integral controller are obtained by



Fig. 4.5. Emulator control for model-I.



Fig. 4.6. Bode plot of the closed loop control system.



Fig. 4.7. Simulation results for emulator employing machine model-I for startup, series impedance fault, LL fault and their fault recovering states and final application of 3- phase open circuit fault (a) emulator and reference currents (b) emulator and reference voltages (c) Control signal of PI controller. The results are zoomed for 1. Line to line fault (zoomed for 0.2s) 2. Three phase open circuit fault (zoomed for 0.25s).

 $abc_{\overline{dq}}$  transformation. For a decoupled *d*-axis and *q*-axis current control, feed-forward terms (4.18), (4.19) are added to  $v_d^c$  and  $v_q^c$  voltages (Fig. 4.5). The resultant dq voltages (4.18) are transformed into abc modulating voltages  $(m_a)$ .

$$v_d = v_d^c + \frac{\omega L_s i_q}{G} \tag{4.22}$$

$$v_q = v_q^c + \frac{\omega L_s i_d}{G} + \frac{V_{qs}}{G}$$
(4.23)



Fig. 4.8. Fault detection algorithm.

The PI controller gains are tuned considering the three main hardware components in the control loop. They are amplifier, RL-link filter, and the current sensor. The cascaded first order transfer functions of the amplifier, RL-link filter and the current sensor in time constant form are taken into account. The dominant pole of the system out of the three transfer functions is formed by the RL link filter. This is because of its comparative high time constant (0.03 s). The time constants of the linear amplifier are in the range of microseconds. Adding a PI transfer function to the system will nullify the effect of this dominant pole by the zero of the PI. The proportional and integral gains of the PI controller are tuned for a bandwidth of 1350 Hz and corresponding gain and phase margins of 18.5 dB and  $64^0$  respectively as per Fig. 4.6.

However, the asymmetrical short circuit faults produce second harmonic oscillations in the dc currents  $i_d$  and  $i_q$  [54]. In this case, the simple PI controller with the designed bandwidth is not enough for emulator control. Therefore, a proportional resonant controller corresponding to the second harmonic frequency ( $\omega_h$ ) is added to the PI for better tracking accuracy (4.24).

$$T(s)_{controller} = K_p + \frac{K_I}{S} + \frac{K_{PR}s\omega_h}{s^2 + s\omega_h + \omega_h^2}$$
(4.24)

Fig. 4.7 shows the simulation result analysis with model-I for start-up, series impedance fault and LL fault and later from shunt to series and series to post fault conditions. The emulator current and voltage possesses good tracking accuracy with respect to reference values.

### 1. Implementation of open circuit faults

During the emulation of induction machine for open circuit grid faults, the open circuit fault status (current zero status) in the emulation circuit (Fig. 4.1) is detected by the fault detection algorithm in Fig. 4.8 and sent to the machine model-I (Fig. 4.4). This opens the breakers in the respective phase/phases of the simulation circuit of model-I shown in Fig. 4.4. The voltage at the open terminals in the machine model-I ( $v_{abc}^s$  in Fig. 4.4) essentially called as back-emf. However, this back-emf cannot be replicated at the terminals of the RL- link filter in Fig. 4.1. This is because, by default the reference currents from model-I and the actual emulator currents are equal (to zero) during open circuit without interference of any controller action. Therefore, the control function of the PI controllers abruptly stops at the fault instant. The magnitude of the control signal settles at the previous steady state value shown in Fig. 4.7 (c). Consequently, modulating signal ( $m_a$ ) controlling the power amplifier voltage is not proportional to the back-emf of the machine. This difference can be clearly seen in Fig. 4.7 (b). This implies the status of back-emf ( $e_{abc}^1$ ) is attained only from machine model-I as reference voltage but not from the emulator.

One way to solve the problem is to replace the emulator current control with emulator voltage control. This requires the change of series RL link filter to LC link filter [14] to access the actual common mode voltage of the emulator. This increases further complexity of the emulator circuit. In addition, there are also some disadvantages associated. They are 1) complexity in emulator control, and 2) fault detection.

The implementation of emulator voltage control results in complexity in obtaining stability. Knowledge of the complex physical emulator system parameters and their individual delay times is required. The detection of faults can be done with zero rms current status. The rms current evaluation of the alternating current would need at least a fraction of a cycle (in milli seconds). Hence, a better approach to reduce the time delay is presented in Fig. 4.8, which compares the absolute value of the current for the present and previous samples of delay 'd' with zero. The usage of the logic gates greatly reduces the time delay from milli seconds (fraction of cycle) to microseconds (few samples), but still the emulator accuracy suffers because of  $(z^{-d})$ . The current and back-emf waveforms of the emulator for open circuit faults with the proposed fault detection approach are shown in Fig. 4.7 (a) and (b).



Fig. 4.9. The emulator configuration employing model-II.

The simulation result analysis shows that the emulator with model-I is robust in tracking the reference signal (current) for start-up and shunt fault conditions. The emulator voltage also replicates machine stator voltage given by model-I. The emulator inaccuracy is found only during the open circuit fault at 3.4 s. The reference current of model-I goes to zero after few delay samples of the actual emulator current (encircled in Fig. 4.7). The actual emulator voltage is no more tracking the decaying reference voltage (back-emf) of the model-I. The PI control signal is the same as before the open circuit fault followed by a transient. It indicates that control action is done to adjust the amplifier voltage as per previous steady state. Therefore, the emulator voltage is the same as before the open fault which is not the intended response.

Hence, it is concluded that emulation accuracy obtained with model-I for different grid faults is partial. The conventional emulator configuration with model-I bestows better performance and is robust for the different symmetrical and asymmetrical conditions in the grid, except for open circuit faults.

To emulate open circuit faults, another way of solving the problem is to alter the emulator configuration. Model-I in Fig. 4.4 can be practically executed as it is with physical elements. It can be briefly explained as: the terminals  $v_{abc}^{s}$  in Fig. 4.4, can be connected to the physical grid and the dependent voltage source generating  $e_{abc}^{1}$  can be replaced with a three-phase linear power

amplifier. The remaining system in the shaded region can be processed in real time. The  $r_{abc}^d$  and  $L_{abc}^d$  can act as RL-link filters. However, such physical emulator configuration faces challenges such as difficulty in obtaining the physical link filters with such precision. Even if the precision is obtained, the designed emulator setup is only valid for one specific machine with such  $r_{abc}^d$  and  $L_{abc}^d$ . This emulator setup is not adaptable for other induction machines with different  $r_{abc}^d$  and  $L_{abc}^d$ . Therefore, the present research proposes a robust emulator configuration with mathematical model –II, which avoids all the disadvantages mentioned for mathematical model-I.

### 4.2.2 Proposed induction machine model-II

Induction machine model- II is proposed to overcome the above difficulties for open circuit fault emulation and makes the emulator robust for any squirrel cage induction machine. Unlike model-I, it is a current-in voltage-out model as illustrated in Fig. 4.9. This modelling is done by considering the KVL equations of the machine model-I of Fig. 4.4, and that of the physical emulator with RL link filter in Fig. 4.1 as represented in (4.25), (4.26) respectively.

$$v_{abcm} = v_{abc}^{s} = r_{abc}^{d} i_{abc}^{s} + L_{abc}^{d} p i_{abc}^{s} + e_{abc}^{1}$$
(4.25)

$$v_{abcm} = v_{abcg} = R_{abc} i^s_{abc} + L_{abc} p i^s_{abc} + E_{abc}$$
(4.26)

where  $R_{abc}$  and  $L_{abc}$  are three phase RL link filter parameters and  $E_{abc}$  is the linear amplifier terminal voltage.

The main function of the physical emulator in Fig. 4.1 is to carry the same amount of stator current (i.e.,  $i_{abc}{}_{emu} = i_{abcm} = i_{ac}^{s}$ ), as drawn by network interface model-I, for the same input grid voltage ( $v_{abcm}$ ) (4.17). Therefore, equating (4.21) and (4.22) gives the linear amplifier voltage representing back-emf ( $E_{abc}$ ) (4.27). This emf represents the available voltage behind the reactance of the stator terminals during an open circuit as shown in Fig. 4.9.

$$E_{abc} = \left( r_{abc}^d - R_{abc} \right) i_{abc}^s + \left( L_{abc}^d - L_{abc} \right) p i_{abc}^s + e_{abc}^1$$
(4.27)

The voltage out signal of the proposed model ( $E_{abc}$ ) directly feeds the power amplifier as shown in Fig. 4.9. Unlike in Fig. 4.1, it bypasses the need of emulator control and thus its complexity. In this model, the sensed current in the physical emulator circuit is directly given to model-II. It



Fig. 4.10. Starting and steady state conditions of the (a) proposed machine emulator and (b) real 5 hp machine.

neither needs rms evaluation nor the logic gates with sample delays. The input current in Fig. 4.9 is then multiplied with gains 'A', 'B' and 'C' which are mathematically modelled in contrast to the network interface modelling in Fig. 4.4. The emulation tracking accuracy is also not compromised. A good tracking accuracy of emulator voltage with respect to the reference voltage is obtained as shown in the result analysis section.

# 4.3 Result Analysis

The emulator test bench is developed as per the emulator configuration with the proposed model in Fig. 4.9. The high-performance linear amplifiers (LAs) of 100 kHz open-loop bandwidth are used for the chosen emulator configuration. The LAs possess maximum current and voltage ratings of 20 A and 208 V. This section presents the experimental results for open circuit grid faults, namely single phase and three phase open circuit faults. A brief overview of auto reclosing and fault diagnosis strategies for open circuit faults are discussed. The present research also validates starting and loading conditions. Finally, the proposed emulator robustness is proven not only for open circuit grid faults but also for short circuit faults.



Fig. 4.11. Validation of emulation accuracy for single-phase open circuit fault with (a) real machine (b) proposed emulator.

The validating results for the 5 hp machine emulator not only prove the tracking accuracy with respect to the stator reference voltage (4.20) but also with respect to the real machine's voltage. The tracking ability is obtained by upgrading the mathematical model to current in voltage out type as discussed in section 4.2.2.

### 4.3.1 Starting transients

Fig. 4.10 illustrates, the startup transients and steady state conditions of the motor for an input line voltage of 90.5 V. Since the proposed model-II is a current in voltage out, Fig. 4.10 depicts that, when the current starts flowing in the emulator, the model-II reference stator voltage (4.20) starts to appear. It is observed that the induction machine emulator reference and grid voltages overlap at the instant of current input during starting conditions. The magnitude of the voltages matches the real machine as well in both transient and steady state conditions for the same input current profile. Thus, the proposed induction machine emulator has good voltage tracking accuracy during starting and steady states. During the experiment, proper care is taken to ensure that the physical emulator current is same as the model-II input current (ref. current).

### 4.3.2 Open circuit grid faults

For implementing open circuit grid faults, diac based solid state relays of voltage range 24 V-280 V are used. The experimental results obtained with the proposed induction machine emulator for different open circuit fault transients are validated with a physical machine. A fault diagnosis analysis is made with respect to positive and negative sequence components, the dq- current circles and the appearance of harmonics during faults with the help of simulation results in Matlab/Simulink.

A single-phase open circuit fault on Phase A of a real machine is shown in Fig. 4.11(a). The zero current results in the reduction of stator voltage in the respective phase. The increase in the voltage across the terminals of the opening switch is also observed. The machine emulator in Fig. 4.11(b) repeats the same trends in magnitudes of voltages and currents with respect to real machine. The fault is resumed and the transient states of back-emf and currents are validated with real machine results.

Fault application and recovering conditions for three phase open circuit faults are shown in Fig. 4.12. The waveforms of the stator phase current, voltage across the terminals of the solid-state relay and stator phase voltage are recorded for the real machine (Fig. 4.12(a)) and the emulator (Fig. 4.12(b)). The fault application is magnified in zoom-1 and its recovering is magnified in zoom-2. Both set of waveforms have good match proving the robustness of the emulator for such severe faults. Harmonics are observed in the stator voltage of the real machine during recovering state. This could be due to rotational nonlinearities, which are not considered in the machine model.

#### *1. Auto reclosing on load*

A load of 1.8 *Nm* is applied before application of an open circuit fault. A run-down test is performed on the emulator and the droop in stator voltage magnitude with respect to time/phase angle is observed in terms of spirals in Fig. 4.13. The spirals are essentially the polar plots. A three-phase open circuit fault is applied to the real machine. The fall in stator voltage of the real machine is recorded by polar plot in Fig. 4.14. It is observed that the polar plots of the emulator and the real machine follow the same trend. Therefore, the analysis of auto reclosing transients can be explained with the help of one of these spirals. During an open circuit fault in Fig. 4.15, when speed reduces to 1500 rpm from 1770 rpm, the breaker resumes its normal state. The stator terminal

voltage in Fig. 4.15 is considered for the polar plot in Fig. 4.14. and an analysis of the reclosing transient current is validated with the waveforms in Fig. 4.15. The stator voltage while applying the fault is  $47.13V \angle 240.5^{\circ}$ . When speed of the machine falls to 1500rpm, the stator voltage reaches  $6.756V \angle 210^{\circ}$  after 21.5 cycles. The grid voltage during recovering state is observed to be approximately  $47.15V \angle 307.1^{\circ}$ . The instants of fault and recovering can be exactly plotted in Fig. 4.14 with good accuracy. Therefore, the transient current spike magnitude can be assessed with the knowledge of machine impedance  $Z_m$  (4.28), (4.29).

$$I_{reclosing} = \frac{(V_{stator} \angle \theta_s - V_{grid} \angle \theta_g)}{|Z_m| \angle \theta}$$
(4.28)

$$Z_m = r^d_{abc} + j\omega L^d_{abc} \tag{4.29}$$

The reclosing current is calculated to be  $-17.96 \text{ A} \angle 4.63^{\circ}$  with a peak current of -25.405 A. Since the zero-crossing enabled for switches allow the current to flow at the next zero crossing, the positive peak current would be lower than |25.405| A. The same is observed in Fig. 4.14 with a positive peak current. Therefore, this graphical and mathematical analysis can be done in the emulator in prior to installation of machine.

The transient spike of the torque is considered for auto reclosing strategies as well. In Fig. 4.16, the average torque given by the real machine's torque transducer, filters the transient oscillations of the torque. Moreover, the bandwidth of the average torque transducer limits the sharp rise and fall in the torque during the fault and its recovery. However, the emulated torque maintains almost the same average value but clearly shows the transient spike in torque during reclosing operation. The transient torque oscillations are almost double that average torque. Therefore, considering the ransient states of current and torque gives sufficient knowledge to the operator for automated safe re-closures.

#### 2. Short circuit grid faults:

The proposed emulator not only emulates open circuit faults of the grid but also with short circuit faults. A line-to-line shunt fault is chosen for a fault impedance of 5  $\Omega$ . A series fault impedance of 10  $\Omega$  is applied before application of the shunt fault. It is evident from Fig. 4.17, that the emulator able to replicate the results for both series and shunt impedance faults. The emulated



Fig. 4.12. Validation of emulation accuracy for three-phase open circuit fault with (a) real machine (b) proposed emulator.

voltage is very similar to the reference input voltage for short circuit faults, which proves the robustness of the proposed emulator for grid faults.

#### 3. Fault diagnosis:

The purpose of developing an emulator test bed not only serves the purpose of testing grids or connected loads but also can be used in fault diagnosis. This is possible by identifying fault signatures of the machine emulator for several test applications of faults. The fault signatures that are identified from the results are  $i_d - i_q$  current circles and negative sequence components. Theasymmetry in the current due to impedance faults result in elliptical  $i_d - i_q$  plots [55]. The



Fig. 4.13. Fall in stator voltage of the proposed emulator during run down test



Fig. 4.14. Fall and rise in stator terminal voltage during fault and auto reclosing of the real machine.

same phenomenon is observed for the discussed short circuit and open circuit faults as shown in Fig. 4.18 (a). Initially the machine is under balanced steady state condition for a voltage of 52.5 V. Therefore, the dc content of synchronously rotating  $i_d$  and  $i_q$  currents is shown with a single



Fig. 4.15. Fault and auto reclosing profiles of the real machine



Fig. 4.16. Torque profile during fault and recovering state for (a) machine (b) emulator.

"dot" (red) (Fig. 4.18 (a).). Later a series impedance asymmetrical fault results in an ellipse (orange) encircling the "dot" under "no fault-steady state" as its center. A single-phase open circuit grid fault (series fault) also results in an ellipse with its major axis parallel to the x-axis with the same center. The application of an asymmetrical line-to-line fault (shunt fault) also leads to an ellipse but with its center, shifted. Reference [54] discusses, that asymmetry leads to a rise in



Fig. 4.17. Validation results for testing series impedance fault to LL fault and during LL fault (a) for real machine (b) with the proposed emulator.



Fig. 4.18. post-processed (a)  $i_d$ ,  $i_q$  plots for grid faults (b) sequence components of emulator current and voltage for 1- $\emptyset$  open circuit grid faults.



Fig. 4.19. Experimental setup for (a) proposed emulator (b) real machine.

negative sequence components in current. The same signature is observed for the emulator voltage also for single-phase open circuit fault in Fig. 4.18 (b). Hence, identification of the fault signatures with the same trends for a physical machine in a complex plant (in Fig. 4.18) leads to easy, fast and less expensive fault diagnosis. Fig. 4.19 shows the experimental set-up for emulator and real machine.

# 4.4 Summary

The proposed emulator test bench is shown to be robust for all series and shunt asymmetrical grid faults. This type of testing has no net power loss, since the power drawn from the grid will be sent back to the grid. The complexity of the emulator configuration has been reduced by eliminating the emulator controller. The emulator test results for single phase and three phase open circuit faults and asymmetrical short circuit fault, series impedance fault and finally for starting and loading conditions, possess high tracking accuracy with respect to the real 5 hp machine. The developed test bench helps in testing and developing better algorithms for auto reclosing operations. The operators in a plant can easily diagnose the type of the fault during a machine mal functioning with fault signatures from the emulator. The proposed emulator can be used to develop fault remedial strategies for different types and combinations of faults. Machine ride through capabilities can be assessed. Since the LAs in the machine emulator limits the maximum current to 20 A, the fault severity can be increased by increasing the power amplifiers bandwidth and power.

# Chapter 5 Induction Machine Emulation for Variable Frequency Drive Converter Faults

# 5.1 Introduction

In the area of electric drives and traction, the probability of failure is higher for drive converters. The failure occurs mostly on account of excessive voltages and currents. Heating is also a major reason due to high frequency operation, and high ambient temperatures [62]. If the converters are designed for high power, the failure of the components in the converter module poses a serious problem. Various converter faults include, rectifier diode short circuit fault, dc bus fault (i.e., capacitor short circuit fault or an earth fault on dc bus), short circuited transistor switch fault and open circuited transistor switch fault, line to line or line to ground faults at the machine terminals [63].

In order to handle the faults, the converters are employed with various protection strategies [64], [65], fault detection algorithms [66], fault diagnosis approaches [62], [67] and fault tolerant control strategies [68] for safe and continued operation. Before commissioning the drive inverter for electric vehicles, the discussed strategies or control algorithms, need to be tested with a prototype. Testing the control algorithms for drive converter faults at higher power, risks the life of the machine. This type of testing demands more time, effort and resources.

Therefore, to overcome the testing disadvantages, the present research work focuses on emulating a real machine for testing drive converter faults in real time. It omits the need of a physical machine unlike in [62], [64]- [68]. Electric machine emulation is the process of imitating the dynamic behavior of electric quantities. It is done by another electric power device. In [69] the induction machine (IM) emulation is done by a three-phase transformer. However, the motor and the transformer parameters must match which is practically not feasible for drive testing. Another method of emulation of naval propulsion unit is done with a low power machine [70] which incurs power loss. Therefore, a power electronic amplifier controlled by emulator control mechanism in real time serves as emulator. This emulation method requires no net power loss as the power drawn from the grid is given back to the grid. A power hardware in loop technology is used for this machine emulation [6], [10], [31], [39], [54], [71]. It requires power electronic devices and RL link

filters as the power hardware or emulating hardware in the real time emulator control loop. This type of virtual realistic simulation uses real-time systems such as RTDS, D-space, Opal-RT etc. The emulator controller employed in the real-time system requires the reference quantities from the machine mathematical model. The accuracy of the model plays an important role in the emulator accuracy. The PHIL configuration layout is shown in detail in section 5.3 of the chapter.

This chapter considers testing a two-level voltage fed drive converter supplying an induction machine emulator for testing different converter faults. The converter faults that are considered in this chapter, are chosen based on the literature survey. A simulation analysis is made in [72] for short circuit faults on a diode of a diode bridge rectifier and short circuit faults on a transistor of a three-phase multi-level converter. The former test on the diode blows the input power supply fuses due to high currents and shuts off power to the rectifier. The later test on the transistor turns into a symmetrical short circuit fault. However, to experimentally implement the short circuit faults on the converter module or on the dc bus, involves high risk. The line-to-line and line-to-ground faults at the supply terminals resemble asymmetric grid faults, which are emulated in [39], [54] with a VICO model. An open circuit transistor switch fault on a converter leg clamps the positive or negative peak of the current of that particular phase current which is simulated in [10] and emulated in [39] with a VICO machine model. An open circuit switch fault generally results from the mal operation of the gate driver (transistor base drive). However, multiple open switch faults of all legs or one leg means an open circuit of all phases or a single-phase respectively. This fault is tested with an emulated PMSM drive in [31]. A PMSM produces back-emf because of the presence of the permanent magnetic field and motion of the rotor. This concept is emulated in [71] with a VICO model which also has the information of the back-emf. A fault detection algorithm used in [71] switches the current out signal to back- emf out signal to the emulator controller to emulate voltage. A similar concept for back-emf during open switch faults is also applicable for induction machines, because of its residual magnetism. The IM back-emf information mainly depends on the rotor, stator currents and rotor speed. However, this is not the case with a PMSM as its back-emf is only dependent on the rotor's constant flux and speed. Hence, to emulate open circuit faults for an induction machine, the status of currents and speed is essential.

From the literature survey, the emulation of an induction machine for open circuit switch faults has not yet been reported. Hence, the present research work considers emulation of an induction machine for open circuit transistor switch faults in the converter. An open loop v/f control is chosen

to emulate this condition. Reference [27] discusses induction machine emulation with high-fidelity RTDS linear model. [31], [10], [73] and [74] discusses IM emulation with an Opal-Rt real time simulator with linear machine model. [74] uses a nonlinear VICO mathematical model for emulating a self-excited induction generator. However, a VICO model (conventional model) [10], [27], [31], [71], [73], [74] is no longer feasible for this emulation because of a lack of information of back-emf. The concept of the CIVO model in machine emulation is used to extract the rotational back-emf of the machine. The Voltage Behind Reactance (VBR) models discussed in [59], [60], [61], [76] are of CIVO type with external network interfacing using ATP, and EMTP programs. Reference [60] discusses the inclusion of magnetic nonlinearities in the VBR model and proposed a backward differential formula approach to avoid algebraic loop errors. [76] discusses a nonlinear five-phase induction machine VBR model and proposed to incorporate high core loss resistance in the model to rule out algebraic loop errors. The present chapter discusses a nonlinear VBR model (CIVO type), variation of reactances during an open circuit fault and change of emulator configuration in contrast with the classical emulator configuration [6], [10], [31], [39], [54], [71]. The nonlinearities of the machine are found from [10] and incorporated into the CIVO model. The algebraic loop errors that occur during the process of emulation of the model are overcome by employing a low pass filter with sufficient bandwidth at the input of the model. Fault signatures are identified for a single switch and multiple switch gate driver faults with the help of emulation techniques. This aids in the fault diagnosis, localization, and fault isolation procedures in a complex drive with the help of artificially intelligent algorithms discussed in [55], [77], [78].

The main contributions of the present research include: (1) developing a high-performance PHIL test bed for converter open circuit switch faults, (2) proposing a novel emulator configuration adaptable to CIVO models, (3) identification of dynamic variation of nonlinear machine reactances during an all-switch open circuit fault, (4) checking the emulator robustness against a real 5 hp machine for different single switch faults, multiple switch faults, starting and speed changing conditions (6) Identifying the fault signatures for the faults. The overall structure of the chapter is organized as follows: Section 5.2.1, describes the difficulty associated with the VICO model for open circuit fault emulation and section 5.2.2 discusses the CIVO model suitability, section 5.2.3 discusses the upgrade of the model with inductance nonlinearities and their effect



Fig. 5.1. The dq equivalent circuit of IM.

during an open circuit. Section 5.3 discusses the reorganized emulator structure and its considerations. Section 5.4 discusses experimental results with the emulator validated with the real induction machine and fault signatures. Finally, the chapter ends with the conclusion and future scope.

# 5.2 Modeling constraints for drive converter switch faults

## 5.2.1 Voltage-in Current-out model

A dq equivalent circuit for the VICO model is shown in Fig. 5.1 and is considered for implementation of drive converter faults. The power source for the model is a drive converter as shown in Fig. 5.2 (a). The faults that are considered in the drive converter are an open circuit-single switch and multiple switch faults (Fig. 5.2 (b)).

A single switch fault on the top side of a leg clamps the positive half-current and similarly, a single bottom switch fault clamps the negative half current under steady state as shown in Fig. 5.3. However, a complete gate driver unit failure resembles an all-switch open circuit fault at the input



Fig. 5.2. V/f input drive for induction machine emulation (a) drive converter configuration (b) converter faults.

terminals. A sudden open circuit at the three phase line terminals leads the machine's speed to decay and the slip gradually reaches to unity. Therefore, the rotational back-emf associated with the slip of the machine, is decaying. This back-emf equals the stator terminal voltage. This leads the stator current going to zero instantaneously. However, this phenomenon is not exactly replicated for a VICO (signal-based) model (of Fig. 5.1) for a complete gate driver unit fault. As shown in Fig. 5.4, the model stator current is not abruptly zero at the instant of fault. Instead, there is a sudden spike in current with an abrupt zero input voltage. This is because, at the instant of all-switch fault, the input phase voltage signal measured becomes zero (which is not the reality). Therefore, the zero-input voltage signal to the model is interpreted as a short circuit across the stator terminals. The PLL for the zero-input voltage gives the synchronous speed ( $\omega$ ) zero. As per Fig. 5.1, the dependent voltage sources in the circuit are no more dependent on ' $\omega$ '. A sample *d*-equivalent circuit for the total gate drive fault is shown in Fig. 5.5 (drawn from Fig. 5.1). Therefore, it can be inferred from Fig. 5.5, that an instant of all-switch fault results in a current spike in the stator circuit (i.e., for  $i_{ds}$  and  $i_{qs}$ ). This result contrasts with the zero current reality.

Hence, this chapter considers the voltage behind reactance formulation for the machine network interface in Matlab/Simulink. The misinterpretation of zero voltage for an all-switch fault is corrected with the improved mathematical formulation, which results in a CIVO model. The



Fig. 5.3. Line voltage and stator current waveforms for a single switch fault in one leg for a VICO model (a) Top switch fault (b) Bottom switch fault.



Fig. 5.4. VICO model stator current and input line voltage for starting and all-switch fault conditions.



Fig. 5.5. Sample *d*-equivalent circuit for zero voltage signal under full gate-drive unit fault.

suggested model is also made adaptable for emulation test bench configuration, which is discussed in detail in section 5.2.2.

### 5.2.2 Current-in Voltage-out model

The chapter discusses a voltage behind reactance (VBR) mathematical formulation [59] to access the voltage available at the machine terminals. VBR modeling in Electromagnetic Transient Program (EMTP) is discussed in [21], [24]. VBR modeling provides an interface with an external power network consisting of passive elements such as resistances and inductances as shown in Fig. 5.6.

The values of the active and passive elements  $(e^{1}abc, r_{abc}^{d} and L_{abc}^{d})$  in the power circuit are very precise. The voltage after open circuit represents the back-emf of the machine  $(v_{abc}^{s} = e_{abc}^{1})$ . The equations governing the mathematical model are (5.1) to (5.13) for per phase values of resistances ' $r_{s}$ ' and ' $r_{r}$ ', leakage inductances ' $L_{ls}$  and ' $L_{lr}$ , mutual inductance ' $L_{m}$ . The superscripts and subscripts with 's' denotes stator and with 'r' denotes rotor. The modelling considers a squirrel cage induction machine with rotor terminals short-circuited. The reformulated dq modeling equations of induction machine [23] are derived from Fig. 5.1 and are given in (5.1) to (5.7). The voltages are denoted by 'v', emf is denoted by 'e' and currents are denoted by 'i'.

$$v_q^s = r^1 i_q^s + \omega L^1 i_d^s + p L^1 i_q^s + e_q^1$$
(5.1)

$$v_d^s = r^1 i_d^s - \omega L^1 i_q^s + p L^1 i_d^s + e_d^1$$
(5.2)

$$v_0^s = r_s i_{0s} + L_{ls} p i_{0s} \tag{5.3}$$

where, 
$$L^1 = L_{ls} + \frac{L_m L_{lr}}{L_m + L_{lr}}$$
 (5.4)

$$r^{1} = r_{s} + \frac{L_{m}^{2} r_{r}}{(L_{m} + L_{lr})^{2}}$$
(5.5)

$$e_{d\backslash q}^{1} = \mp \omega_{r} \lambda_{q\backslash d}^{1} + \frac{L_{m}^{1} r_{r}}{L_{lr}^{2}} \left( \lambda_{d\backslash q}^{1} - \lambda_{d\backslash qr} \right)$$
(5.6)



Fig. 5.6. Network interface modelling of induction machine.

$$\lambda_{d\backslash q}^{1} = \frac{L_{m}\lambda_{d\backslash qr}}{L_{m} + L_{lr}}$$
(5.7)

where,  $\lambda_{d \setminus qr}$  can be obtained from Fig. 5.1.

A per phase circuit-based equation (5.8) is obtained by applying the dq0-abc transformation for (5.1) to (5.3) and (5.6).

$$v_{abc}^{s} = r_{abc}^{1} i_{abc}^{s} + L_{abc}^{1} p i_{abc}^{s} + e_{abc}^{1}$$
(5.8)

where,

$$r_{abc}^{1} \text{ or } L_{abc}^{1} = \begin{bmatrix} R \text{ or } L & M_{r} \text{ or } M_{l} & M_{r} \text{ or } M_{l} \\ M_{r} \text{ or } M_{l} & R \text{ or } L & M_{r} \text{ or } M_{l} \\ M_{r} \text{ or } M_{l} & M_{r} \text{ or } M_{l} & R \text{ or } L \end{bmatrix}$$

$$(5.9)$$

where 
$$R = r_s - 2M_r$$
; (5.10)

$$M_r = -\frac{1}{3} \frac{L_m^2 r_r}{(L_m + L_{lr})^2} ; \qquad (5.11)$$

$$L = L_{ls} - 2M_l; (5.12)$$

$$M_l = -\frac{1}{3} \frac{L_m L_{lr}}{L_m + L_{lr}}$$
(5.13)

Equation (5.8) is difficult to realize into a circuit, because of the cross-coupling terms  $M_r, M_l$ . Hence, considering symmetry,

$$\sum i_{abs} = 3i_{0s} \tag{5.14}$$

Differentiating equation (5.14),

$$\sum \frac{d}{dt} i_{abs} = \frac{3d}{dt} i_{0s} \tag{5.15}$$

By substituting equations (5.14) and (5.15) in equation (5.8) results in (5.16) with diagonalized resistance and inductance matrices  $r_{abc}^d$  and  $L_{abc}^d$  with  $R = r_s - 3M_r$  and  $L = L_{ls} - 3M_l$  respectively. It essentially eliminates the coupling terms  $M_r$  and  $M_l$  unlike in (5.9) and forms a network interface modelling as shown in Fig. 5.6.

$$v_{abc}^{s} = r_{abc}^{d} i_{abc}^{s} + L_{abc}^{d} p i_{abc}^{s} + e_{abc}^{1} + 3M_{r} i_{0s}^{s} + 3M_{l} \frac{d}{dt} i_{0s}^{s}$$
(5.16)

### 5.2.3 Consideration of saturation nonlinearities

The real induction machine is subjected to a no-load test by varying the input voltage till 125% of the rated voltage and the magnetization characteristics are obtained. The variation of magnetising reactance (imaginary part of the impedance) for different sets of voltages and currents are recorded. The magnetising reactance ( $X_m$ ) obtained is high at low current operations and low for higher currents (5.17). A blocked rotor test is conducted as per [10] to determine the nonlinearities in the machine leakage reactances. The induction machine stator and rotor leakage reactances are given in (5.18) and (5.19).

$$X_m = -108.9 * e^{-2.3 * i_m} + 113.9 * e^{-0.1097 * i_m}$$
(5.17)

$$X_{ls} \approx 1.919 \tag{5.18}$$


Fig. 5.7. Variation of (a) line voltage, (b) magnetizing inductance, and (c) rotor leakage reactance of IM at the instant of "complete gate driver ("all-switch") fault.

$$X_{lr} = 0.54 * e^{-0.008363 * i_r} + 2.885 * e^{-0.004108 * i_r}$$
(5.19)

The calculation of corresponding inductances at a specific control frequency is given by (5.20).

$$L_{m \setminus ls \setminus lr} = \frac{X_{m \setminus ls \setminus lr}}{2 * pi * f}$$
(5.20)

Therefore, the values R or L in  $r_{abc}^d$  and  $L_{abc}^d$  of (5.16) are no more constant but dynamic. This is because the values of  $L_m$  and  $L_{lr}$  in  $M_r$  (5.10) are current dependent. Hence, employing these variable resistances and inductances in the equation (5.16) results in a non-linear CIVO model.

The simulated nonlinear model is tested for "all-switch faults" of the input drive converter at 60 Hz for a dc bus voltage of 150 volts. After the instant of fault, the nature of the output line voltage given by the model changes from switched to sinusoidal which is observed in Fig. 5.7 (a). The nonlinear variation of machine's inductances towards zero value of currents is also clearly observed in Fig. 5.7(b) and (c). The magnetising inductance  $X_m$  settles at a nonzero value indicating remanence of the stator core. The  $X_{lr}$  slightly rises with gradual fall in rotor current. This is because the unsaturated areas of the T shaped iron laminations at the circumference of the rotor results in high leakage flux. Stator leakage reactance  $X_{ls}$  is almost constant. This is due to uniform and symmetrical air gap between stator and rotor teeth.

## 5.3 Emulation difficulties and Considerations

To emulate the induction machine's dynamic behaviour for drive converter faults, a conventional emulator configuration in Fig. 5.8 (a) [6], [10], [31], [39], [54], [71] is taken as a reference. The discussed CIVO model in Fig. 5.6 can replace the VICO model in the real time system (RTS). The voltage controlled linear power amplifiers in the Fig. 5.8 (a) can be directly controlled by the proposed model's output voltage ( $v_{abc}^{s}$ ), (of Fig. 5.6) eliminating the emulator current controller. However, this scheme of emulation suffers from the following difficulties:

- The network arrangement of Fig. 5.6 replicates the external network of the emulator in Fig. 5.8 (a). Therefore, the "simulated power input" to the model in Fig. 5.6 should exactly replicate the voltage characteristics of the test drive of the emulator (in Fig. 5.8(a)). Hence, for the discussed switch fault applications, the instant of the switch fault at the emulator input must be first identified by some 'fault detection scheme' and later imitated by the "simulated power input" of network interface model in Fig. 5.6. This complicates the emulation procedure and emulation accuracy is affected by the delay in fault detection.
- 2. The values of resistances  $(r_{abc}^d)$  and inductances  $(L_{abc}^d)$  in the model (Fig. 5.6) must also replicate the resistances and inductances of the emulator link filter (*R* and *L*). For the machine model employing nonlinearities, this is not possible, as the model resistances and inductances  $(r_{abc}^d)$ ,  $(L_{abc}^d)$  becomes dynamic (i.e., variable).

Therefore, to eliminate the difficulties, the machine model is upgraded with respect to the emulator hardware configuration. This is done by considering the KVL equation of the emulator network in Fig. 5.8 (a) given by (5.21). Also, the KVL equation of the network interface model in Fig. 5.6 is given by (5.22).

$$V_{abcg} = R_{abc} i^s_{abc} + L_{abc} p i^s_{abc} + E_{abc}$$
(5.21)

$$v_{abc}^s = r_{abc}^d i_{abc}^s + L_{abc}^d p i_{abc}^s + e_{abc}^1$$

$$(5.22)$$

Since, the internal network of the machine model must replicate the external network, the input voltages and currents drawn for both the networks must be same. Therefore, considering (5.23), the equation for the voltage out signal representing back-emf is given by (5.24).



Fig. 5.8. (a) Conventional emulator configuration and (b) Proposed emulator configuration.

$$V_{abcg} = v_{abc}^s \tag{5.23}$$

$$E_{abc} = \left( r^{d}_{abc} - R_{abc} \right) i^{s}_{abc} + \left( L^{d}_{abc} - L_{abc} \right) p i^{s}_{abc} + e^{1}_{abc}$$
(5.24)

The network interface machine modelling structure is reformulated mathematically for current input  $(i_{abc}^{s})$  and voltage output  $(E_{abc})$ . This mathematical reformulation would eliminate the need of a 'fault detection algorithm' while applying faults. Thus, a new emulator configuration is shown in Fig. 5.8 (b). The voltage out signal  $(E_{abc})$  by the machine model is scaled down by the amplifier gain and is directly given to the control input of the amplifier. The emulator controller in the proposed configuration is eliminated. However, a first order filter with a bandwidth of 2.5 kHz is placed at the model input for closed loop stability. This is to avoid algebraic loop errors and the

convergence issues of the computational algorithms in Matlab/Simulink with the proposed closed loop control.

The proposed emulator configuration shown in Fig. 5.8 (b) is tested for different drive converter faults, starting and speed variations. The validation results and a brief overview of identifying fault signatures for the drive converter faults is also given in the result analysis section 5.4.

## 5.4 Result analysis

The proposed induction machine emulator is tested for different drive converter switch faults. The input source in the proposed emulator configuration dc-ac converter. The output of the diode bridge rectifier in the converter module is maintained at 150V with the help of a three-phase autotransformer. A variable frequency input is fed to the induction machine emulator for a desired speed. This is done by maintaining the v/f ratio constant considering saturation of the core. During the speed control mechanism, failure of one or more switches due to malfunctioning of the gate driver or wire disconnections is considered. Thus, the resulting fault transients in the machine are analyzed. For example, any irregularity in a phase current lead to a rise in current of the other phases by the law of symmetry. For an all-switch fault with sudden zero gating pulse, leads to a voltage at the three phase terminals of the converter.

The drive converter is tested for different switch fault transients and speed variations with the help of the emulator. The dynamic accuracy of the voltage, current and speed waveforms obtained from the emulator test bench is validated against a real 5 hp machine.

The faults that are considered for malfunctioning of gate driver are, fault-1: malfunctioning of top switch in the leg for phase A, fault-2: malfunctioning of top switch in the leg for phase B along with fault-1, fault-3: malfunctioning of both switches in the leg for phase A and fault-4: malfunctioning of all the switches in all legs.

Initially the simulation of emulation with the proposed emulator configuration is done to examine starting and steady state conditions in Fig. 5.9. The no load current has a high amount of variation from pure sinusoid. The starting current of higher magnitude has comparatively less variation. It can be seen that the reference voltage for the emulator is lacking in purity of a sharp-edge pulse because of the usage of a low pass filter in the feedback loop. The same can be observed in the experimental emulation results which shows a good match even at 2ms time axis for steady



Fig. 5.9. Simulation of emulation result analysis for voltages and currents during (a) starting and (b) steady state.

state in Fig. 5.10. The emulated terminal voltage and the real machine stator terminal voltages of the induction machine for drive converter switch faults are presented in Fig. 5.11, 12, 13 and 14. For application of switch faults, the malfunctioning operation is artificially done with zero gating pulses. It is shown in Fig. 5.11, faults-1 and 2, are applied to the real machine which are indicated by T1 and T2 transitions. Fault recovery for both the faults is also done step by step, indicated by T3 and T4 transitions. The positive peak currents are clipped off for both the faults and the switched voltages appear to be distorted at the instant of fault indicated by arrow marks in Fig. 5.11. The same strategy of fault application and recovery is repeated for the emulator represented by T1', T2', T3' and T4' transitions. It is observed that the actual emulator voltage has a good match with the reference voltage as well as with the real machine.

Similarly, for application of fault-3, the respective phase current becomes zero, and the other phase currents are  $180^{0}$  out of phase with each other. This phenomenon is shown by simulation results in Fig. 5.12. In addition, the experimental result analysis in Fig. 5.13 shows transitions from fault-1 to fault-3, and fault recovery from fault-3 to fault-1 as well. The induction machine stator



Fig. 5.10. Experimental emulation results for steady state voltages and currents.

voltage, emulator and the reference line voltages are in line with each other indicating tracking performance of the emulator. A complete gate driver fault i.e., fault-4 gives a decay in speed and back-emf of the machine. This is because all three phase currents go to zero instantly with zero gating signal as shown in Fig. 5.14. One of the important observations in Fig. 5.15 is that the switched input voltage at the instant of fault disappears abruptly and converts into a pure sine wave. The sine voltage is the induced voltage (back-emf) due to rotation of the rotor. The decay in this back-emf is due to the slowing down rotor. Fig. 5.15 (a) shows the experimental result for the emulator employing a linear model. Fig. 5.15 (b) shows the experimental result for a real machine. Fig. 5.15 (c) shows the experimental result for the emulator with a linear model when compared with the real machine. Hence, the emulator is employed with nonlinear model discussed in section 5.2.3. The voltage response with the upgraded emulator has improved accuracy for a complete gate driver fault. The results are magnified for a time period of 100 ms/div and are displayed in Fig. 5.15 (a), (b) and (c).

The overall response for starting, steady state and step change in speed is also presented in Fig. 5.16 for the real machine and the upgraded emulator. It is observed that the speed response and the emulated voltage trends have a good match with that of the real machine.



Fig. 5.11. Experimental results for fault-1 to fault-2 transitions and fault recovery transitions with real machine (T1, T2, T3 and T4 transitions) and with emulator (T1', T2', T3' and T4' transitions).



Fig. 5.12. Simulation of emulation result analysis for voltages and currents for fault-3.



Fig. 5.13. Experimental results for fault-1 to fault-3 transition and vice versa for the real machine (T1, T2) and for the emulator (T1',T2').



Fig. 5.14. Voltage, current and speed characteristics for complete gate driver fault (fault-4) for (a) real machine (b) emulator with linear model.



Fig. 5.15. Line voltage and current characteristics for a gate driver fault (magnified for 100 ms/div) (a) emulator with linear model (b) real machine (c) emulator with non-linear model.

#### 5.4.1 Fault signatures

The purpose of developing an emulator test bed is not only for testing the drive converter but also serves in identifying the fault signatures for several test application of faults. These signatures would further help fault diagnosis, fault localization and fault isolation procedures. The fault signatures that are identified from the obtained results are  $i_d - i_q$  current circles, negative sequence components, torque ripple. The asymmetry in the current due to faults result in ellipses in  $i_d - i_q$  plots [55]. The same phenomenon is observed for the discussed converter faults as shown in Fig. 5.17 (a). The converter switch faults i.e., fault-1 and fault-3 results in asymmetrical and symmetrical ellipses about the origin as displayed in Fig. 5.17 (a). The clipping of the positive peak in stator current for single switch fault (fault 1) leads to an imperfect ellipse as shown.

However, it is discussed in [54], that asymmetry in stator currents lead to a rise in negative sequence components in current. The same signature for emulator voltage is observed for a single



Fig. 5.16. Voltage, current and speed characteristics for starting and change in speed command for (a) real machine (b) proposed emulator.



Fig. 5.17. (a)  $i_d$ ,  $i_q$  plots for converter switch faults; (b) sequence components of emulator terminal voltage and (c) torque ripples for converter switch faults.



Fig. 5.18. The proposed emulator test bed for drive converter switch faults along with the 5 hp induction machine used for validation.

switch fault at 5 s and two switch faults at 7 s as shown in Fig. 5.17(b). The emulator torque acquires fundamental frequency oscillations during the single switch fault and second harmonic oscillations during two switch faults represented in Fig. 5.17 (c). During mal operation of the electric drive at any time, the identification of the fault signatures with the same trends (in Fig. 5.17) leads to easy, fast and less expensive fault diagnosis.

Fig. 5.18 shows the experimental setup for implementing drive converter open switch faults on emulator and on the real machine.

## 5.5 Summary

PHIL based emulation procedures are gaining more attention in recent times especially in the field of electric vehicles. The emulator test bed helps in testing various control algorithms of the electric drives before commissioning the real machine. The proposed emulator in this present research work helps to test the effects of a single switch fault and multiple switch faults due to mal operation of the gate driver. The multiple switch faults that belong to the same leg, different legs and to all the switches of all the legs are investigated with the help of the proposed emulator. Finally, the emulation results are validated with a laboratory sized 5 hp machine to prove the

performance of the emulator. In contrast to the difficulties associated with the VICO model for an open circuit fault, the suitability of CIVO model is detailed. The model is upgraded with saturation nonlinearities and proved its robustness for an all-switch fault. A new emulator configuration eliminating the need of an emulator controller is proposed. The emulation results while testing different drive converter faults also helps to record the fault signatures. These signatures can help in online fault diagnosis of electric vehicle. As a future scope, various fault tolerant and fault remedial strategies can also be investigated and explored with the developed emulator.

## Chapter 6 Ideal Transformer Method Optimization for Power Hardware-in-the-Loop Simulations of Grid Connected Inverters

## 6.1 Introduction

Power hardware-in-the-loop (PHIL) simulations have been increasingly used for testing and for performing studies related to distributed energy resource (DER) integration into electric power systems [79], [80]. A block diagram of a typical PHIL testbed for DER testing is shown in Fig. 6.1. PHIL simulations require an interface algorithm (IA) to connect the power hardware being tested with the simulation running on a real-time simulator (RTS). The IA forms a critical part of the closed-loop PHIL system as shown in Fig. 6.1. The simulated system and the interface algorithm in Fig. 6.1, emulate a grid with a specific short-circuit ratio [22].

The stability and accuracy of the closed-loop PHIL depends on the transfer function of the power amplifier, the transport and feedback delays in the loop, the IA used, the impedance of the deviceundertest (DUT) and the impedance of the source. Various types of IAs and stabilization methods have been reported in the literature [80], [81], [82]. The Ideal-Transformer-Method (ITM) is among the most commonly used IAs [80], [81]. This chapter focuses on the ITM IA due to its simplicity and ease of implementation. However, ITM IA applied alone imposes challenges with ensuring stability of the closed-loop PHIL system. The simplest and most economical method of stabilizing an ITM-based closed-loop PHIL interface is by adding a low-pass filter (LPF) represented by a transfer function H(s) (of higher order if needed) in the feedback path in Fig. 6.1 [23], [83]. However, adding such filters reduces the overall bandwidth of the system and compromises the accuracy of the PHIL simulation. Since for a given PHIL testbed, the power amplifier, and the associated delays, remain constant, the combination of the type of IA and the DUT are the key determinants of the stability of the PHIL closed loop. The authors in [84] introduced a complex compensator design for a grid connected system with an LC filter.

The present research work discusses that physical filter topology (L, LCL) plays an important role in selecting the order and type of an optimal compensator H(s) to be included in the feedback



Fig. 6.1. Closed loop PHIL system.

path for stabilizing closed-loop PHIL system. While for the case of an L filter topology, a first order lowpass filter is a suitable solution, for the case of an LCL filter topology an alternative approach is recommended. In addition to analyzing stability, this chapter studies the effect of different filter structures (L, LCL) of power electronics interfaced DUTs on the dynamic accuracy of a PHIL simulation. The accuracy analysis in this work considers error functions in the frequency domain [85]. Limitations of the compensator design, effects of the power amplifier transfer function and transport delays are also presented. The effect of the variation in source-to-load impedance ratio [86] is also discussed with the help of experimental results. Finally, the chapter proposes an improved method for designing a compensator for these cases.

Experiments have been performed with the closed loop PHIL configuration as presented in Fig. 6.1. The simulated system and compensator H(s) are implemented in an OP4510 real-time simulator (RTS). The three-phase four quadrant, soft switching power amplifiers in a commercial OP1420 test-bench are used to supply voltage to the DUT. The DUT is chosen to be a Lucas-Nuelle solar photovoltaic (PV) inverter coupled with a PV emulator supplying DC power. A three-phase filter is coupled to the PV inverter at the point of common coupling.

The rest of the chapter is organized as follows. A detailed mathematical stability analysis is made in Section 6.2 with the help of frequency response Bode plots while designing compensators for the corresponding physical filter topologies. The design and the overall closed-loop PHIL system is simulated, and the results of time-domain simulations are provided in Section 6.2 as well. The experimental result analysis is discussed in Section 6.3. Conclusions of the research work are presented in Section 6.4.

## 6.2 PHIL Closed-Loop Modeling and Compensator Design

The block diagram of the closed-loop PHIL system with ITM IA is shown in Fig. 6.1. Each component shown in the figure influences the closed-loop stability of the system, which can be analyzed with the help of the open-loop transfer function of the system  $G_{OL}(s)$  given by (6.1). The objective of an IA is to ensure stability of the closed-loop system. The DUT in Fig. 6.1 consists of a PV inverter coupled with a filter structure.

$$G_{OL}(s) = \frac{Z_{src}}{Z_{DUT-Filt}} G_{AMP}(s) \cdot e^{s(T_{d-fw}+T_{d-fb})} H(s)$$
(6.1)

Where 
$$Z_{src}(s) = R_{src} + sL_{src}$$
 (6.2)

where, *Zsrc* is the source impedance,  $Z_{DUT-Filt}$  is the DUT impedance,  $G_{AMP}(s)$  is the amplifier transfer function,  $T_{d-fw}$  and  $T_{d-fb}$  are the forward and backward path delays and H(s) is the compensator transfer function.

Two cases are considered for DUT impedance, they are: 1) DUT with an L filter, and 2) DUT with an LCL filter. Note that even if the DUT consists of a filter of LC topology, the equivalent filter interfacing the inverter is of LCL topology because of the inductance within a power amplifier. Therefore, the DUT impedance for the case of L filter is given by  $Z_{DUT_{L-Filt}}$  in (6.3), while for the case of LCL filter, it is given by  $Z_{DUT_{L-Filt}}$  in (6.4).

$$Z_{DUT_L-Filt}(s) = R_{1f} + R_{2f} + s(L_{1f} + L_{2f})$$
(6.3)

$$Z_{DUT_{LCL-Filt}}(s) = sL_{1f} + \frac{R_{1f}}{s^2 L_{1f} C_f + R_{1f} C_f s + 1} + (sL_{2f} + R_{2f})$$
(6.4)

where  $L_{1f}$ ,  $R_{1f}$ ,  $C_f$  are the inverter side filter parameters and  $L_{2f}$ ,  $R_{2f}$  are the amplifier side filters. From (6.1), it is seen that the filter topology affects the impedance of the DUT  $(Z_{DUT-Filt}(s))$  and consequently affects the stability of the entire closed-loop system. The following section 6.2.1 provides an analysis of the closed-loop system for the cases of L filters and LCL filters.



Fig. 6.2. Magnitude and phase plots for a low pass filter-based compensator being used for DUT with L-filter.



Fig. 6.3. Magnitude and phase plots for comparison of multiple LPFs and optimal compensator for DUT with LCL filter.

#### 6.2.1 L-filter and LCL-filter

First, a DUT with a simple L-filter is considered for closed-loop stability analysis of the ITM-IA. Equation (6.1) defines the open-loop transfer function of the PHIL system. The source/grid impedance  $Z_{src}(s)$  and the DUT filter impedance  $Z_{DUT_L-Filt}(s)$  are presented in (6.2) and (6.3), respectively. Bode plot analysis is done for  $G_{OL}$  as illustrated by Fig. 6.2. Closed-loop instability with a gain over 0 dB at the  $-180^{\circ}$  phase point is observed in Fig. 6.2 (in blue).

Second, an LCL-filter in the DUT is considered. The change in  $Z_{DUT_{LCL-Filt}}(s)$  of Eq. (6.4) is reflected in the shape of the Bode plot and affects closed loop stability. Fig. 6.3 (in blue) indicates that the closed-loop PHIL system is unstable with negative gain margin.

Therefore, there is a necessity to design a compensator in both the cases to ensure stability of the closed-loop PHIL system. The system parameters considered are described as follows: the value of  $L_{2f}$  is chosen to have the same value as the optional internal interface inductance provided by the amplifier, that is 75  $\mu$ H. The simulated voltage source has a short-circuit ratio (SCR) of 10 and an  $\frac{X}{R}$  ratio of 10.6. The value of  $L_{1f}$  is 0.1 pu with a quality factor of 16 (4.21 mH). The value of  $C_f$  is chosen to have a cutoff frequency of 700 Hz (24  $\mu$ F). The forward and backward path time delays are 10  $\mu$ s each.

#### 6.2.2 Compensator Design

In designing a compensator, the simplest choice is a low-pass filter. A low-pass filter provides attenuation in the magnitude response thereby ensuring positive gain margin and hence closed loop stability. The cut-off frequency of the low-pass filter however has implications on the stability and the accuracy of the PHIL simulation.

In the case of a DUT with an L-filter, it is relatively easy to design a low-pass filter. As can be seen in Fig. 6.2 in orange, a low pass filter at a relatively high cut-off frequency (1 kHz) with respect to the frequency of interest (50 - 60 Hz fundamental) ensures stability, whilst maintaining PHIL accuracy. This is due to the fact that the error associated with the addition of a low-pass filter will be low as well.

However, in an LCL filter based DUT, this is not the case. The PHIL open-loop transfer functions of such LCL filter based DUTs result in resonant peaks in the magnitude response, which possess

negative margins as shown in Fig. 6.3 (in blue). Therefore, multiple LPFs at a relatively low cutoff frequency (compared to the L-filter based DUT) in (6.5), are needed to stabilize the PHIL closed loop system as shown in Fig. 6.3 (in orange). This would result in an inaccuracy of the PHIL system because of its lower cutoff frequency, as will be discussed in the next section.

$$H(s) = \left(\frac{1571}{s + 1571}\right)^3 \tag{6.5}$$

Therefore, in order to retain the accuracy of the system and to suppress the resonant peaks, this chapter proposes an optimal compensator for DUTs with LCL filters to have improved accuracy.

#### A. Optimal compensator

The objective is to design an optimal compensator which cancels the resonant pole of the system. The open loop transfer function (OLTF) derived from (6.1) is given by (6.6), with an assumption of H(s) = 1. It is a fifth order transfer function, which has two complex conjugate poles  $1.0 \times 104 \cdot (-0.0132 \pm 2.3913i)$  leading to a resonant peak in Fig. 6.4 (in blue). Hence a compensator H(s) is added in such a way to cancel these resonant poles, as shown in (6.7). The compensator incorporates two complex zeros at the same locations as the resonant poles in (6.6) and also a complex pole at  $1.0 \times 103 \cdot (-4.4435 + 4.6963i)$ . The complex pole in (6.7) provides sufficient attenuation (-40 dB/dec) to higher frequencies after the resonant peak cancellation, which can be observed in Fig. 6.4 (in green). The orange trace in Fig. 6.4 shows the frequency response of the compensator alone and shows a resonant valley which is designed to cancel the resonant peak of the uncompensated OLTF. The green trace is the resulting frequency response with compensation. The resonant peak being suppressed implies the possibility of having an LPF with a higher cut-off frequency and hence higher PHIL accuracy.

 $G_{OL}(s)$ 

$$=\frac{(6.048.10^{-13}.s^3 + 6.336.10^{-10}.s^2 + 1.203.10^{-5}.s + 0.012).e^{-s.2.10^{-5}}}{(1.444.10^{-24}.s^5 + 2.935.10^{-18}.s^4 + 9.252.10^{-18}.s^3 + 1.717.10^{-9}.s^2 + 5.232.10^{-5}.s + 0.002881)}$$
(6.6)

$$H(s) = \frac{(0.06855s^2 + 18.1s + 3.926.10^7)}{(s^2 + 8887s + 4.182.10^7)}$$
(6.7)



Fig. 6.4. Magnitude and phase plots for optimum compensator for DUT with LCL filter.

#### B. Damping resistor

A damping resistor in series with the capacitor  $C_f$  of the LCL filter can be placed [87], [88]. This essentially damps the resonant peak of the system as shown in Fig. 6.5. To have a positive gain margin the optimal compensator in (6.7) is used additionally. This method will have further attenuation to specific resonant frequencies only, as shown in Fig. 6.5. This analysis is validated in section 6.2.3.A with relevant time-domain simulations for transient scenarios. The value of the damping resistance  $R_d$  is chosen to be one-third of the capacitive reactance at the resonant frequency  $\omega_{res}$  of Eq. (6.8). The details of choosing the minimum value of  $R_d$  are detailed in [12] to minimize resistive power losses. The equation of power loss is shown in Eq. (6.9), for a voltage  $V_{RC}$  across the RC branch and for a fundamental frequency  $\omega_f$ .

$$Rd = \frac{1}{\left(3 \,\omega_{res} \, C_f\right)} \tag{6.8}$$

$$P_{R_{dLoss}} = (R_d.\omega f.Cf.V_{RC})^2$$
(6.9)



Fig. 6.5. Comparisons of with and without damping resistor for DUT with LCL filter with optimal compensator.



Fig. 6.6. Magnitude and phase plots for optimum compensator for DUT with LCL filter for very low source to DUT impedance ratio.

#### C. Variation of impedance ratio

The objective is to make the  $\left(\frac{Z_{src}}{Z_{DUT-Fillt}}\right)$  ratio far less than the critical value of 1 [86]. This is illustrated in Fig. 6.6, where the resonant peak magnitude is suppressed to 21.2 dB from 53.5 dB as shown in Fig. 6.4 (in blue). It can be seen in Fig. 6.6, that the instability of the closed loop system still exists. Hence, the inclusion of the proposed optimal compensator H(s) attenuates the new resonant peak and makes the system stable. It can also be observed that the attenuation rate of higher frequencies is increased with the new  $\left(\frac{Z_{src}}{Z_{DUT-Fillt}}\right)$  ratio in comparison to Fig. 6.4. This results in the system being both more accurate and more stable. It is noted that using these compensation methods, the stability of the closed loop is enhanced. However, adding these components in the loop has an impact on the accuracy of the PHIL simulation. Thus, the accuracy must be explicitly evaluated for the proposed compensators to complement the Bode plot stability made in this section.

#### 6.2.3 Accuracy Evaluation

Two aspects are of importance when selecting and designing interface algorithms for a PHIL system. First, stability of the closed-loop PHIL system must be ensured. Second, a sufficient degree of accuracy with respect to the reference system is required to provide valid results for PHIL testing. The reference system is a direct connection between the grid and the DUT which does not employ any interface algorithm. In this section, accuracy metrics in the frequency domain are introduced to assess the level of accuracy obtained with different interface algorithms. The method for evaluating accuracy proposed in [85] is applied. The method is based on the non-ideal interface Transfer Function Perturbation (TFP) approach. TFP refers to all effects that characterize a non-ideal interface, such as time-delays and amplifier dynamics. The authors derive an error function in the frequency domain as defined in (6.10).

$$E_{TFP} = \frac{\left(G_{sys-OL} \cdot \Delta Gint\right)}{1 - G_{sys_{OL}} \cdot (1 + \Delta Gint)}$$
(6.10)

where  $G_{sys-OL}$  is system open-loop transfer function defined in (6.11).



Fig. 6.7. Error function based on transfer function perturbation.

$$G_{sys-OL} = \left(\frac{Z_{src}}{Z_{DUT-Filt}}\right) \tag{6.11}$$

and  $\Delta G_{int}$  is the interface TFP defined by (6.12) and (6.13)

$$\Delta G_{int} = G_{int} - 1 \tag{6.12}$$

$$G_{int} = G_{AMP}(s)e^{-s(Td-fw+Td-fb)}H(s)$$
(6.13)

The previous section introduced methods to stabilize the PHIL system that is not stable if the ideal transformer method alone is adopted. First, a solution based on multiple LPFs in the feedback path is applied. Second, an optimal compensator is derived and applied in the feedback path of the interface. The magnitude of the error function for both cases is illustrated in Fig. 6.7. While the error is reduced at the fundamental frequency of 60 Hz with the interface based on optimal compensator, there is a resonant peak at frequency of 3820 Hz for both cases.

#### A. Time-Domain Simulations

Two cases are considered: 1) DUT with LCL filter; and 2) DUT with L filter. A simulation for the ITM V-type interface algorithm is considered with parameters as given in Section 6.2. The



Fig. 6.8. Accuracy evaluation for multiple LPF and optimal compensator during steady state.



Fig. 6.9. Accuracy evaluation for (a) optimal compensator and (b) optimal compensator with damping resistance respectively during transient state.

simulation time step is chosen to be 10  $\mu$ s and the hardware side is simulated at a time step of 1  $\mu$ s. The simulated inverter system is rated at 10 kVA, with a switching frequency of 10 kHz. The test case simulated is one where the PV inverter injects 0A in steady state and a load is switched on at 0.15 s. Time-domain simulations are conducted for the reference model, PHIL setup with multiple LPFs and with the optimal compensator in the feedback path to compare waveforms. While the interface based on multiple LPFs ensures stability of the PHIL system, accuracy is compromised as indicated by the time-domain simulations shown in Fig. 6.8. It is also seen that the interface based on the optimal compensator improves the accuracy at the fundamental frequency i.e., during steady state. However, a significant error is observed following the step change of the load, as shown in Fig. 6.9. The transient oscillatory response at 3800 Hz possesses high error with respect to the reference. This reflects the resonant peak in the error magnitude in Fig. 6.7.

High frequency oscillations during loading transients with the optimal compensator can be diminished by introducing a damping resistor in series with the capacitor of the LCL filter. This would significantly damp the high frequency transient and improve the dynamic accuracy. This is proved with the simulation result shown in Fig. 6.9. The disadvantage with introducing a damping resistance is the associated power loss and is observed to be 2.6 W/ph for 400V line voltage.

Simulation results are presented for a DUT with an L-filter in Fig. 6.10. It can be seen that an LPF with a high cut-off frequency is sufficient to stabilize the PHIL simulation.

## 6.3 Experimental Results

An experimental test setup is developed with a 10 kVA, OP1420-OPAL-RT three-phase Microgrid Test-Bench. The amplifiers in OP1420 feed a Lucas-Nuelle Solar PV inverter via a 208/400V transformer. The PV emulator is set for providing maximum values of 1000V, 1500W. Fig. 6.11 portrays the experimental test setup. The soft-switching power amplifiers in the commercial OP1420 test-bench have a 10 kHz open-loop bandwidth and a signal transfer delay of 10  $\mu$ s. The simulated system in an OP4510 real-time simulator (RTS) commands the power amplifiers. The communication between the RTS and the power amplifier is established with a high-speed fiberoptic SFP link. The three-phase DUT filter and Y/Y transformer are coupled to the point of common coupling. The experiment for validation of the ideal transformer method has been done in different stages.



Fig. 6.10. Simulation results showing DUT current with L filter.



Fig. 6.11. Experimental set setup with OPAL-RT real time simulator with Lucas-Nuelle Solar PV inverter and emulator.



Fig. 6.12. Accuracy of the ITM for a balanced load under 208V operation with transformer for impedance ratio  $\ll 1$ .

Initially, the experiment has been realized at low power of 700W for the PV emulator with  $\frac{Z_{src}}{Z_{DUT-Filt}}$  ratio  $\ll 1$ . A single three phase power amplifier running in independent mode is used to supply 208V line voltage( $V_{amp}$ ). The voltage is stepped up to 400V by the Y/Y transformer. The PV inverter gets connected to the point of common coupling (PCC) with a gradual rise in voltage. It is initially in grid-islanding mode, and it then transitions to a grid-connected mode at the instant of synchronization in terms of the magnitude and phase angle of the voltage at the PCC. In the grid-connected mode, the PV inverter draws some reactive power and supplies real power to the power amplifier. The current supplied by the PV inverter to the power amplifier ( $I_{amp}$ ) is peaky with some harmonics representing the significant contribution of magnetizing current of the transformer, as seen in Fig. 6.12.

The closed loop is enabled by feeding back the sensed physical current to the real time simulation circuit employing the optimal compensator. Then, a balanced physical resistive load of 12.6  $\Omega$  is applied. This can be observed by the rise of input current (in amperes) to the PV inverter, as shown in Fig. 6.12. The source current that is simulated in real time also has the same transient and steady-state characteristics. This proves that the ITM with the proposed compensator possesses good



Fig. 6.13. Accuracy of the ITM for an unbalanced load under 208V operation with transformer for impedance ratio  $\ll 1$ .

stability and accuracy. The accuracy of the ITM is also verified for an unbalanced load as shown in Fig. 6.13. The robustness of the closed loop stability of ITM interface algorithm is achieved by maintaining a very low  $\frac{Z_{src}}{Z_{DUT-Fut}}$  ratio of 0.25.

In the secondary stage, the source impedance is increased making  $\frac{Z_{src}}{Z_{DUT-Filt}}$  ratio equal to 0.6. To avoid the distortion in the current due to magnetization, the transformer is omitted. The rated voltage of 400V is supplied by the OP1420 Microgrid Test-Bench. This is done by running the power amplifiers in differential mode. This strategy improves the amplifier current waveform, making it a cleaner sinusoid. A balanced load of 15  $\Omega$  and then 30  $\Omega$  is applied to verify the stability of ITM. The transient spike and oscillations in current at the loading instants show the system drifting from stability, as seen in Fig. 6.14.



Fig. 6.14. Amplifier current with the optimal compensator based ITM for a balanced load under 400V operation eliminating the transformer for impedance ratio of 0.6.



Fig. 6.15. Accuracy of the for 500 Hz multiple LPF based ITM for a balanced load under 400V operation eliminating the transformer for impedance ratio of 0.93.

In the tertiary stage, the source impedance is further increased to make the  $\frac{Z_{Src}}{Z_{DUT-Filt}}$  ratio equal to 0.93 which is close to the critical value (one). High power (1000W) is realized from the PV emulator. The currents for the cases of using a 500 Hz and a 1.5 kHz feedback filter are shown in Fig. 6.15 and Fig. 6.16, respectively. As the LPF cut-off frequency increases, the oscillations at the instant of a transient event increases as well, indicating a system on the verge of instability.



Fig. 6.16. Accuracy of the for 1500 Hz multiple LPF based ITM for a balanced load under 400V operation eliminating the transformer for impedance ratio of 0.93.



Fig. 6.17. Instability with optimal compensator based ITM for a balanced load under 400V operation eliminating the transformer for impedance ratio  $\gg 1$ .

Thus, it can be inferred that the oscillations during the loading transients can be damped by taking a  $\frac{Z_{src}}{Z_{DUT-Filt}}$  ratio far less than the critical value. However, as discussed in section 6.2.2.B, an alternative is the usage of a damping resistance to damp the oscillations but doing so increases resistive power losses, which is not desirable.

Finally, the value of  $Z_{src}$  is further increased to make the  $\frac{Z_{src}}{Z_{DUT-Fillt}}$  ratio much greater than 1. When the loop is closed, the system undergoes instability with large currents as shown in Fig. 6.17. However, the rise in magnitude of unstable current is limited by maximum current setting of the PV emulator.

## 6.4 Summary

The chapter presents a compensator design method to stabilize an ideal-transformer-method interface algorithm for PHIL testing while ensuring high degree of accuracy. Analysis of the DUT transfer function based on different filter topologies are presented. Stability analysis are detailed for proposed compensators using Bode plots. The impact of the optimal compensator on PHIL accuracy is analyzed and quantified with the help of error functions and error plots. The ITM interface with the optimal compensator is validated by simulations and hardware experiments. The chapter proposes that the dynamic accuracy can be further improved by introducing a damping resistor in the LCL filter structure and is validated with time domain simulations. Resistive damping essentially damps high-frequency oscillations during sudden transients but causes power losses. The minimal power loss introduced by the damping resistance is noted and can be disregarded if accuracy is the main concern. Different source-to-load impedance ratios are considered for the ITM with optimal compensator to experimentally analyze the stability and current characteristics during load transients.

## Chapter 7 Conclusions and Future Research

The focus of this PhD research work is the emulation of Induction machines. The main conclusions of this thesis corresponding to each chapter and the future works are presented below.

## 7.1 Conclusions

# 7.1.1 Development of induction machine emulator test bench for testing asymmetrical short circuit grid faults

The machine emulator developed as part of this thesis consisted of linear amplifiers with RL link filters to form a machine emulator, which can operate in all four quadrants. This type of testing only draws net losses, since the power drawn from the grid will be sent back to the grid less the losses. The main conclusions are as follows:

- The developed linear amplifier emulator interfacing grid has power sinking capability up to 1.2 KVA, at 120 V with a maximum per phase current of 20A. The high performance linear amplifiers possess an open loop bandwidth of 200 kHz.
- Various asymmetrical short circuit grid faults are considered for machine emulation. This is to test micro grid control algorithms or grid resiliency and to test the electrical dynamics of the squirrel cage induction machine. The higher bandwidth linear amplifier emulator tracks the symmetrical pre-fault conditions, symmetrical faults with relevant fault impedance (owing to the current limitation of the linear amplifiers).
- Though the LAs have high open loop bandwidth, the emulator current control closed loop maximum bandwidth achievable is approximately equal to 2.4 kHz. This is because of the time delays introduced by the linear amplifiers and sensors and real time system sampling time.
- The developed emulator system was shown to use a linear, trapezoidal integration integrated mathematical model for emulation accuracy.
- Experimental results were also presented to showcase the benefits of using accurate machine models and better emulator control to improve performance of emulation. The

tracking performance is good enough for not only pre-fault to fault transition but also for the fault to fault and fault to post-fault transitions.

## 7.1.2 Emulation of grid harmonics

This chapter presented the development of a machine emulator suitable to test grid harmonics. The conclusion of this chapter are as follows:

- The developed machine emulator can emulate the grid harmonics of order 5, 7, 11, 13. A programmable power supply of 30kVA induces harmonics to the machine emulator terminals.
- Proper emulator control logic is suggested accordingly for good emulating accuracy. The higher bandwidth linear amplifiers used are effective enough to track the reference currents dynamically during starting and loading transients.
- The experimental results with the real machine and emulator validate the accuracy of the novel emulator during grid harmonics. The higher bandwidth linear amplifiers used are effective enough to track the reference currents dynamically during starting and loading transients.

## 7.1.3 Emulation open circuit fault transients

This chapter presented an emulator setup to emulate open-circuit grid faults on induction machines. The main conclusions are as follows:

- The developed emulator system was capable of emulating open circuit grid faults on IM machines of up to 5 hp, with an emulating bandwidth of approximately equal to 2.4 kHz.
- An open circuit at the stator terminals essentially reflects a diminishing back-emf. Hence, this chapter illustrated the importance of using a current in voltage out model. Unlike in the previous chapters, the emulation of voltage is done in this chapter.
- A voltage behind reactance model can provide induction machine back-emf. However, the direct usage of the model in the machine emulator configuration does not serve the purpose for back-emf emulation. Hence, improvement in the machine modelling with respect to the emulator configuration is made. The new model served is a current in voltage out model to emulate the machine back-emf.

- The emulation of stator terminal voltage in this chapter also changes the emulator configuration structure. The proposed emulator not only emulates open circuit faults but also short circuit faults in the grid proving its robustness.
- The experimental results obtained with the proposed emulator structure validated the proposed model.
- The developed test bench helps in testing and developing better algorithms for auto reclosing operations. The operators in a plant can diagnose the type of the fault during a machine mal functioning with fault signatures from the emulator.

### 7.1.4 Emulation of variable frequency drive converter faults

The emulator system developed in Chapter 5 was used to emulate machine behavior in the event of driving inverter faults. The main conclusions of this chapter are as follow

- Emulation of machine behavior was presented for gate-drive faults of the driving inverter. It was shown that a voltage in current out model can be used sustain for a fault in one switch or two switches of different legs in the driving inverter. However, this model did not withstand an all-switch or a complete gate drive fault.
- Hence, the current in voltage out model in the previous chapter is also used here to emulate various single switch and multi switch open circuit faults. However, a linear current in voltage out model could not exactly replicate the diminishing back-emf for a complete gate drive fault. Hence the magnetic saturation nonlinearities are included in the model for better emulation accuracy.
- The emulation results are validated with a laboratory sized 5 hp machine to prove the performance of the emulator. The drive converter switch fault signatures are recorded which will help in online fault diagnosis of electric drive.

## 7.1.5 PHIL emulation of grid using interface algorithms

In contrast to the machine emulation, a grid emulator system is developed in Chapter 6. It was used to emulate the grid behavior in the event of balanced and unbalanced loads. The main conclusions of this chapter are as follows:

- An experimental test setup is developed with a 10 kVA, OP1420-OPAL-RT three-phase Microgrid Test-Bench. The amplifiers feed a Lucas-Nuelle Solar PV inverter via a 208/400V transformer. The PV emulator is set for providing maximum values of 1000V, 1500W. The soft-switching power amplifiers in the commercial OP1420 test-bench have a 10 kHz open-loop bandwidth and a signal transfer delay of 10 μs.
- The chapter presents a compensator design method to improve an ideal-transformermethod interface algorithm for PHIL testing while ensuring high degree of accuracy.
- Analysis is done for the proposed compensators using Bode plots. The impact of the optimal compensator on PHIL accuracy is analyzed and quantified with the help of error functions and error plots.
- The chapter proposed that the dynamic accuracy can be further improved by introducing a damping resistor in the LCL filter structure and is validated with time domain simulations. Resistive damping essentially damps high-frequency oscillations during sudden transients but causes power losses. The minimal power loss introduced by the damping resistance is noted and can be disregarded if accuracy is the main concern.
- Different source-to-load impedance ratios are considered for the ITM with optimal compensator to experimentally analyze the stability and current characteristics during load transients.
- The experimental results validate the robustness of the grid emulator for a DER converter.

## 7.2 Future Research

- This emulation can also be realized at high powers or with further increase in load with power electronic converters, but higher-order harmonics cannot be emulated with good accuracy. This is due to the bandwidth limitations offered by switching frequency of switches.
- In addition to the upgrade of the model for magnetic non-linearities, the geometric, rotational, and thermal non-linearities can also be included for further improvement in emulation accuracy.
- The developed test bench for open circuit faults helps in testing and developing better algorithms for auto reclosing operations.

- Recording various fault signatures from the emulator can help the operators in a plant to diagnose the type of the fault during a machine mal functioning.
- The developed test bed for drive converter switch faults can be investigated with a closed loop speed or torque control with the help of field-oriented control or direct torque control.
- In closed loop controls with drive converter, sensor faults such as speed sensor or torque transducer, voltage or current sensor faults can be investigated.
- Only a few driving inverter faults were considered in this thesis. Emulation of machine behavior for other driving inverter faults can also be considered.
- Various fault tolerant and fault remedial strategies in the drive controller can also be investigated and explored with the developed emulator.

# Appendix

Induction machine parameters for 220V, 16 A			Base values of the machine		
Parameter	5 HP	0.111 MW	Parameter	5 HP	0.111 MW
$R_s(\Omega)$	0.9649	0.0314	$V_{base}(V)$	265.5	460
$L_s(\mathbf{H})$	0.00387	0.796 µ	$I_{base}(A)$	4.68	139.31
$R_r(\Omega)$	1.08	0.02	$Z_{base}(\Omega)$	56.73	1.906
$L_r(H)$	0.00906	0.796 μ	$L_{base}(H)$	0.15	0.005
$L_m(H)$	0.148	0.01726	$\omega_{base}^{e}\left(\frac{rad}{sec}\right)$	377.14	377.14
H(sec)	0.0138	1.45	$T_{base}(N-m)$	19.78	588.63
$B\left(Nm\frac{sec}{rad}\right)$	0.00209	0.0155	$B_{base}\left(Nm\frac{sec}{rad}\right)$	0.105	3.121
Р	4	4	$\omega_{base}^m \left(\frac{rad}{sec}\right)$	188.57	188.57
Emulator control system parameters					
$k_{LA} = G = 20; \tau_{LA} = 25 \ \mu s; R = 0.1 \ \Omega; L = 3 \ mH; k_c = 1; \ \tau_c = 14 \ \mu s; T_s = 20 \ \mu s$					
Machine parameters when dynamometer is coupled					
$J_{new} = 0.0558; B_{new} = 0.00632;$					
## Bibliography

- K. Shikata, H. Kawai, H. Nomura, H. Aoki, S. Fukasawa and Y. Tasaka, "PMSM propulsion system for Tokyo Metro," 2012 Electrical Systems for Aircraft, Railway and Ship Propulsion, Bologna, 2012, pp. 1-6.
- [2] C. Calleja, A. López-de-Heredia, H. Gaztañaga, L. Aldasoro and T. Nieva, "Validation of a Modified Direct-Self-Control Strategy for PMSM in Railway-Traction Applications," in *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics*, vol. 63, no. 8, pp. 5143-5155, Aug. 2016.
- [3] O. Koerner and A. Binder, "Feasibility of a group drive with two permanent magnet synchronous traction motors for commuter trains," Eur. Power Electron. Drives J., vol. 14, no. 3, pp. 32–37, May 2004.
- [4] D. Ronanki, S. A. Singh and S. S. Williamson, "Comprehensive Topological Overview of Rolling Stock Architectures and Recent Trends in Electric Railway Traction Systems," in *IEEE Transactions on Transportation Electrification*, vol. 3, no. 3, pp. 724-738, Sept. 2017.
- [5] R. Solomon, M. A. Khan, P. S. Barendse, P. Pillay, K. A. Folly, "Review and application of micromachines for wind energy integration", *Proc. Int. Conf. Elect. Mach. (ICEM)*, pp. 2151-2157, Sep. 2012.
- [6] H. J. Slater, D. J. Atkinson and A. G. Jack, "Real-time emulation for power equipment development. Part 2: The virtual machine," IEE Proc.-Electr. Power Appl., vol. 145, no. 3, pp. 153-158, May 1998.
- [7] K. S. Amitkumar, R. S. Kaarthik and P. Pillay, "A versatile power-hardware-in-the-loop based emulator for rapid testing of electric drives," in IEEE Energy Conversion Congress and Exposition (ECCE), Oct 2017.
- [8] A. Schmitt, J. Richter, M. Gommeringer, T. Wersal and M. Braun, "A Novel 100 kW power hardware-in-theloop emulation test bench for permanent magnet syncrhonous machines with nonlinear magnetics," in 8th IET International Conference on Power Electronics, Machines and Drives (PEMD), Glasgow, 2016.
- [9] A. Schmitt, J. Richter, U. Jurkewitz and M. Braun, "FPGA-based real-time simulation of nonlinear permanent magnet synchronous machines for power hardware-in-the-loop emulation systems," in 40th Annual Conference of the IEEE Industrial Electronics Society (IECON), Dallas, 2014.
- [10] M. A. Masadeh and P. Pillay, "Induction motor emulation including main and leakage saturation effects," in IEEE International Electric Machines and Drives Conference (IEMDC), May 2017.
- [11] R. S. Kaarthik and P. Pillay, "Emulation of a permanent magnet synchronous generator in real-time using power hardware-in-the-loop," in IEEE International Conference on Power Electronics, Drives and Energy Systems (PEDES), Trivandrum, 2016.
- [12] R. S. Kaarthik, K. S. Amitkumar and P. Pillay, "Emulation of a Permanent-Magnet Synchronous Generator in Real time Using Power Hardware-in-the-Loop," in *IEEE Transactions on Transportation Electrification*, vol. 4, no. 2, pp. 474-482, June 2018, doi: 10.1109/TTE.2017.2778149.
- [13] F. E. Fleming and C. S. Edrington, "Real-Time Emulation of Switched Reluctance Machines via Magnetic Equivalent Circuits," IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics, vol. 63, no. 6, pp. 3366-3376, 2016.
- [14] R. M. Kennel, T. Boller and J. Holtz, "Replacement of Electric (load) Drives by a Hardware-in-the-loop System," in International Aegean Conference on Electrical Machines and Power Electronics and Electromotion, Joint Conference, Istanbul, 2011.

- [15] C. Gan, R. Todd and J. Apsley, "HIL emulation for future aerospace propulsion systems," 7th IET International Conference on Power Electronics, Machines and Drives (PEMD 2014), Manchester, 2014, pp. 1-6, doi: 10.1049/cp.2014.0450.
- [16] JDTaft "Fault Intelligence: Distribution Grid Fault Detection and Classification" Pacific Northwest National Laboratory Richland, Washington, US, Sep. 2017. [Online].
- [17] "IEEE Recommended Practice for Conducting Harmonic Studies and Analysis of Industrial and Commercial Power Systems," in IEEE Std 3002.8-2018, vol., no., pp.1-79, 22 Oct. 2018, doi: 10.1109/IEEESTD.2018.8479357.
- [18] "IEEE Recommended Practice and Requirements for Harmonic Control in Electric Power Systems," in IEEE Std 519-2014 (Revision of IEEE Std 519-1992), vol., no., pp.1-29, 11 June 2014, doi: 10.1109/IEEESTD.2014.6826459.
- [19] R. S. Kumar, K. K. Ray and K. Vinoth Kumar, "Fault diagnosis of industrial drives using MCSA techniques," 2009 International Conference on Control, Automation, Communication and Energy Conservation, Perundurai, Tamilnadu, 2009, pp. 1-7.
- [20] D.Lu and P.Zhang, "MCSA-based Fault Diagnosis Technology for Motor Drivetrains," 2018 IEEE International Power Electronics and Application Conference and Exposition (PEAC), Shenzhen, 2018, pp.1-5.
- [21] B. Noureddine, Z. S. Eddine and S. Mohamed, "Experimental exploitation for the diagnosis to the induction machine under a bearing fault - using MCSA," 2015 4th International Conference on Electrical Engineering (ICEE), Boumerdes, 2015, pp. 1-4.
- [22] K. Ma, J. Wang, X. Cai and F. Blaabjerg, "AC Grid Emulations for Advanced Testing of Grid-Connected Converters—An Overview," in IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics, vol. 36, no. 2, pp. 1626-1645, Feb. 2021, doi: 10.1109/TPEL.2020.3011176.
- [23] W. Ren, M. Steurer, and T. L. Baldwin, "Im-prove the Stability and the Accuracy of Power Hardware-in-the-Loop Simulation by Selecting Appropriate Interface Algorithms," *IEEE Trans. on Ind. Applicat.*, vol. 44, no. 4, pp. 1286–1294, 2008, doi: 10.1109/TIA.2008.926240.
- [24] Brandl, Ron. 2017. "Operational Range of Sev-eral Interface Algorithms for Different Power Hardware-In-The-Loop Setups" Energies 10, no. 12: 1946. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/en10121946</u>.
- [25] Wei Ren, "Accuracy Evaluation of Power Hardware-inthe-Loop (PHIL) Simulation," Ph.D dissertation, Florida state university, Tallahassee, Florida, 2007.
- [26] R. S. Colby and D. L. Flora, "Measured efficiency of high efficiency and standard induction motors," *Conference Record of the 1990 IEEE Industry Applications Society Annual Meeting*, Seattle, WA, USA, 1990, pp. 18-23 vol.1, doi: 10.1109/IAS.1990.152159.
- [27] O. Vodyakho, M. Steurer, C. S. Edrington, F. Fleming, "An induction machine emulator for high-power applications utilizing advanced simulation tools with graphical user interfaces", *IEEE Trans. Energy Convers.*, vol. 27, no. 1, pp. 160-172, Mar. 2012.

- [28] A. Griffo, D. Drury and D. Salt, "Hardware in the loop based synchronous generator emulation test rig for more electric aircraft power systems," 6th *IET International Conference on Power Electronics, Machines and Drives* (*PEMD 2012*), Bristol, 2012, pp. 1-6, doi: 10.1049/cp.2012.0248.
- [29] K. Li, S. Cui, A. Bouscayrol, Z. Zhang and S. Han, "Reduced-Scale Hardware-In-the-Loop Simulation of an Electric Vehicle Using Modular Cascade Machines," 2017 *IEEE Vehicle Power and Propulsion Conference* (VPPC), Belfort, 2017, pp. 1-5, doi: 10.1109/VPPC.2017.8331028.
- [30] K.S. Rajesh, S.S. Dash, Ragam Rajagopal, R. Sridhar, "A review on control of ac microgrid," in *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, vol. 71, 2017, Pages 814-819, ISSN 1364-0321.
- [31] M. Boby and P. Pillay, "A Power Hardware-In-The-Loop Emulation of a Faulted Inverter," 2019 IEEE International Electric Machines & Drives Conference (IEMDC), San Diego, CA, USA, 2019, pp. 1641-1646.
- [32] J. Karthick, G. S. Ayyapan, S. R. Chandra and R. K. Shankar, "Simulation and emulation of induction motor faults," 2014 IEEE 2nd International Conference on Electrical Energy Systems (ICEES), Chennai, 2014, pp. 147-151.
- [33] C. Yeh *et al.*, "A Reconfigurable Motor for Experimental Emulation of Stator Winding Interturn and Broken Bar Faults in Polyphase Induction Machines," in *IEEE Transactions on Energy Conversion*, vol. 23, no. 4, pp. 1005-1014, Dec. 2008.
- [34] J. V. Euler-Chelpin, "Distribution Grid Fault Location An Analysis of Methods for Fault Location in LV and MV Power Distribution Grids," Master's Thesis, UTH Uppsala, April 2018.
- [35] K. S. Amitkumar, R. S. Kaarthik and P. Pillay, "A Versatile Power-Hardware-in-the-Loop-Based Emulator for Rapid Testing of Transportation Electric Drives," in IEEE Transactions on Transportation Electrification, vol. 4, no. 4, pp. 901-911, Dec. 2018.
- [36] M. A. Masadeh, K. S. Amitkumar and P. Pillay, "Power Electronic Converter-Based Induction Motor Emulator Including Main and Leakage Flux Saturation," in IEEE Transactions on Transportation Electrification, vol. 4, no. 2, pp. 483-493, June 2018.
- [37] K. S. Amitkumar, R. Thike and P. Pillay, "Linear Amplifier-Based Power-Hardware-in-the-Loop Emulation of a Variable Flux Machine," in *IEEE Transactions on Industry Applications*, vol. 55, no. 5, pp. 4624-4632, Sept.-Oct. 2019.
- [38] S. Nandi, "A detailed model of induction machines with saturation extendable for fault analysis," in *IEEE Transactions on Industry Applications*, vol. 40, no. 5, pp. 1302-1309, Sept.-Oct. 2004.
- [39] G. Tanuku and P. Pillay, "Induction Machine Emulation under Asymmetric Grid Faults," 2020 IEEE Energy Conversion Congress and Exposition (ECCE), Detroit, MI, USA, 2020, pp. 2351-2356, doi: 10.1109/ECCE44975.2020.9235830.
- [40] F. Xiao, L. Dong, L. Li and X. Liao, "A Frequency-Fixed SOGI-Based PLL for Single-Phase Grid-Connected Converters," in *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics*, vol. 32, no. 3, pp. 1713-1719, March 2017.
- [41] M. Comanescu, "Influence of the discretization method on the integration accuracy of observers with continuous feedback," 2011 IEEE International Symposium on Industrial Electronics, Gdansk, 2011, pp. 625-630, doi: 10.1109/ISIE.2011.5984230.

- [42] Yu Du, "Electromagnetic transient numerical integration methods," 2010 8th World Congress on Intelligent Control and Automation, Jinan, 2010, pp. 3115-3119, doi: 10.1109/WCICA.2010.5553948.
- [43] J. M. Corres, J. Bravo, F. J. Arregui and I. R. Matias, "Unbalance and harmonics detection in induction motors using an optical fiber sensor," in IEEE Sensors Journal, vol. 6, no. 3, pp. 605-612, June 2006, doi: 10.1109/JSEN.2006.874441.
- [44] Cha, Hanju & Vu, Trung-Kien & Kim, Jae-Eon. (2009). Design and control of Proportional-Resonant controller based Photovoltaic power conditioning system. 2198 - 2205. 10.1109/ECCE.2009.5316374.
- [45] N. Sarma and P. M. Tuohy, "Investigation of grid supply harmonic effects in wound rotor induction machines,"
  2018 5th International Conference on Electrical and Electronic Engineering (ICEEE), 2018, pp. 458-462, doi: 10.1109/ICEEE2.2018.8391381.
- [46] R. Targosz and D. Chapman, "Application note cost of poor power quality," Leonardo Energy, Cu0145, 2012.
- [47] M. Schael, C. Sourkounis, A. Rogat and C. Neumann, "Industrial electric grid evaluation regarding harmonics based on measurement data," 2016 International Symposium on Power Electronics, Electrical Drives, Automation and Motion (SPEEDAM), Anacapri, 2016, pp. 282-287, doi: 10.1109/SPEEDAM.2016.7525902.
- [48] M. Bao, J. Xia, X. Yin, M. Dong, H. He and J. He, "Harmonic measurements and analysis in a modern steel manufacturing facility," IEEE PES General Meeting, Providence, RI, 2010, pp. 1-6, doi: 10.1109/PES.2010.5589983.
- [49] G. Chang, Y. Liu, H. Huang, and S. Chu, "Harmonic analysis of the industrial power system with an ac electric arc furnace," in Power Engineering Society General Meeting, 2006. IEEE, p. 4 pp., 0-0 2006.
- [50] B. Rogers, M. Stephens, and M. McGranaghan, "Power quality issues and solutions in the automotive industry," in Power System Technology, 2004. PowerCon 2004. 2004 International Conference on, vol. 1, pp. 238 – 243 Vol.1, nov. 2004.
- [51] A. Felce, G. Matas, and Y. Da Silva, "Voltage sag analysis and solution for an industrial plant with embedded induction motors," in Industry Applications Conference, 2004. 39th IAS Annual Meeting. Conference Record of the 2004 IEEE, vol. 4, pp. 2573 – 2578 vol.4, oct. 2004.
- [52] A. Antonopoulos, G. Mörée, J. Soulard, L. Ängquist and H. -. Nee, "Experimental evaluation of the impact of harmonics on induction motors fed by modular multilevel converters," 2014 International Conference on Electrical Machines (ICEM), 2014, pp. 768-775, doi: 10.1109/ICELMACH.2014.6960268.
- [53] M. Hausmann, N. Grass and B. Piepenbreier, "Harmonic compensation in a load emulation system using different control techniques," Intelec 2012, 2012, pp. 1-7, doi: 10.1109/INTLEC.2012.6374496.
- [54] G. Tanuku and P. Pillay, "Emulation of an Induction Machine for Unbalanced Grid Faults," in IEEE Transactions on Industry Applications, vol. 57, no. 5, pp. 4625-4635, Sept.-Oct. 2021, doi: 10.1109/TIA.2021.3086083.
- [55] R. Chawla, B. Akhil Vinayak and G. Jagadanand, "Modelling and Detection of Stator Incipient Open Circuit Fault in Three-Phase Induction Motor," 2018 IEEE International Conference on Power Electronics, Drives and Energy Systems (PEDES), 2018, pp. 1-6, doi: 10.1109/PEDES.2018.8707681.

- [56] U. Choi, F. Blaabjerg, J. Lee and K. Lee, "Open-circuit fault diagnosis for a grid-connected NPC inverter with unity Power Factor," 2015 IEEE Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition (APEC), 2015, pp. 213-220, doi: 10.1109/APEC.2015.7104354.
- [57] Sarita, Kumari & Kumar, Sachin & Saket, Dr. R.K. & Sanjeevikumar, P. & Blaabjerg, F. (2020). Open-Circuit Fault Diagnosis in Multilevel Inverters Implementing PCA-WE-SVM Technique. IEEE Transactions on Industry Applications.
- [58] J. Reynaud and P. Pillay, "Reclosing transients in induction machines including the effects of saturation of the magnetizing branch and a practical case study," in IEEE Transactions on Energy Conversion, vol. 9, no. 2, pp. 383-389, June 1994, doi: 10.1109/60.300133.
- [59] L. Wang, J. Jatskevich, C. Wang and P. Li, "A Voltage-Behind-Reactance Induction Machine Model for the EMTP-Type Solution," in IEEE Transactions on Power Systems, vol. 23, no. 3, pp. 1226-1238, Aug. 2008, doi: 10.1109/TPWRS.2008.926423.
- [60] F. Therrien, L. Wang, M. Chapariha and J. Jatskevich, "Constant-Parameter Interfacing of Induction Machine Models Considering Main Flux Saturation in EMTP-Type Programs," in IEEE Transactions on Energy Conversion, vol. 31, no. 1, pp. 12-26, March 2016, doi: 10.1109/TEC.2015.2443118.
- [61] O. Jasim, C. Gerada, M. Sumner and J. Arellano-Padilla, "Investigation of induction machine phase open circuit faults using a simplified equivalent circuit model," 2008 18th International Conference on Electrical Machines, 2008, pp. 1-6, doi: 10.1109/ICELMACH.2008.4799847.
- [62] Liu, Y. and Wang, R. (2021), Fault diagnosis of power transistors in a power converter of SRM drive based on a state inverse solution. IET Electr. Power Appl, 15: 231-242.
- [63] P. Lezana, J. Poy, T.A. Meynard, J. Rodriguez, S. Ceballos and F. Richardean, "Survey on fault operation on multilevel inverters", *IEEE Trans. on Ind. Electr.*, vol. 57, no. 7, pp. 2207-2218, 2010.
- [64] M. Savostianik, M. Noonan, R. George and M. Vangool, "Considerations for ground-fault protection for lowvoltage variable-frequency drive circuits supplied by high-resistance-grounded power-distribution systems," Industry Applications Society 60th Annual Petroleum and Chemical Industry Conference, 2013, pp. 1-16, doi: 10.1109/PCICon.2013.6666021.
- [65] X. Qing and L. Jian, "The Key Technology of Complete Protection for the High Voltage Variable Frequency Drive System," 2010 International Conference on Electrical and Control Engineering, 2010, pp. 4429-4432, doi: 10.1109/iCECE.2010.1077.
- [66] J. M. Guerrero, G. Navarro, K. Mahtani and C. A. Platero, "Ground Fault Detection Method for Variable Speed Drives," in IEEE Transactions on Industry Applications, vol. 57, no. 3, pp. 2547-2558, May-June 2021, doi: 10.1109/TIA.2021.3064001.
- [67] M. N. S. K. Shabbir and X. Liang, "A DFFT and Coherence Analysis-Based Fault Diagnosis Approach for Induction Motors Fed by Variable Frequency Drives," 2020 IEEE Canadian Conference on Electrical and Computer Engineering (CCECE), 2020, pp. 1-5, doi: 10.1109/CCECE47787.2020.9255688.

- [68] X. Shi and M. Krishnamurthy, "Digital Control of Induction Machines as a Backup Control Strategy for Fault Tolerant Operation of Traction Motors," in IEEE Journal of Emerging and Selected Topics in Power Electronics, vol. 2, no. 3, pp. 651-658, Sept. 2014, doi: 10.1109/JESTPE.2014.2308298.
- [69] A. Ulatowski and A. Bazzi, "Induction motor emulation for variable frequency drives testing," 2015 IEEE International Electric Machines & Drives Conference (IEMDC), 2015, pp. 345-349, doi: 10.1109/IEMDC.2015.7409082.
- [70] K. Nounou, J. F. Charpentier, K. Marouani, M. Benbouzid and A. Kheloui, "Emulation of an Electric Naval Propulsion System Based on a Multiphase Machine Under Healthy and Faulty Operating Conditions," in IEEE Transactions on Vehicular Technology, vol. 67, no. 8, pp. 6895-6905, Aug. 2018, doi: 10.1109/TVT.2018.2834342.
- [71] K. S. Amitkumar, P. Pillay and J. Bélanger, "An Investigation of Power-Hardware-in-the-Loop- Based Electric Machine Emulation for Driving Inverter Open-Circuit Faults," in IEEE Transactions on Transportation Electrification, vol. 7, no. 1, pp. 170-182, March 2021, doi: 10.1109/TTE.2020.3006720.
- [72] D. Kastha and B. K. Bose, "Investigation of fault modes of voltage-fed inverter system for induction motor drive," in IEEE Transactions on Industry Applications, vol. 30, no. 4, pp. 1028-1038, July-Aug. 1994, doi: 10.1109/28.297920.
- [73] J. Noon et al., "Design and Evaluation of a Power Hardware-in-the-Loop Machine Emulator," 2020 IEEE Energy Conversion Congress and Exposition (ECCE), 2020, pp. 2013-2019, doi: 10.1109/ECCE44975.2020.9235711.
- [74] Y. Liu, M. A. Masadeh and P. Pillay, "Power-Hardware-In-The-Loop-Based Emulation of a Self-Excited Induction Generator Under Unbalanced Conditions," in IEEE Transactions on Industry Applications, vol. 58, no. 1, pp. 588-598, Jan.-Feb. 2022, doi: 10.1109/TIA.2021.3118985.
- [75] J. M. Aller, J. A. Restrepo and J. C. Viola, "Voltage Behind Reactance Model of Induction Machines using ATPDraw and MODELS," 2021 IEEE Fifth Ecuador Technical Chapters Meeting (ETCM), 2021, pp. 1-6, doi: 10.1109/ETCM53643.2021.9590817.
- [76] S. Abdel-Khalik, S. Ahmed, A. A. Elserougi and A. M. Massoud, "A Voltage-Behind-Reactance Model of Five-Phase Induction Machines Considering the Effect of Magnetic Saturation," in IEEE Transactions on Energy Conversion, vol. 28, no. 3, pp. 576-592, Sept. 2013, doi: 10.1109/TEC.2013.2258467.
- [77] M. V.P., M. N., H. K. R. and S. Ushakumari, "A Novel Algorithm for Detection and Diagnosis of Switching Faults of Three Phase Induction Motor Drive System," 2018 IEEE International Conference on Power Electronics, Drives and Energy Systems (PEDES), 2018, pp. 1-4, doi: 10.1109/PEDES.2018.8707798.
- [78] Y. Yu, J. Hu, Z. Wang and D. Xu, "IGBT open circuit fault diagnosis in VSI fed induction motor drives based on modified average current method," 2014 9th IEEE Conference on Industrial Electronics and Applications, 2014, pp. 1334-1338, doi: 10.1109/ICIEA.2014.6931375.
- [79] G. Lauss, M. O. Faruque, K. Schoder, C. Dufour, A. Viehweider, and J. Langston, "Characteristics and design of power hardware-inthe-loop simulations for electrical power systems," IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics, vol. 63, pp. 406–417, 1 Jan. 2016. DOI: 10.1109/TIE.2015.2464308.

- [80] C. S. Edrington, M. Steurer, J. Langston, T. El-Mezyani, and K. Schoder, "Role of power hardware in the loop in modeling and simulation for experimentation in power and energy systems," Proceedings of the IEEE, vol. 103, pp. 2401–2409, 12 2015. DOI: 10.1109 / JPROC.2015.2460676.
- [81] A. Summers, J. Hernandez-Alvidrez, R Darbali-Zamora, M. J. Reno, J. Johnson, and N. S. Gurule, "Comparison of ideal transformer method and damping impedance method for pv power-hardware-in-the-loop experiments," 2019, pp. 2989–2996. DOI: 10. 1109/PVSC40753.2019.8980690.
- [82] A. Viehweider, G. Lauss, and L. Felix, "Stabilization of power hardware-in-the-loop simulations of electric energy systems," Simulation Modelling Practice and Theory, vol. 19, pp. 1699–1708, 7 2011. DOI: 10. 1016 / j. simpat.2011.04.001.
- [83] H. J. Heo, C. H. Park, and J. M. Kim, "Modified interface algorithm of phil simulator to improve harmonic current accuracy," 2020, pp. 304–308. DOI: 10. 1109 /WoW47795. 2020.9291318.
- [84] N. D. Marks, W. Y. Kong, and D. S. Birt, "Interface compensation for power hardware-inthe- loop," 2018, pp. 413–420. DOI: 10.1109/ISIE.2018.8433620.
- [85] W. Ren, M. Steurer, and T. L. Baldwin, "An effective method for evaluating the accuracy of power hardwarein-the-loop simulations," 2008, pp. 1–6. DOI: 10.1109/ICPS.2008. 4606297.
- [86] R. Brandl, "Operational range of several interface algorithms for different power hardware in- the-loop setups," Energies, vol. 10, p. 1946, 12 2017. DOI: 10.3390/en10121946.
- [87] K. A. E. W. Hamza, H. Linda, and L. Cherif, "Lcl filter design with passive damping for photovoltaic grid connected systems," 2015, pp. 1–4. DOI: 10.1109/IREC.2015.7110945.
- [88] J. Y. Lee, Y. P. Cho, H. S. Kim, and J. H. Jung, "Design methodology of passive damped lcl filter using current controller for grid connected three-phase voltage-source inverters," Journal of Power Electronics, vol. 18, pp. 1178–1189, 4 2018.